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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

B MATHAEE B

In 2023, the economy of the PRC has recorded growth of 5.2%
with GDP of RMB126 trillion, reflecting significant improvement in
business environment which, to a great extent, has bounced back
to pre-COVID level. The Group has achieved considerable growth
in the revenue from its property investment and flooring materials
trading businesses for the last year.

While maintaining the healthy operation of its existing businesses,
the Group’s shopping malls in the PRC have been pursuing
new initiatives for business development through the market
opportunities of online and offline and livestream shopping.
Addressing different regional demands, the shopping malls have
created diversified consumer flow for the tenants by establishing
a wide variety of themed areas such as fashionable beauty, trendy
games for the youth, fancy cuisines, parent-child interaction and
pet playground.

Benefited from the recovery of global trading, the flooring materials
trading business has optimized the overseas customer portfolio and
has been actively exploring opportunities for expansion to domestic
markets.

Albeit the improvement in overall operating environment for
the last year, the business operation of the Group is still facing
different challenges, particularly in terms of asset management
and allocation. Proper and thorough communication with every
stakeholder is necessary to safeguard the Group’s asset interests. |
would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude
to the shareholders, stakeholders, clients, the professional parties
and our staff for their contributions over the last year.

Tai United Holdings Limited

Wang Hongfang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 12 June 2024

TR FPRREERES2%  2FRNEER
BERARK126BET  EBRREARNKE @ RAE
B LIREEHRBRERKTE - ARBEFYERE
KR AR BEFRA G —EE K -

FHEFEEGEFNRBEEERR  AEETEED
PLBREMER FRTRERTENTISHE -
i&%%%@m%ﬁ% ZEWHR OISR
ERF BRARIBFHEDRS  FFH - BHE
R HITEHREYELESATEREATFE
BELITTHHBRER

HWRM BB HEBXBRREHEE %Mﬁ%@
FHa  LEESRAMEATSNEE

EFERQERENE  AAKEXBEEL K
MEEEEEKENH WEQTH%%%IMK
EEXMNAEEERYBRGH - AEEARERN
BERED  FBILMBRER - M *HE@%% BF &
EPNBRERARER - SUBE—FORBEBGE -

FRERITEAAZ

IER
AMEZERERQA

wE —ZWFERATH

AMERARAT —T - =F4R

5



Management Discussion and Analysis

B E W ST

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The revenue of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 ("Year") was approximately HK$198 million, representing
a significant increase of 24.4% as compared to revenue of
approximately HK$159.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, such increase was mainly contributed by increase in revenue
generated from (i) properties management and related services in
the People’s Republic of China (“China” or “PRC") in the ordinary
and usual course of business; (i) sales of medical equipment; and
(iii) sales of flooring materials of the Group. Revenue increased and
the Company actively implemented continuous cost saving plan,
the Group recorded a loss before tax of approximately HK$1,366.6
million during the Year, decreased by 14.9% as compared with
the loss before tax of HK$1,606.1 million in the year ended 31
December 2022, with the combined effect of:

(i) a decrease in fair value of investment properties to
approximately HK$858.3 million resulting from the post
adverse impact of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic;

(i) finance costs of approximately HK$173.1 million for the Year,
representing a slight decrease from approximately HK$178.2
million during the year ended 31 December 2022, which was
due to the bank loans of approximately RMB1,345 million in
connection to the acquisition of Guangzhou Shopping Mall (as
defined below); and

(i)  provision for guarantee contracts of approximately HK$295.3
million during the Year, which was due to guarantees
provided by immediate holding companies of the Guangzhou
Shopping Mall and Jinzhou Shopping Mall (as defined below).
The guarantees were provided to onshore banks in the PRC
in relation to third party loans and such guarantees were not
disclosed to the Group by the seller at the time of acquisition
of the holding companies of the two shopping malls.

Income tax credit for the Year was approximately HK$197.4
million.

Taking into account the income tax mentioned above and
netting of non-controlling interests, the Group recorded the
loss attributable to owners of the Company decreasing from
approximately HK$1,454.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$1,168.0 million for the Year.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
investment, flooring materials and medical equipment trading,
mining and exploitation of natural resources, and financial services
and assets management.

(1) Property Investment

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC

The Group wholly owns three shopping malls in the PRC,
including: (i) a single-storey underground mall (“Jinzhou
Shopping Mall”) located in Jinzhou, Liaoning Province,
the PRC, which is engaged in the shopping mall business
("Jinzhou Shopping Mall Business”); (ii) a two-storey
underground mall (“Guangzhou Shopping Mall”) located in
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, the PRC, which is engaged
in the shopping mall business (“Guangzhou Shopping Mall
Business”); and (iii) a two-storey underground mall (the
“Anyang Shopping Mall”) located in Anyang city, Hunan
Province, the PRC, which is engaged in the shopping mall
business (“Anyang Shopping Mall Business”).

Anyang Shopping Mall Business, together with Jinzhou
Shopping Mall Business and Guangzhou Shopping Mall
Business are the “Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC".

The business and operating model of the Jinzhou Shopping
Mall, Guangzhou Shopping Mall and Anyang Shopping
Mall primarily involves the leasing of stores to retailers and
wholesalers of apparels, accessories, household appliances
and food and beverage and other venue areas in the
shopping malls for marketing and promotional activities.
It derives revenue from rental income and the provision of
property management services to tenants, including mall
security, maintenance and repair and management of the
operations of the three shopping malls. The Company
holds the three shopping malls as investment properties
and conducts day-to-day operations primarily in leasing and
property management services which generate rental and
property management incomes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

¥KEEE e
(1) MERESR)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)

In addition, as to the Guangzhou Shopping Mall, under
certain contracts with its tenants, the operating rights of the
stores may be transferred to them after a specified period of
the lease. This and the sales promotion and leasing activities
by the leasing team of the Guangzhou Shopping Mall
generate additional revenue from the transfer of operating
rights of the stores. For the Year, there was no further
completion of pre-existing contracts prior to the acquisition
of the holding company of the Guangzhou Shopping Mall in
2021 due to COVID-19, which led to no revenue recorded
(2022: Nil) from the transfer of the operating rights of store
units of the mall.

The Group has been undertaking a diversified business
strategy. The acquisitions of three shopping malls in Anyang,
Jinzhou and Guangzhou that completed in 2021 are in
line with the strategic development of the Group and have
provided an opportunity for the Group to widen its shopping
malls network, expand the geographical coverage and scale
up its shopping mall businesses. It is expected that the
promotional campaigns, marketing activities and branding of
the shopping malls of the Group will become more effective
and cost-efficient. Anyang Shopping Mall is located in the
central region of the PRC while the shopping malls in Jinzhou
and Guangzhou are located in the north-eastern region and
southern region of the PRC respectively. The acquisitions
have allowed the Group’s shopping mall network to have
a strategic presence in central, north-eastern and southern
regions of the PRC and expand geographically across the
above regions in the PRC and potentially grow its market
share.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIE R T

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) S A A1)
(1) Property Investment (Continued) (1) MERE®)
Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued) HEEY O FE R ()

The Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC primarily involve the FREBNFOEBEIENEHEREERGE

leasing and management of operations of Anyang Shopping wrehots - SRINBE RO REMNBY L 2 EE
Mall, Jinzhou Shopping Mall and Guangzhou Shopping Mall. BB -BE_T_=F+-_A=+—0 =

As of 31 December 2023, details of the three shopping malls YR OFFBEANOT ¢

are set out as follows:

Gross Leasable Leased
Shopping Mall Floor Area Floor Area Floor Area
T [=F:1]
B BEEE EHEE BEEE
(approximately  (approximately  (approximately
sq.m.) sg.m.) sg.m.)
(475 K) (HF75K) (HFFK)
Anyang Shopping Mall RIFBM PO
Anyang Diyi Shopping Street PR 25t — Y EEY
Shopping Mall in the PRC VI 25,310 24,815 13,724
Jinzhou Shopping Mall SRINEEH P s
Jinzhou First Tunnel Shopping Mall FR ISR i — KB R YI L
in the PRC 40,765 38,809 32,692
Guangzhou Shopping Mall BEMNEE s
Guangzhou First Tunnel Shopping Mall PR E M — KEREY
in the PRC Phases 1 and 2 RO —HI R —H 89,415 37,571 22,803

For the Year, the revenue generated from the Shopping Mall
Businesses in the PRC was mainly attributable to the rental
income and property management and related service income
from shops and venue spaces tenants of approximately
HK$60.5 million.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair values of investment
properties of Anyang Shopping Mall, Jinzhou Shopping Mall
and Guangzhou Shopping Mall amounted to approximately
HK$334.4 million, approximately HK$542.3 million and
approximately HK$862.1 million respectively.

EARER > hEBYPLOEF ZRETERE
AL EREL 2B M AMYEEE
BRARBUAS HK605BEET °

ZEZ=FF+ZA=+—RH ZHEYF

- IRINEE R L REMNEY R LRI E Y
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIE R T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Real Estate in the UK

The Group holds luxury real estate in premium location in
central London within close proximity to the Buckingham
Palace ("UK Investment Properties”). 6-9 Buckingham
Gate, London, the United Kingdom, SW1E 6JP. The property
is held leasehold on a term of 999 years from 1 April 2017
with a share of freehold on title NGL852473 (7 Buckingham
Gate) and NGL852477 (8 & 9 Buckingham Gate). As at 31
December 2023, the UK Investment Properties of the Group
carried at fair value were approximately HK$536.7 million.
The revenue generated from the UK Investment Properties for
the Year was approximately HK$3.4 million, representing a
decrease of 68.2% as compared to approximately HK$10.7
million over the year ended 31 December 2022. Such
decrease in rental income was mainly attributable to the early
termination of the lease of the town house at 6 Buckingham
Gate, London, the United Kingdom in April 2023.

The business and operating model of the UK Investment
Properties involves the leasing and property management of
luxury residential properties in London, which are leased to
high-end tourists and tenants for rental income.

As such, the overall segment results were therefore a
loss of approximately HK$1,312.9 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 15.8% as compared to the loss
of approximately HK$1,558.7 million in the year ended
31 December 2022. A loss for the year was mainly due to
provision for guarantee contracts of approximately HK$295.3
million, decrease in fair value of investment properties of
approximately HK$858.3 million resulting from the post
adverse impact of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic and
finance costs of approximately HK$172.5 million during
the Year, which was due to the bank loan of approximately
RMB1,345 million in connection to the acquisition of
Guangzhou Shopping Mall.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE W

DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1

(2)

Property Investment (Continued)
Real Estate in the UK (Continued)

On 23 April 2024, the Company and C&E Flooring Supply
Limited (the “Purchaser”) entered into the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to
acquire, all the issued shares of Wide Flourish Investments
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as of
the date of the sale and purchase agreement) (the “Target
Company”) for a consideration of GBP50,000,000. The
Target Company and its subsidiaries primarily hold and
manages the properties located in London, the United
Kingdom for rental income. The Purchaser is indirectly
wholly-owned by Mr. Pang Da Yong, who is a director of the
subsidiaries of the Target Company and thus the Purchaser is
an associate of Mr. Pang Da Yong and a connected person of
the Company at subsidiary level under the Listing Rules. For
further details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 23 April 2024 and 28 June 2024 and circular dated 11
June 2024.

Flooring Materials and Medical Equipment
Trading

The Group's trading business of flooring materials with
overseas customers recorded revenue of approximately
HK$105.6 million for the Year, representing an increase of
26.6%, as compared to approximately HK$83.4 million over
the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group has made
sales of flooring board materials to overseas customers by
exporting to markets including the United States, Australia
and Belgium. Leveraging on the potential synergies with
the Group’s Shopping Mall Business in the PRC, we expect
to capitalise on the shopping mall tenants and customer
networks to develop and expand our domestic sales of
flooring, ceiling and other decorative materials.

The Group carries out medical equipment trading and
other commerce business in China for which the majority
customers are hospitals. As the selling products are mostly
general medical equipment, consumable goods and optical
medical devices and the related parts (“Medical Products”),
the Group operates in a highly competitive market. The
revenue for the Year increased to approximately HK$28.5
million, represented a increase of 187.9% as compared with
approximately HK$9.9 million of the year ended 31 December
2022. The segment loss for medical equipment trading and
other commerce business for the Year was approximately
HK$4.7 million, as compared to a gain of approximately
HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE W

DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(3)

(4)

Mining and Exploitation of Natural
Resources

Currently, the Group holds four mining right licences
("Mining Rights”) of three tungsten projects in Mongolia.
The segment of mining and exploitation of natural resources
business recorded no revenue during the Year. In view of
various factors including the closure of factories, suspension
of production lines leading to lower market demand, some of
the potential mining partners or investors had lost interest in
investing in this segment during the Year.

The carrying values of the Mining Rights was approximately
HK$11.0 million for the Year, representing a decrease of
approximately 41.2% as compare to approximately HK$18.7
million over the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group is
still continuously identifying potential investors to negotiate
the sales of the Mining Rights.

Financial Services and Assets Management

No segment revenue was recorded during the Year as the
prospect and market condition were yet to be certain,
especially in light of the economic recovery affected by
the China-US tension. The Group has adopted a prudent
approach in financial investments during the Year. As such,
the segment loss for the Year was approximately HK$3.4
million, compared with the segment loss of approximately
HK$3.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
status of each of the business in this segment is further
discussed as below.

Financial Services

The Group holds a money lenders licence in Hong Kong
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) through a wholly-owned subsidiary.
Due to uncertain market conditions, the commencement of
money lending business will be postponed.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(4) Financial Services and Assets Management
(Continued)

Distressed Debt Assets Management

The business incurred a loss of approximately HK$3.2 million
for the Year, mainly representing the overhead costs of the
business operation, whereas the loss of the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$2.8 million. The
Directors will continue to assess whether the Group should
continue to engage in distressed assets investment.

Securities Investment

The Group reported no transaction for its securities
investments in the Year and no investment gain/loss was
recorded for the Year, as compared to a net investment
income of approximately HK$0.5 million in the year ended 31
December 2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the consolidated net liabilities of the
Group was approximately HK$966.8 million, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$1,189.4 million as compared to that
net asset of approximately HK$222.6 million as at 31 December
2022. There is no shares movement since the end of the last
year. As at 31 December 2023, the Company has 5,250,019,852
shares of HK$0.05 each in issue and the total deficit to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$967.0 million (as at 31
December 2022: equity attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$221.0 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank balances and cash
were approximately HK$147.3 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$222.9 million), current assets of approximately
HK$212.8 million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$349.1 million), current liabilities of approximately HK$3,351.6
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$3,005.1
million). The current ratio was 0.06 times ™V (as at 31 December
2022: 0.12 times). As at the end of the Year, the net current
liabilities of the Group were approximately HK$3,138.7 million (as
at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$2,656.0 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the total debt financing of the Group
was approximately HK$1,673.5 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$1,741.5 million), and there was no non-current
debt financing for the Year (as at 31 December 2022: nil).

As at 31 December 2023, net debt M2 of the Group was
approximately HK$1,526.3 million (as at 31 December 2022 net
debt of approximately HK$1,518.5 million) and the total deficit
was approximately HK$966.8 million (as at 31 December 2022:
total equity was approximately HK$222.6 million). Therefore, the
gearing ratio ™t 3) as at the end of the Year was -1.73 (as at 31
December 2022: 7.82).

The objective of the Group’s funding and treasury management
activities is to ensure a sufficient liquidity to meet operational
needs and various investment plans.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no material capital
commitments and was not engaged in any future plans concerning
major investment or acquisition of capital assets (as at 31
December 2022: nil).

Notes:
1. Current ratio = Current assets/Current liabilities
2. Net debt = Borrowings — Bank balances and cash

3. Gearing ratio = Total interest-bearing borrowings/Total equity
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowings of
approximately HK$1,668.2 million were secured by certain assets
of the Group, including investment properties and the equity
interest of a wholly-owned subsidiary (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$1,736.1 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired
Guangzhou Rongzhi Public Facilities Investment Co., Ltd.
(“Guangzhou Rongzhi”) and Jinzhou Jiachi Public Facilities
Management Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou Jiachi”) (collectively refer as the
“PRC Subsidiaries”) through the acquisition of their immediate
holding company, Sky Build Limited and Superb Power Enterprises
Limited (the “Acquisition”), respectively, from their shareholder
(the “Predecessor Shareholder”).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, several legal claims
were filed against the PRC Subsidiaries mainly due to the fact that
the PRC Subsidiaries pledged the operating rights of its investment
properties (the “Pledges”) to secured bank loans granted to
several companies related to the Predecessor Shareholder (the
"Borrowers”) together with other guarantors and/or pledgors.
The Borrowers defaulted bank loan repayment. As at 31 December
2023, the principal of the defaulted bank loan by the Borrowers
was amounted to RMB3,400,000,000 (the “Overdue Amount”).

The Pledges were allegedly originated prior to the Acquisition
and the board of directors at the date of the Acquisition has no
knowledge for the Securities. Therefore, no disclosure of pledge
of assets contracts was made in the completion account as of the
Acquisition date.

Since the Pledges were entered into prior to the Acquisition, the
existing board of directors of the Group are unable to ensure the
completeness of the information in relation to pledged assets
contracts entered into.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 28
March 2023, 4 April 2023, 29 November 2023, 12 December
2023, 5 February 2024 and 4 March 2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent Liabilities

During the period from November 2018 to July 2019, two
of the Group's subsidiaries, namely Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Jinzhou Jiachi entered into various financial guarantee contracts
with Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd and Bank of Jinzhou Co, Limited
respectively for the bank borrowings of seven companies
which were related to Mr. Dai Yonggue (“Mr. Dai"”). The
maximum liabilities guaranteed by Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Jinzhou Jiachi were principal amounts of RMB569,900,000 and
RMB3,300,000,000 respectively together with the outstanding
accrued interests and other charges. At the prevailing time of those
financial guarantee contracts entered into, Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou Jiachi were not subsidiaries of the Company, but
companies indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group acquired
the entire equity interests in Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi through the acquisitions of Superb Power Enterprises Limited
and Sky Build Limited respectively that were completed in April
2021. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
became aware of those financial guarantee contracts when the
Group received the PRC court notices about legal claims during
the year 31 December 2023. Subsequent to the year end, the
PRC court had judged on the claims that Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou lJiachi are jointly are severally liable for the loans
guaranteed by the Group with the other guarantors. Reference is
made to the Company’s announcement dated 13 October 2023,
29 November 2023, 12 December 2023, 5 February 2024, 4
March 2024, 20 March 2024, 22 April 2024, 30 April 2024 and 10
May 2024. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised RMB854,262,000 (2022: RMB586,998,000) (equivalent
to approximately HK$939,688,000 (2022: HK$664,394,000))
impairment losses on these financial guarantee contracts based on
the valuation prepared by Messer International Valuation Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group, which was engaged by the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the course of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the directors
considered the expected payments to reimburse the holder of
the guarantees were no longer recoverable from the borrowers
and therefore recorded a loss of HK$295,321,000 (2022:
HK$683,546,000) in the profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group's financial statements are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“"HKD"), while the Group is conducting business
mainly in HKD, United States Dollar (“USD"), Great British Pound
("GBP") and RMB. Since exchange rates of HKD is pegged to USD,
there is no material exchange risk in respect of USD assets and
transactions. However, the assets, liabilities and transactions of the
UK and the PRC subsidiaries of the Group are mainly denominated
in GBP and RMB respectively, there were exchange risks during
financial settlement at the end of Year in this regard.

The Group has implemented policies and guidelines in relation to
foreign exchange risk management. Meanwhile, the subsidiaries
in the PRC are able to generate sufficient income to deal with
their local currency expenses; therefore, the management of the
Company considered that the Group's exposure to the potential
foreign currency risk was relatively limited.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 187 (as at 31 December
2022: 169) employees, of whom approximately 7.5% (as at 31
December 2022: 8.9%) were located in Hong Kong and the rest
were located in the PRC and overseas.

The Group recognises the employees as the key element that
contributes to the Group’s success. The Group's remuneration
policies are formulated based on the individual performance and
the salaries trends in various regions, which will be reviewed
annually. Apart from mandatory provident fund and medical
insurance, the Company has adopted a share option scheme
under which share options may also award to the Directors and
eligible employees as an incentive with reference to the assessment
of individual performance. The Board believes that the Group
maintains an admirable relationship with the employees.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (year ended 31 December 2022: nil).
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PROSPECTS

Albeit the uncertainties still lingering in the international business
environment, various countries involve in the mediation to facilitate
ceasefire and commencement of peace negotiation between
Russia and Ukraine, and between and Israel and Palestine, which
help to stabilize the prices of the international commodities.
While the interest rate in money market remains high, the global
market has the prerequisites for interest rate cuts, benefiting the
healthy development of the capital market. The consumer market
in the PRC has regained its momentum after the pandemic to
demonstrate stable economic growth.

Guangzhou Shopping Mall will continue to focus on transforming
the operating layout of the children’s wear section from double
aisles to a single, broad aisle and bringing in branded children’s
wear. Part of the area will be modified as livestream zone for
exclusive brands to promote tenants’ online operation, offline
sales and interactive customer experience. To increase the current
occupancy rate of the storage bunks, they will be optimized as
a combination of exhibition area and storage area to enhance
the sector popularity and competitiveness of tenants targeting
foreign merchandisers in the accessory industry. In respect of
undergarment zone, it aims at maintaining the scale and diversity
of the underwear projects.

Jinzhou Shopping Mall will modify some of the double and triple
aisles into single aisle to enable effective connection to different
underground zones. Meanwhile, shops with light meal theme and
snack shops will be relocated and reorganised in an operating area
to provide a strong customer flow for the operation of the adjacent
trendy games zone. Upon modification, the business hours of
the shopping mall will be prolonged on a trial basis to favour
the increase of rental income. Jinzhou Shopping mall intends to
establish an e-commerce department which will focus on market
serving the daily needs of the locals. Through e-commerce platform
and integrating online and offline operation, information and
special offers of the daily life products are streamed online, while
the needs of the consumers to visit physical shops can be satisfied
offline, all these together coordinate tenants to provide more high-
quality products and services.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Anyang Shopping Mall’s plan on the women's fashion wear section
will focus on young ladies’ wear, including shoes, bags, garments
and accessories. A trendy minimalistic street-strolling zone will be
set up with snacks promoted by KOLs. Products interaction will be
created by gathering tenants of hot brand fashions, manicure and
selfie booths, while the major consumer group of young women
will be maintained by streaming in Douyin local living. Meanwhile,
a cultural travelling bazaar vibe will be promoted to feature small
shops of hand-made products and accessories, realizing a special
bazaar culture in the street zone. In addition, a wide variety of
elements will be included in the trendy games zone. Projects
like video games, escape rooms and murder plot games will be
launched to attract tenants, creating a social space for the youth.
Pet zone is intended to be established in Anyang Shopping Mall to
introduce pet shops and pet merchandises as tenants. Regular pet
parties will be organized to generate pet consumer flow.

A court of the PRC has announced its judgement in relation to the
litigation claims against Guangzhou Shopping Mall and Jinzhou
Shopping Mall for the provision of guarantees for the third-party
loans, and has issued rulings for enforcement and notice. The two
shopping malls are currently coordinating with the Claimant Banks
to set up co-managed bank accounts for the shopping malls to
support their normal business operations.

Regarding the investment properties in the UK, the Group has
entered into an agreement to dispose all interest in the UK
properties for GBP50 million, of which approximately GBP19
million has been applied to repay all outstanding bank loan in the
UK, and the remaining balance will be used as working capital to
support the Group’s ongoing businesses primarily in trading of
flooring materials and the leasing and management of shopping
mall business in the PRC.

The flooring materials trading business, which will still focus on the
North American market, is expected to have stable development in
the following year.

Looking ahead to next year, with the increasingly stabilizing
external business environment and the favourable conditions as
reflected by the capital market and the interest rates, the Company
will execute stringent control on assets and capital structure, adjust
business portfolio on a timely basis, optimize overall business
scale and sustainability, so as to maintain healthy operation and
safeguard the inherent assets, while exploring new business
opportunities.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and
Pledges

PRC Shopping Malls

During the Year, the Company became aware of litigation
claims that had been brought in the PRC by two onshore banks
against among others, Jinzhou Jiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Longain Park Limited (#7)% G BR 72 &) (“Longain”), all of which
are subsidiaries of the Company. Each of Jinzhou Jiachi and
Guangzhou Rongzhi was alleged to have provided guarantees as
one of the guarantors of, or pledges against operating rights of
underground shopping malls (i.e. the Jinzhou Shopping Mall and
the Guangzhou Shopping Mall) as one of the pledgers of, bank
loans taken out by third party companies. Longain was alleged
to have provided a pledge against the entire equity interest in
Guangzhou Rongzhi for a bank loan taken out by Guangzhou
Rongzhi. As at 31 December 2023, the principal amount of
the defaulted bank loan by the Borrowers was amounted to
RMB7,269,900,000 (the “Overdue Amount”). The Company also
noted that onshore bank deposits of Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou
Rongzhi have been frozen pursuant to a civil ruling relating to one
of the aforementioned litigation claims.

Subsequently, the relevant PRC court(s) handed down judgments
regarding five of such litigation claims ordering the defendants
thereto (including, without limitation, Jinzhou Jiachi and
Guangzhou Rongzhi) to pay judgment amounts to the plaintiff.

At the prevailing times of the above alleged events, neither Jinzhou
Jiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi nor Longain were subsidiaries of the
Company. The Group acquired the entire equity interest and/or
shareholding interest in Jinzhou Jiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Longain through an acquisition that completed in April 2021.

During the Year, the Company also became aware of a litigation
that had been brought in the PRC by a former supplier of the
Group against Jinzhou Jiachi for failing to settle a small portion of
the aggregate construction fees due.

For further details regarding the aforementioned litigation claims,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 13
February 2023, 9 March 2023, 28 March 2023, 4 April 2023, 14
July 2023, 26 July 2023, 13 October 2023, 29 November 2023 and
12 December 2023.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and
Pledges (Continued)

PRC Shopping Malls (Continued)

As mentioned in the section headed “Prospects” above, certain
litigation claims had been brought in the PRC against subsidiaries
of the Company.

After the Year, each of Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi
received notices for enforcement (#7738 £12), disclosure orders
to report conditions of financials ( ¥ % Bf & < ) and rulings for
enforcement (¥ 77 & /& &) relating to three judgments handed
down earlier regarding the aforementioned litigation claims from
the relevant PRC courts. Such documents state that, among
others, the respective judgments have become effective and the
defendants thereto should pay the enforcement amount to the
relevant PRC courts.

After the Year, the relevant PRC court(s) handed down judgments
regarding six of such litigation claims order the defendants thereto
(including, without limitation, Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou
Rongzhi) to pay judgment amounts to the plaintiff. Each of Jinzhou
Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi also became aware that their
onshore bank deposits have been withdrawn and transferred to
accounts maintain by court in the PRC for the purpose of enforcing
court judgments. As at the date of this report, an aggregate
amount of approximately RMB7.2 million onshore deposits have
been frozen and approximately RMB31.2 million have been
withdrawn and transferred to accounts maintained by the court in
the PRC.

After the Year, Guangzhou Rongzhi received a letter from the
Claimant Bank (as defined in the announcement of the Company
dated 13 February 2023) requiring Guangzhou Rongzhi to repay
an aggregate of approximately RMB1.7 billion within five days of
such letter for settlement of the Guangzhou Bank Loan.

For further details regarding the aforementioned events, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 5 February
2024, 4 March 2024, 20 March 2024, 3 April 2024, 22 April 2024,
30 April 2024, 10 May 2024 and 21 May 2024. PRC legal counsel
has been engaged to advise on the said litigation claims. The
Group reserves all rights and remedies it may have against seller of
Jinzhou Jiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Longain and other relevant
parties.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and
Pledges (Continued)

UK Properties

After the Year, the wholly owned UK subsidiary failed to repay
and defaulted the loan with the London properties as security. The
Company is actively cooperating with the lending bank in handling
the loan matters. Subsequently, the loan was fully repaid on 16
May 2024. For further details of the related matters, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 5 March 2024, 20 March
2024 and 21 May 2024.

Disposal of UK Properties

After the Year, the Company entered into a very substantial
disposal and connected transaction for the disposal of the entire
interest in a subsidiary which holds the London properties for
GBP50 million. Deposit of approximately GBP19 million from the
transaction was used to repay defaulted loan in UK. For further
details of the related matters, please refer to the Company’'s
announcements dated 23 April 2024 and 28 June 2024 and
circular dated 11 June 2024.

Qualified Opinion

Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) has issued a qualified opinion
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Qualified Opinion”),
the text of which is set out on pages 79 to 81 of this annual report.

Elite had also issued a qualified opinion for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Previous Qualified Opinion”), the text
of which is set out on pages 78 to 80 of the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “2022 Annual
Report”). The Company had set out steps to address the Previous
Qualified Opinion on page 20 of the 2022 Annual Report (the
"Prior Year Action Plan”) and, as of the date of this report, the
Company had not received the required confirmations from the
relevant parties.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Qualified Opinion (Continued)

In view of the basis for the Previous Qualified Opinion, and
after taking into account of the results of the Prior Year Action
Plan, the Company believes that the probability and amounts of
related liabilities of potential claims in relation to the pledges and
guarantees relating to Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi
will subside over time, particularly that the statute of limitations
regarding applications to a people’s court for protection of civil
rights according to the Civil Code of China is generally three years
running from the date when the potential claimant is aware or
ought to be aware of the infringement of their rights and also
the contractual terms of pledges and guarantees usually have an
agreed validity period, and, on this basis, the Company expects
that the certainty in respect of the liabilities and contingent
liabilities relating to Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi will
eventually become increasingly apparent and Elite will therefore be
able to collect sufficient audit evidence required for the removal
of the Qualified Opinion. Accordingly, the Company intends to
explore the practical possibilities to follow up on the confirmations
under the Prior Year Action Plan and also continue to monitor the
liabilities and contingent liabilities relating to Jinzhou Jiachi and
Guangzhou Rongzhi and discuss with its PRC lawyer and Elite on
a regular basis with the aim to gather sufficient audit evidence for
the removal of the Qualified Opinion.

In the event that Elite is satisfied with the audit evidence for the
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2024,
except for the audit modification on (1) the opening balances
and comparative figures to be stated in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2024,
and (2) the comparative figures to be stated in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ending 31
December 2025, there would not be other audit modifications in
respect of the matters referred to above. In respect of the Group's
consolidated financial statement for the year ending 31 December
2024 and 2025, any audit modifications should solely relate to
the comparability of 2023 and 2024 figures. Accordingly, under
such circumstances, the issues giving rise to the Qualified Opinion
are not expected to have any continuing effect on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2026 and the subsequent years.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Qualified Opinion (Continued)

Neither the Audit Committee (as defined below) nor the
management of the Company holds a different view to that of Elite
Partners regarding the qualified opinion. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the management’s position and has no objections
thereto. The Company will instruct relevant personnel of the Group
to actively implement the action plan set out above in a bid to
remove the Qualified opinion in the Company’s audited financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2024.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Hongfang (“Mr. Wang"), aged 64, was appointed
as the executive Director on 7 January 2021. Mr. Wang was
appointed as the Chairman and chief executive officer (“CEOQ") of
the Company on 20 May 2021 and 31 January 2022 respectively.

Mr. Wang has over twenty nine years of management experience.
From 2003 to 2018, Mr. Wang served in China Dili Group
(formerly known as Renhe Commercial Holdings Company
Limited (“Renhe”) AMBEZIFAARAF)*, Stock Code: 1387, a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)). In 2003, he was appointed as
the vice president of China Dili Group and became the executive
president in 2006. He was then appointed as an executive director
on 14 December 2007, the executive president (Investments and
Financing) on 26 February 2008 and the chief executive officer on
30 June 2014, and resigned from all the positions on 4 September
2018.

Mr. Wang has extensive experience in shopping malls management
and property investments. Prior to joining China Dili Group, Mr.
Wang held management positions in a number of companies in
China during the period from 1994 to 2000. From 2001 to 2003,
Mr. Wang was the president of Harbin Jurong New Power Co.,
Ltd. in which he was responsible for the overall planning and
management of its business.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in automatic control
mechanics (B B)#2 55 %) in 1982 and graduated with a Master’s
degree in politics and economics in 1991 from the Harbin Institute
of Technology ("8 F/E T3 AE2).

* The English name is for identification only
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zheng Yuchun (“Mr. Zheng”), aged 57, was appointed as
the executive Director on 20 May 2021. Mr. Zheng was appointed
as Executive President and Authorised Representative of the
Company on 31 January 2022. Mr. Zheng has over twenty years
of experience in corporate management and investment. He has
experience in analysis, investment and management in several
investment banks and large corporate groups in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

Mr. Zheng was a senior researcher of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd.
between April 1997 and March 2001, senior vice president and
chief financial officer of Sun Media Investment Holdings Ltd. and
chief executive officer of Observer Star (HK) Co. Ltd between April
2004 and November 2006, Deputy General Manager (Investment
and Operation) of China Dili Group (formerly known as Renhe
Commercial Holdings Company Limited AR #£3ER B R A F*),
Stock Code: 1387, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) between November 2008 and June 2010,
executive director and deputy chief executive officer (president)
of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (formerly known as Culture
Landmark Investment Limited) (Stock Code: 674, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) between July 2010
to June 2013, executive president of China Alliance International
Holding Ltd between July 2013 and December 2015, and the chief
executive officer of China Sky Financial Holding Ltd between March
2017 and May 2021.

Mr. Zheng has also served as a corporate financial consultant for
a number of companies proposed to be listed directly or indirectly
in Mainland China or Hong Kong, and was responsible for capital
operations and providing guidance for the listing of companies.

Mr. Zheng graduated from the department of physics of Peking
University in 1989 with a bachelor’s degree in science and from the
school of management of Harbin Institute of Technology in 1997
where he obtained his master of business administration degree.
He also graduated from the school of economics and finance of
The University of Hong Kong in 2004 where he obtained a PhD in
finance. Mr. Zheng is a member of the CFA Institute.

* The English name is for identification only
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xiao Yiqun (“Mr. Xiao"), aged 60, was appointed as the
non-executive Director on 20 May 2021. He retired from non-
executive Director of the Company on 27 June 2023. Mr. Xiao has
over thirty years of experience in the agricultural industry. Between
1979 and 1981, he worked as a technician at the Bureau of
Agriculture in Xinhua County, Hunan. From 1984 to 2003, Mr. Xiao
worked at the economic crops unit of the Bureau of Agriculture
in Xinhua County, Hunan, where he was mainly engaged in the
technical promotion of tea and fruit trees. Afterwards, he served
as the general manager of Qingzhixiu (Beijing) Cultural Media Co.
Ltd.* (B2 5 (LR XLEH AR 2 F) from 2005 to 2012. Since
2013, Mr. Xiao has been serving as the general manager of Beijing
Hanbo Shengshi Investment Co. Ltd.* (At =B HF LR EFE A
A]). Mr. Xiao graduated from the College of Agriculture in Loudi,
Hunan province, with a college degree in tea and fruit major from
1981 to 1984.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. GAO Bin (“Dr. Gao”), age 61, is the independent non-
executive Director. Dr. Gao has extensive knowledge and rich
experience in foreign exchange, fixed income, equity and
commodity investment. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Space
Physics from University of Science and Technology of China, an
MA from Princeton University in Astrophysics and Master and a
PhD Degree in Finance from New York University. Dr. Gao currently
serves as chief executive officer and director of Kaifeng Investment
Management (Hong Kong) Limited. He has been serving as the
chief economist of Shenzhen Kaifeng Investment Management
Limited since January 2019. He has been serving as a special
term professor at PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University
since December 2014. He has been serving as independent non-
executive director of Sunshine Insurance Group (stock code: 6963)
since May 2018. He served as a senior vice president of Lehman
Brothers from 2004 to 2005. He served as a managing director
of Bank of America Merrill Lynch from 2005 to 2014, in charge
of interest strategies in Asia Pacific. He was a tenured associate
professor of the finance department at University of North
Carolina-Business School, USA before joining this industry.

* The English name is for identification only
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. LIU Yan (“Ms. Liu"”), aged 53, is the independent non-
executive Director. She resigned from independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 4 August 2023. Ms. Liu has over
thirty years of solid experience in auditing, financial management,
taxation and fund management. She holds a Bachelor Degree in
Economics from the Central University of Finance & Economics
and a Master Degree in Business Administration from University
of Rochester. She is a member of Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (CICPA) and passed all tests for Chartered
Financial Analyst (CFA) program. Ms. Liu has worked for
PricewaterhouseCoopers (Guangzhou, China), Barclays Capital
(New York City), Angelo Gordon Asia Limited (Hong Kong and
New York), China Everbright Limited (Hong Kong) and Brilliance
Group Holdings Limited (Shanghai). Ms. Liu was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Great Wall Pan Asia
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 583) on 26 November 2018.
She was an independent non-executive director of Planetree
International (Stock Code: 613) from November 2020 to October
2022. She was an independent non-executive director of U
Banquet Group Holding Ltd (Stock Code: 1483) from 1 November
2016 to 27 September 2018, she was also an independent non-
executive director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited
(Stock Code: 665) from 19 June 2018 to 25 August 2021, all of
which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. TANG King Shing (“Mr. Tang"), GBS, PDSM, aged 69,
is the independent non-executive Director. He resigned from
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 15 July
2023. Mr. Tang holds a Master’s Degree in International and Public
Affairs from The University of Hong Kong. Mr. Tang took office
(until retirement) as Commissioner of Hong Kong Police from
January 2007 to January 2011. In 2013, Mr. Tang was appointed
as a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of China, as a director of the
Hong Kong News-Expo and an honorary advisor of Hong Kong
Strategy. From September 2013 to August 2019, he was appointed
as the Chairman of the Country and Marine Parks Board of the
Agriculture, Fisheries and Conservation Department. He served
as vice chairman of Hong Kong Airlines from September 2016
to December 2018. He served as Director (Strategic Planning) of
Kai Tak Sports Park in June 2021. He served as the Chairman of
the Board of Directors of the Hong Kong Sports Institute Limited
with effect from 1 April 2023. He also served as an independent
non-executive director of Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
(stock code: 148) and as a non-executive director of Hong Kong
International Construction Investment Management Group Co.,
Limited, now renamed as Tysan Holdings Limited (stock code: 687),
from August 2013 to November 2016 and from July 2017 to May
2019 respectively, all of which are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. LEUNG Ting Yuk (“Mr. Leung”), aged 49, was appointed as
the independent non-executive Director of the Company on 15 July
2023. He obtained a bachelor’s degree of commerce with major
in accounting from University of Wollongong, Australia. Mr. Leung
is a member of the Certified Practicing Accountants, Australia
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Leung has over 20 years of experience in financial management,
accounting and auditing.

Mr. Leung is an independent non-executive director of Yanchang
Petroleum International Limited (stock code: 346) since December
2009, Most Kwai Chung Limited (stock code: 1716) since March
2018 and Xinyi Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 3868) since
November 2018, all of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. SONG Yanjie (“Ms. Song”), aged 57, was appointed as
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 18 August
2023. She has over 30 years of experience in tertiary education
and she is currently an associate professor of the Department
of Mathematics and Information Technology at the Education
University of Hong Kong.

Ms. Song obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts from the Qigihar
Teacher’s College (now known as the Qigihar University) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") in July 1988. She obtained
a master’s degree of arts from Jilin Technology University (now
known as Jilin University) in the PRC in March 1993. She obtained
a master’s degree of education and technology from University of
Leeds in the United Kingdom in November 2002. She obtained a
doctor’s degree in educational technology from the University of
Hong Kong in December 2009.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - g NERwmE

Tai United Holdings Limited (together with its subsidiaries
hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or "We") incorporates
sustainable development in its corporate planning and operation
as part of our efforts to create long-term value for the Group's
stakeholders. The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
Report (“ESG Report”) has been prepared in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Guide"”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), to inform all stakeholders about our ESG
policies, measures and performance.

The ESG Report mainly covers the Group's business segments,
comprising (i) properties investment; (ii) flooring and medical
equipment trading; (iii) mining and exploitation of natural
resources; and (iv) financial services and assets management, from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (“Reporting Period” or
“Year"). Management and staff of all major functions participated
in the preparation of this Report, to assist the Group’s review of
our operations and identification of relevant ESG matters, as well
as assessing the materiality of the relevant matters to our business
and stakeholders. A summary of the ESG matters material to the
Group contained in this Report is set out in the following table:

tﬂthﬁ@ RICEREWB AR T HE &
CTAREE S RMADASBERE A ERE
ﬁ“EﬁA BRARNEENNZEEEERE
Fﬁ BESRBOHETHASENRE HgRkE
SB(TESG) 2R - i RIT - BB EESH
A“%%ﬁ@ B LR ERRA ) MIERC2PT
BHIRE e RERHREESI([ESGIES| ) R
TARE - e RERHE ([ESGHRE ) -

AESGHRETEREB-_T-_=F—A—HEZ=Z
=+ A=1+—RAUBREHHE] - [xFEEE
MEBDBRIBOWERSE © (IR REER

HBES  (INFERMERAER  &(v)E#RE R
EETEES SFEWMeEmEEERETIHES
HREARE - Ui EER BB RER
HRAESGEE - W HEBEEHH M EB UK
ERHBENEEN - TRALAREMEALEBE
AESGEEZHE :

ESG Guide Summary

Significant ESG Matters

ESGIESIIRE EKRESGEH

A. Environmental
RE

Al. Emissions . Waste Treatment and Carbon Emission
BER) [BEE Y BR IR KR BERT

A2. Use of Resources . Energy and Water Consumption
EIR{E BEIR S KOE#E

A3.  The Environment and Natural Resources o Environmental Implication Management
RELRAER REXEER

B. Social
HeE

B1. Employment o Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities Policies
=4 EEFBER TSRS

B2. Health and Safety o Occupatlonal Health and Safety

B3. Development and Training . Employee Trammg Plan
EEYseEE] 8 TiEFIETEl

B4. Labour Standards o Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour
TR B 12 T skog %5 T

B5. Supply Chain Management o Sustainable Supply Chain
HrEEEIR ARERERMERE

B6. Product Responsibility o Customer Service, Marketing and Customer Privacy Security
EmEE B R - misHEEREPILERE

B7. Anti-corruption J Prevention of Corruption and Fraud
k&R DN IR= P58 73S

BS. Community Investment . Contributions to Society
HRgE HE R

AMERARAT —T - =F4R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R e RERRE

STAKEHOLDER PARTICIPATION

As a responsible enterprise, it is necessary for the Group to
understand the expectations and concerns of our stakeholders
with regards to our business development strategy, risk
management measures and internal control system. In order to
facilitate cooperation with our stakeholders, the Group actively
communicated with our stakeholders through various channels
during the Reporting Period to exchange opinions and ideas as well
as discuss and review ESG targets with stakeholders, with a view to
help the Group build key business strategies that will drive future
growth and tackle future challenges. Stakeholder participation
activities conducted during the Reporting Period is as follows.

FhES R

ERBEENDE  AEEVNATRENEHER
HREREE - RREEEREMABEERGOSNE
REDE - RIBEREFNHENRIERE  ARER
BEHNEBZRREEASNERREBAZIRE
RMIEE - MEFNHETHRRIESGER - BF
RAEERBEZA S ANIER L EE BRIENE
REBRE - RREHRRNETORNESEEBHN
T

Stakeholder Communication channels Views/Concerns
& BBRE BERBEEE
Government and market e Regular communication e Compliance with laws and regulations
regulators TEHAS S BPED K AR
B RiisEEE e Forums and conferences e Safe working environment
mEMEE 22 THERIR
Employees e Performance assessment e Remuneration and benefits
8T BAGEHE B X A8 A
e Employee training and programmes e Training and development opportunities

1B B9l KRR
. Staff activities

BT5%)

Shareholders and investors e Annual general meeting and other
fRERRIEEE general meetings
REBFERG RHMRRRE
e Annual report and financial results
announcement
FREVBEENS
e Announcements and circulars

General public and the ° Company website
community NSIF R
NBALRALE e Community services
t = AR
° Social media
RIS

Customers ° Email
R B
° Telephone conversations
B
° Opinion and complaint channels
ERRKFRB
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Bl R RES
o Health and safety
fEEEZ 2

o Sustainable profitability and shareholder
returns
AR R AR ) M AR B 5

o Information disclosure and transparency

EERBEIERE

o Stable corporate governance
BEIGRER

o Charity and social investment
BERMGRE

o Corporate social responsibility
rEMERAE

e  Sustainable development and responsible
business practices
AEERREBBETEEEN

o Quality and reliable services
=B R KA SRS

o Customer data security
RERFEUIR

o Business ethics
[EESELE
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STAKEHOLDER PARTICIPATION (continued)

The Group understands the expectations and concerns of our
stakeholders. Feedback received allows the Group to make smarter
decisions and better assess and manage the relevant impact.
Our management and employees regularly communicate with
stakeholders to determine the material ESG matters. In doing so,
we identify aspects for improvement in our daily operations, in
order to progress towards environmental and social goals.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 Emissions

The Group is committed to sustainable development
and corporate social responsibility and strives to monitor
and implement emissions reduction measures in its daily
operations with regards to process management, energy
and resource management, in order to prevent any
unnecessary pollution and minimise any adverse impacts
on the environment. No exhaust and effluent was
generated by the Group’s segments under development
in daily business operations during the Year.

In addition, in terms of mining and exploitation of
natural resources business, the Group holds four mining
right licences (“Mining Rights”) of its three tungsten
projects in Mongolia. During the Reporting Period, these
tungsten projects were still at the exploration stage,
thus discharge of exhaust, sewage and waste during
the mining process are not applicable. No revenue
was recorded by the mining and exploration of natural
resources business segment during the Reporting
Period.

BFHESHEw)

AEETHRIFHENNERDT - MEGHER
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1 Emissions (Continued)

Waste Treatment

In the Year, the total waste generated in the Group'’s
daily operations was only 0.557 tonnes, including 0.491
tonnes of non-hazardous waste (paper and single-use
office supplies), as well as 0.066 tonnes of hazardous
waste (spent fluorescent tubes, cleaning agents and
other chemicals).

The Group does not generate any chemical waste,
clinical waste and hazardous waste in our daily
operations. Non-hazardous waste generated during
operations mainly include general office supplies which
do not have a significant impact on the environment.
The Group promotes the transmission and cultivation of
environmental awareness in daily operations among our
employees. Numerous policies have been implemented
in our offices to improve energy saving and reduction
of waste generation, including reducing the usage
of single-use items and paper, promoting paperless
operations and meetings, adopting electronic circulation
of documents, and encouraging employees to adopt
double-sided printing and to reuse paper, in order to
minimise waste paper generation.

The Group recognises the equal importance of waste
recycling and reduction at the source to environmental
protection. Accordingly, the Group actively promoted
various environmental recycling initiatives during the
past financial year. For garbage disposal, the Group
sorted all waste from its offices into five categories
(paper/plastics/non-recyclables/decoration waste/
gardening waste) according to regulations and
conducted disposal and recycling of each category in
accordance with government regulations.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)
A1 Emissions (Continued)

Carbon Emissions

In the Year, the total carbon emissions of the Group
was 70.56 tonnes, and the carbon emissions density
was 0.03 tonnes of carbon dioxide per square metre of
office space MtV The above carbon emissions were
mainly generated from the usage of various energy
sources by the Group, including electricity, gasoline and
natural gas. Please refer to A2 Use of Resources —
Energy consumption ®ete 2 in this ESG Report for details
on the usage and consumption of the respective energy
sources.

To promote environmental protection awareness among
our employees, the Group encourages the usage of
new energy vehicles and public transportation, as well as
teleconferencing to reduce employee travel. Moreover,
we utilise electronic technology such as email for written
communications, DingTalk office software as an instant
messaging platform and electronic approval process
management, in order to reduce carbon emissions and
at the same time increase work efficiency.

All the departments of the Group have strictly complied
with the internal management system related to
environmental protection of the Group. There were
no incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to the emission of exhaust
and greenhouse gas, discharge into water and land,
generation of hazardous and harmless waste during the
Reporting Period.

Notes:

1. The above carbon emissions are calculated with reference to the
2023 Government GHG Conversion Factors For Company Reporting
published by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy (BEIS) of the UK, Emission Factor of Mongolia issued by the
Joint Credit Mechanism of Japan, Environmental Key Performance
Index Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange and China
Regional Grid Baseline Emission Factor issued by the National
Development and Reform Commission of China.

2. The above calculation of carbon emissions covers both Scope 1
and Scope 2 emission activities according to the Environmental Key
Performance Index Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2 Use of Resources

The Group emphasizes saving resources and
environmental protection and is committed to minimise
possible risks of impact on the environment arising from
business development by utilising resources effectively
and advocating commercial acts accountability to the
environment. During the Reporting Period, the Group
achieved various energy-saving targets and successfully
implemented green energy policies, and actively
participated in office energy-saving and environmental
protection activities organised by the property
management of the office building, such as resources
recycling activities, with a view to improve employee
awareness in energy conservation and emission
reduction.

Energy Consumption

The Group actively implemented various energy saving
policies and measures in order to meet our energy
saving objectives, which helped to reduce 2.67% of
total energy consumption during the Reporting Period.
The Group's office has fully installed energy efficient
LED lighting and other electronic equipment with high
energy efficiency. Air conditioning temperature is set at
environmentally friendly levels. The Group also monitors
electricity consumption of our offices. Employees are
required to turn off lighting, air conditioning and
office equipment after office hours to reduce electricity
consumption. Further, the Group provided regular
training and interactions for employees on saving
electricity, in order to raise environmental awareness
among employees.
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A. BiE®)
A2 ERFER®)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2 Use of Resources (Continued)

Energy Consumption (Continued)

Set out below is the Group's total energy consumption
and total energy intensity in the Year:

Consumption

Energy category (daily office work)

BESHFE ()

AT R SR BB M B AR FE B R A08E
B

Total Energy Intensity
(office space per unit)

#E BRERZE
RRER (BERHD) (BENMHAERK)
Electricity 72,654 kWh 28.73 kWh/m?
E 72,654F FLAF 28.73F EK /52K
Gasoline 10,366 L 4.1 Um?
P 10,366 27 ANRDF T IR
Natural gas 120 m3 0.04744 m3/m?
RAR 12037 J5 3K 0.0474431 F7 3K /15 K

Note:  The above consumption only covers the consumption
that directly controlled and utilised by the Group,
including the Group’s offices in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Mongolia and the UK, and excludes
consumption arising from other third parties.

Water Consumption

The Group’s water consumption during the Reporting
Period was generated from daily office water utilisation.
Although the Group’s business activities do not consume
a large volume of water, the Group has formulated an
internal system and standards to encourage employees
to adopt water conservation practices, in order to
promote water conservation awareness among our
employees. Steps which the Group has taken include
installation of water saving devices in the office, placing
notices and posters in all offices to remind employees
not to waste water, monitoring water usage in the
office to ensure that there are no leaky taps, and to
report any malfunctions as soon as possible to arrange
repairs. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
aggregate water consumption in its offices was 132.8
cubic metres, and density of water consumption
calculated using office area is 0.0525 cubic metres of
water consumed per square metre of office space. Total
water consumption in the Year decreased by 3.84%
compared to the previous year. Such decrease was
mainly due to our water conservation.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A3 The Environment and Natural

Resources
Environmental Impact Management

The Group is deeply aware of the importance of
environmental protection, social responsibility and
governance, and will continue to promote a green
office environment through the 4Rs of reduction,
reuse, recycling and replacement. Although the core
businesses of the Group do not have a significant impact
on the environment and natural resources, the Group
has always strictly complied with laws, regulations
and national standards relating to environmental
protection, and incorporates the impact of its operation
on environment as one of its significant considerations
and endeavours to minimise the impact of Company’s
operation on environment.

Besides, the Group constantly conducts assessment
and supervision on environmental risks during daily
operation, and immediately formulates mitigation
measures upon identification of potential environmental
risks to keep such risks under control.

Impact of Climate Change

In the past few decades, the global climate has
experienced significant change, as temperatures have
risen around the world, extreme weather events
have become more frequent and severe, potentially
disrupting business operations worldwide and adversely
impacting the macro economy. The Group is principally
engaged in property investments and trading, and is
not involved in manufacturing. Rising temperatures may
result in increased energy consumption by the offices
of the Group. The Group will continue to monitor
potential risks of climate change and its impact on the
Group's operations and customers, and formulate and
implement corresponding preventive and emergency
response mMeasures.
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B1 1EfE

B. SOCIAL B.
B1 Employment

Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities
Policies

The Group believes that talent is a key factor for
enterprise competitiveness and human resources play
a vital role in the Group’s long-term development and
success. Therefore, the Group strives to introduce talents
through multi-channel and cultivate talents through the
adoption of an incentive mechanism. During the Year,
the Group had a total of 187 employees, all of which
were full-time employees. The number of male and
female employees was 123 and 64, respectively. 159
employees worked in Mainland China, 14 employees
worked in Hong Kong, 5 employees worked in the UK,
and 9 employees worked in Mongolia. The total staff
turnover rate was 40% during the Year.

To attract and retain talents, ensure smooth business
operation of the Group and in line with continuous
expansion needs, the Group has its human resources
management policy in place to regulate matters
relating to staff recruitment, promotion, dismissal,
working hours, holidays, remuneration packages and
benefits. The remuneration of the Group’s employees is
determined with reference to market standard, industry
practice and staff's qualifications and experience.
Meanwhile, the Group distributes bonuses to employees
to the extent possible according to profitability as
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incentives for the contributions they made to the BERE - BIMRRE - BIERL - BEEH
Group and provides staff with on-the-job training and (R "R ER fFER BR =

development opportunities to assist them to show their
talents in the positions. The benefit plan of the Group's
staff comprises MPF, medical insurance, accidental
insurance, employees’ benefits, paid holidays (annual
leave, sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marital
leave and examination leave). Both staff’s working
hours and holiday schedules have rigorously complied
with national and local laws and regulations to make
sure staff can demonstrate their abilities in a favourable
working environment.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B1 Employment (Continued)

Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities
Policies (Continued)

The Group takes a fair and open principle on
recruitment policy, adheres to the basic principle of
merit and capabilities, open position recruitment, equal
competition, two-way selection and engagement of
the excellent in recruitment. All candidates are required
to undergo an objective orientation examination and
interview to assess whether their abilities can meet
our development requirements. At the same time, the
Group is also required to ensure the fairness of the
overall recruitment process through stringent approval
procedures. In addition, the Group provides staff with
good promotion prospects and opportunities. The
Group established an annual performance appraisal
system to review staff performance and remuneration
policy regularly, intending to reward and motivate the
contribution and performance of employees and assist
them in their career development and promotion within
the Group.

In the meantime, the Group is committed to providing
staff with a fair and equitable working environment with
no discrimination. The Group prohibits the occurrence of
any form of discrimination in its working environment,
avoid any form of discriminating recruitment,
redesignation, remuneration and promotion. The Group
establishes the reporting and complaint mechanism
system to report or submit complaints to the head of
the human resources department immediately in case
of any biased treatment, and the task force will conduct
an investigation and take appropriate follow up actions.
If our employees have any problems or opinions, they
could give feedback through the communication
channels established by the Group.

As teamwork is one of the core values of the Group, we
understand the importance of maintaining a suitable
work-life balance for our employees, hence the Group
arranged a series of corporate and social activities for
employees to enhance the corporate culture and their
sense of belongings. By doing these, the Group aims
to strengthen the connection between employees and
promote the balance between work and life.

During the Year, there was no significant breach of
any relevant laws and regulations such as Labour Law
relating to human resources.

No forfeited contributions may be and by employer to
reduce existing level of contributions.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B2 Health and Safety

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group regards staff’s occupational health and
safety as our foremost responsibility, and endeavours
to provide staff with a satisfactory and safe working
environment. As regard to fire control safety, the Group
provides all staff with detailed guidelines on fire escape
routes and escape procedures and requires staff to
participate in fire escape drills of office buildings. In
addition, the Group also encourages staff to report
various accidents that occurred during work and other
unsafe factors. Staff may seek assistance from the
human resources and administration department in case
of an accident during work or within the working arena.
The Group gives priority to staff’s safety under adverse
weather conditions (such as a rainstorm, typhoon).
Staffs are required to comply with the guidelines for
the staff’s working arrangement under adverse weather
conditions to safeguard staff safety to the greatest
extent.

Besides, the Group also pays high attention to the
staff’s physical and psychological health. The Group
organises various sports and recreation activities from
time to time. In addition to building up a healthy body,
staff may develop team spirit to promote a harmonious
working environment.

For tungsten mines exploitation in Mongolia, as
no active mining operation of the Group has taken
place yet, the guidelines on providing a safe working
environment and protection of employees from
occupational hazards were not applicable during
the Reporting Period. Once the exploitation of the
mines commences officially, apart from making sure
meeting the business compliance with local laws and
regulations on production safety, the Group will also
formulate a code of practice and safety guidelines in
place to standardise business processes, and detail the
safety precautions for different mining procedures. At
the same time, the Group will also conduct regular
occupational safety training on mining staff, require
staff to get equipped with protective equipment and
conduct on-going monitoring regarding the mining
environment to ensure working environment safety.
Besides, the Group will also adopt advanced technology
to enable more efficient and more secure mining
operations.

During the Year, the Group did not have any violations
of laws and regulations related to employee health and
safety.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B3 Development and Training

Employee Training Plan

The Group believes that talent development is an
enterprise’s development foundation. Hence, the
Group pays high attention to the staff's occupation
development and training. The Group has established
systematic training regimens and training systems to
support staff’s continuous development, among which
it comprises induction training, on-the-job training and
external training. At the end of each year, the human
resources and administration department collects
the training and developing requirements from each
department and formulates training plans based on
the information and opinions collected. Apart from
induction training, newly employed staff will continue to
learn and improve themselves during the mentoring by
experienced staff. Besides, the Group will also arrange
on-the-job training and external training tailored to
staff’s needs according to their operation post, personal
ability and aspiration to promote staff’s continuous
growth and development at work. After completing
the training, the Group will also collect staff's feedback
to constantly improve our training quality. The Group
started to set up special education allowances in
the Year to encourage potential staff to commence
continuing study relating to current works or for long-
term career development purposes to meet the business
development goals of the Group.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B4 Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

The Group is always committed to creating harmonious
labour relationships with staff and strictly complies
with the employment laws and regulations and labour
law of the region where it locates to ensure the staff's
interest was fully safeguarded. The Group establishes
a rigorous and comprehensive recruitment review
process and upholds the principle of fairness, openness
and voluntariness for staff employment. At the time of
the interview, candidates should provide identification
documents and valid employment visas for us to conduct
a due diligent investigation on their basic information,
sign a legal labour contract. The recruitment for all staff
is on an optional and legal basis. In addition, the Group
pays equal attention to the implementation of labour
standards in subsidiaries and outsourcing companies.
The Group will regularly conduct a random inspection
on subsidiaries and outsourcing companies to make
sure no violation of relevant laws and regulations.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to the prevention of child
labour or forced labour.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B5 Supply Chain Management

Sustainable Supply Chain

Given that supply chain management is the key factor
of sustainable development, such that the Group has
stringent requirements for supplier management. Each
department is required to purchase according to the
“Guidelines for Procurement Process Standard of Office
Supplies and Fixed Assets” prepared by the human
resource and administration department. In addition,
Group's purchasing department sets up a dedicated
department task force to formulate and complete the
procurement process standard, conducts an annual
review and update on the procurement process to make
sure the Group adheres to the principle of openness,
fairness and transparency for supplier selection, and
conducts procurement at reasonable price and quality.
In the coming years, the Group will continuously
plan and develop the supplier selection mechanism
to reinforce suppliers’ requirements and focus on
environmental protection, labour safety and staff
protection.

In the Year, the Group had a total of 45 suppliers,
which locate in Mainland China and UK. The Group
will also supervise supplier performance. The Group
will suspend supplier service if its performance is
unsatisfactory. Meanwhile, the Group also intends
to carry out regular annual assessments regarding
supplier performance and requires all suppliers to
satisfy the Group’s requirements in the environmental
protection and social responsibilities aspects, such as
adopting green materials, prohibiting employment of
forced labour and child labour before continuing the
cooperation relationship.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B6 Product Responsibility

Customer Service

The Group attaches great importance to our service
quality and customer experience. The Group built
customer satisfaction through constantly improving our
service standard for customers to make sure providing
customers with quality products and services and set
up an effective customer complaint mechanism to
constantly improve service experience through customer
feedback. The Group dedicates to provide accurate
information for customers to make wise investment
decisions, provides customers with sufficient advice and
coaching to help them understand and select products
and services required through offering products and
services with clear descriptions and provisions.

(i) Customer Satisfaction

The Group regularly conducts annual customer
satisfaction investigations to continuously
improve our products and services and analyses
in detail the investigation results in accordance
with indicators of the established service, which
includes management service quality, service and
product safety, customer service and product
support. The Group will also improve its customer
service performance next year by establishing an
action programme.

(i) Customer Complaint Follow-up

The Group attaches great importance to client
feedback for improving its service quality
continuously by humbly accepting customers’
opinions. The Group has set up a professional
customer service team to address and follow up
on customer complaints. Every complaint will be
investigated and followed up by a special person
in charge and the whole process will be monitored
by management. After the reasons for the
complaints are identified and responding progress
is completed, the special person in charge will
contact the complainant to offer our resolutions
for the proper handling of the customer complaint.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B6 Product Responsibility (Continued)

Marketing

Integrity management is the essential merit of our
business operation. The Group endeavours a responsible
marketing strategy with no exaggerated marketing
tactics. All sales, promotion documents and data are
required to be approved by management before rolling
out to make sure complying with the requirements of
relevant advertisement laws and regulations.

Customer Privacy Guarantee

The protection of the privacy of customers or consumers
is crucial for the Group’s operation. Except for the
public documents as specified in laws and regulations,
the Group strictly follows the relevant privacy ordinance
in relation to the usage and confidentiality requirements
of customers’ or consumers’ private information and
never allow information disclosure without the approval
of data owners. Group has a “Staff Code of Practice” in
place to standardise the principle of management, usage
and abide by the confidentiality of business data and
prohibits casual management and storage of customer
information. In addition, the Group emphasise the
importance of protecting customer data, and provide
guidance on customer data processing in staff training
and devote all our efforts to prevent the leakage of
customer information.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to privacy, product, service
quality and marketing.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7 Anti-corruption

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud

The Group propagandises an enterprise culture of
honesty, integrity and righteousness and commits
to building an anti-fraud and anti-corruption
corporate culture environment. The Group requires
staff to stringently comply with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and strives to maintain the clean
management and operation structure of the Company.
Meanwhile, the Group set up the “Staff Code of
Practice” and disseminated it to all staff. The Practice
standardises the staff’s code of conduct and the
guidelines on conflict of interests and requires staff to
report regularly on any conflict of interests. Besides, the
Group also establishes a series of anti-fraud measures,
among which include propaganda and training of
antifraud policy, fraud risk assessment mechanism and
complaint reporting mechanism.

Under the guidance of anti-fraud policies and related
measures, the Group regularly organises and invites
professionals to conduct training on laws, regulations,
integrity and ethics. Employees are taught how to
identify and correctly handle conflict of interests at work
and resist the temptation of improper interests. Under
the fraudulent risk assessment mechanism established
by the Group, it is regularly conducted fraudulent
risk identification and assessment at the Group's
and department’s level to assess the importance and
possibility of fraudulent risk and formulate resolutions
to address fraudulent risk as required. The Group
also established a set of comprehensive complaint
channels, investigation mechanisms and accountability
mechanisms. Any staff, supplier and customer of the
Group may report any undue staff behaviour through
the channel provided for assisting the Group to
supervise staff’s ethical character and penalise staff for
any misconduct. Complaints matters include but are
not limited to the violation of laws, regulations and
the Group’s policy requirements, or undue behaviour
relating to internal monitoring, operation, accounting,
auditing, finance and undue conduct, illegal act or
fraudulent matters.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7

B8

Anti-corruption (Continued)

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud (Continued)

The above policy regarding bribery, conflict of interests
and whistle-blowing forms part of the Group’s Code
of Conduct for employees and is clearly set out in the
Employee Handbook. All employees are required to
follow stringently.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to the prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community Investment

Contributions to the Society

The Group always attaches importance to the corporate
social responsibilities, adheres to the concept of
repaying the society while its business is developing
and devotes ourselves to the social and public welfare
to make contributions in facilitating social harmonious
development. At the same time, the Group also actively
encourages its staff to participate in various social
and public services to cultivate their sense of social
responsibility, strive to build a harmonious community,
and make greater contributions to society.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Group acknowledges the importance of a healthy corporate
culture, which is vital to attain the Group’s vision and strategy. The
Board is responsible for fostering a corporate culture in accordance
with the core principles of integrity, commitment, sustainable
returns to Shareholders and high ethical standards.

The Board continuously review and adjust, if necessary, the
Group's business strategics and keep track of the changing market
conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken
to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to foster
the sustainability of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adhering to the principles of corporate governance
with emphasis on transparency, independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of Shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023 as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules, except for certain deviations disclosed in this
corporate governance report (“CG Report”).

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"),
as amended from time to time, as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its Directors. Having made specific enquiry, all
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2023. The Company's Model Code also
applies to all employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code was noted by the Company during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All
Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman of the board
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The roles of the Company’s chairman of the Board
(“Chairman”) are to provide leadership to the Board and
formulate the Group’s business strategies. This aimed at striking
a balance of power and authority, job responsibilities are not
concentrated on any one individual. The Chairman is responsible
for ensuring the Board works effectively, in particular, ensuring all
Directors receive reliable, adequate and complete information in a
timely manner. The Chairman may communicate with the Directors
directly or through the assistance of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”) to discuss or clarify any
issues concerning the Group from time to time, and to provide any
supporting information and documents to them. The Chairman
assumes the primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established.

CEO is responsible for the conduct of day-to-day operation of
the Group and accountable to the Board for all aspects of the
corporate performance. He recommends policies to the Board
for consideration and approval, and keeps the Board informed of
any material developments of the Company’s business. The CEO
may delegate his duties to any other management members or
responsible officers of the Company but he assumes the principal
responsibility.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

EER
BE

ARRNEGHEERAREREE - EFERAR
BERERARAER  WBBEENEEARE
% BREARANKNAREE - 2BEFHA
FEOR AR RIMEELIRE

EZRRERARARMBERZETHFELRKNE
N BREMEREEMERREE  BERBLE
8 ABEELREREEE R EAXRS  MBE
B ZEEEREMBEAYBEREEEE -

EERATHAE

TREATUTH  EFERTFAETHRAHR AR
EEED - WAEHFR— ARE - TFETHRAE
B0 TIEBR T AEEIIE

TRETREHN D TRBREELIAEEIIE -
ARRIEEREF(TERDNACKAZEERY
BRI AR BA R R - REEESHNEERZ
RAFE  THERETSETFREN—A - EFAEER
BREFREWESF  LEABREEBESRFRE
A5 ARLTHEMN - TEVEEIEBAAG
ARAME((RARE DB RERER  UTERH
ARBBEAARARENSTE - YAKRSFERMHE
AXIHER R - EFEABBRREZIRIFEE
ERRRLEFNEREML -

TRERAEAEENATEEE  UMEEREDH
FETHREEREE  RAEFRELBEES
UHEZEREL  UHBNSEZREMNEELR
REEBHERER - (TRERFIRAR B EME
MEREERBXEENTEERARE - HHURE
TEERME-



Corporate Governance Report
TEEAWME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman of the board
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Wang Hongfang performs
both roles of chairman and CEO since 31 January 2022 and is
responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Group.
The Board believes that it is in the best interests of the Group
to have Mr. Wang Hongfang taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. In addition, the Group
operations are also supervised and managed by the rest of
the Board, comprising one other executive director and three
independent non-executive directors, who provide balance of
power and sufficient checks to protect interest of the Company
and shareholders as a whole.

Composition

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors during the
reporting year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Hongfang (Chairman and CEQ)
Mr. Zheng Yuchun (Executive President)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xiao Yiqun (retired on 27 June 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs")

Dr. Gao Bin
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk

(appointed on 15 July 2023)
Ms. Song Yanjie

(appointed on 18 August 2023)
Ms. Liu Yan

(resigned on 4 August 2023)
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

(resigned on 15 July 2023)

Both Mr. Tang and Ms. Liu resigned so as to devote more time to
their personal and other business commitments.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

INEDs and their independence

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all
times met the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term subject to re-election.

INEDs are not appointed for a specific term. However, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-
laws. Each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.

Each of Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and Ms. Song Yanjie was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 15
July 2023 and 18 August 2023, respectively, and each of them
had confirmed that he/she understood his obligations as a director
of the Company after obtaining the legal advice referred to in
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 10 August 2023 and 22 August
2023, respectively. Such appointments of the independent non-
executive directors above were made before Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules came into effect.

Independent view and input

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to

the Board, the Board has developed the following mechanisms,

including but not limited to:

(i) atleast one-third of Board members are INEDs;

(i) every INED is appointed for a specific term and subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years;

(iii)  INEDs possess professional knowledge and Board experience;

(iv)  no INED has served the Company for more than nine years;

(v)  no INED holds more than six listed company directorships
to make sure that each of INEDs has sufficient time to make

contributions to the Board;

(vi) every INED has made an annual confirmation of his/her
independence to the Company; and
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent view and input (Continued)

(vii) the Board, each of its Board committees or every Director is
able to seek professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expenses.

The implementation and effectiveness of relevant mechanisms have
been reviewed by the Board and will further be reviewed annually.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report, which
demonstrates a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications.

Pursuant to Bye-law 85 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the
Directors shall retire by rotation at each annual general meeting
of the Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at the annual general meeting of the Company at least
once every three years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board and has more than one-third in number of its
members comprising INEDs.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. Each executive Director is suitably qualified for his/
her position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as
to carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently.

Board meetings

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the executive
Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and each Director
is able to request inclusion of items in the agenda. The Board
schedules at least four regular meetings a year and also meets as
and when required. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Board held sixteen meetings. All such meetings were convened in
accordance with the Bye-laws.

Adequate and appropriate information are circulated to the
Directors normally three days in advance of Board meetings or such
period accepted by them. In addition to regular Board meetings,
the Chairman should at least annually hold a meeting with the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors pursuant to the CG
Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings (Continued)

Minutes of all Board and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors.
Draft minutes of all Board and committee meetings are circulated
to all Directors and committee members for comments within the
period accepted by them after each meeting.

Attendance of Directors at various meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the attendance of each
individual Director at the Board meetings, committee meetings and
the annual general meeting held on 27 June 2023 (“2023 AGM"),
are as follow:

BEERw)
BEEREZE 9

EEERIZBEERCHOMRAMNERT
BB EEH - MAESRAZESEHLHE
BA  ORBREFFERE  EEREENZES
REEMEIER - 2T REETS °

BEENESHERSR
BHE-_Z-_=F+"A=1+—HItEE KE5H
FEEREH ZECEREAN_ZT-_=FA
—tEEBRTIRRERAFAS([ZE-=ERRAE
FRG)ZHEBRAT

Attended/Eligible to attend

HE/AEREE
Audit Nomination =~ Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
EZREE BNZEC9E REZE0EE FHzsees RRAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Wang Hongfang FTERWEAE (LEF
(Chairman & CEQ) 71BAE#) 16/16 N/A g R N/A TiEF N/A NiEF 11
Mr. Zheng Yuchun BEZEE
(Executive President) (#74%) 16/16 N/A g N/A TiEF N/A FEF 17
Non-executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Xiao Yigun Mot ? Hamp =y 79 N/A T8 A N/A TNER N/A TNER 11
Independent Non-executive ~— BUHH7TEZE
Directors
Dr. Gao Bin BERL 1116 23 3/4 23 1N
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk "2 PR AR 5/5 22 22 11 0/0
Ms. Song Yanjie et REFEL L 33 22 0/0 0/0 0/0
Ms. Liu Yan (Nete4 B £r 1 (i3 10/13 n 213 212 17
Mr. Tang King Shing et HE LM 1M 17 2 22 1
Notes: BsE

1. Retired on 27 June 2023

2. Appointed on 15 July 2023

3. Appointed on 18 August 2023
4. Resigned on 4 August 2023

5. Resigned on 15 July 2023

According to the CG Code, all independent non-executive directors
and non-executive directors should attend general meetings of
listed issuers.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

The Company provides regular updates on the business
performance of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are
continually updated on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeeping of good corporate governance
practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge and
skills. The Company has received confirmation from all Directors of
their respective training records for the year ended 31 December
2023.

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant the CG Code, the Board is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as set out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the CG Report.

This CG Report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of its
corporate governance functions.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and
indemnity

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in
the execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto,
the Company has arranged insurance cover for this purpose.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee"”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) stipulating the composition of the Board. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualification,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The appointment of
the members of the Board will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board
has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and considers that the
composition of the Board satisfied the Board Diversity Policy and
the Company has not set any measurable objectives.

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management)
is: male 66% and female 34%.

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) with the aim of ensuring the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business. When considering
a candidate nominated for directorship or a retiring Director’s
proposed re-appointment, the Nomination Committee will
have regard to, among other things, (i) age, skills, knowledge,
experience, expertise, professional and educational qualifications,
background and other personal qualities of the candidate; (ii)
effect on the Board’s composition and diversity; (iii) commitment
of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry out
his/her duties; (iv) potential and/or actual conflicts of interest
that may arise; (v) independence; (vi) in the case of a proposed
reappointment of an INED, the number of years he/she has already
served; and (vii) other factors considered to be relevant by the
Nomination Committee. Having due regard to the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will identify and consider each suitable candidate or retiring
Director and make recommendation to the Board. Subject to the
provisions of the Bye-laws, each the appointment of new Director
and re-appointment of Director will be stand for re-election at the
general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Nomination Committee are:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk
Ms. Song Yanjie

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held four meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 54 of this annual
report.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2023 included:

(@) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(b) identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendation to the Board on their
appointments;

(c) assessed the independence of the INEDs;

(d) made recommendations to the Board on the retiring Directors
for re-election at the 2023 AGM; and

(e) reviewed the Nomination Policy.
Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the composition

of the Board, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee"”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board, among other things, on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
all Directors and senior management of the Company. No
individual Director is involved in decisions relating to his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
model under the CG Code to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Remuneration Committee were:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk
Ms. Song Yanjie

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held three meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 54 of this annual
report.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2023 included:

(@) reviewed the performance of executive Director and specific
staff and recommended to the Board specific adjustments in
reward payments;

(b) reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management for the year
ended 31 December 2023;

(c) reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the newly appointed Directors and senior management for

the year ended 31 December 2023; and

(d) reviewed and approved the matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) was
established with a specific written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising
the financial reporting process, assisting the Board to ensure
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and providing advice and comments to the Board. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
its duties and may access to independent professional advice if
considered necessary.

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprises three
Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the Audit
Committee are:

Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (Chairman)
Dr. Gao Bin
Ms. Song Yanjie

Mr. Leung Ting Yuk, the Chairman of Audit Committee, possesses
relevant professional qualifications and financial management
expertise and meets the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit
Committee held three meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 54 of this annual
report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the work performed by

the Audit Committee included:

(a)

(9)

reviewed with the Company’s auditors the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2023, with recommendations to
the Board for approval;

reviewed the risk management report on monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and
statutory requirements;

reviewed with the management of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

reviewed the term and remuneration for the appointment
of Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) as external auditor to
perform the agreed-upon procedures of the final results for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and accounting advisory
service on the interim results for the six-months ended 30
June 2023;

reviewed Elite’s independence as external auditor (especially
on non-audit services); and

nominated the appointment of Elite as the auditors of the
Company at the 2023 AGM.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and may access to independent professional
advice if considered necessary.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remunerations
paid and payable to Elite for audit services and non-audit services
regarding the review of interim financial statements and other
assurance and non-assurance engagements rendered to the Group
are as follow:

Services rendered for the Group

BTN &

REBEE-_T-_=F+_A=+—BILEE  ®AK
EEIRH TR KR B SRk B0 R A
BIIEZETLENIIEEERBEEN RESN FHRTZ
BT

Fees paid/
payable to
Elite
2B
HTHER
HK$'000

AAEEREZRE TETT

Audit services
Non-audit services

Total @Et

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity of
Elite and has recommended to the Board the re-appointment of
Elite as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31
December 2022, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently.

The responsibility of the auditors with respect to these financial
statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 79 to 86 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE

The Board takes overall responsibility for ESG strategy, overseeing
senior management in developing the approach, execution and
associated reporting. The Board continues to adopt enhanced
measures to reduce energy and other resource utilisation, minimise
waste and increase recycling, encouraging its employees to adopt
environmentally responsible behaviours whilst also promoting
environmental protection to the Group’s customers. During the
Year, the Board received and reviewed the ESG report. Details of
the Group’s ESG performance in 2023 are disclosed in the 2023
ESG Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining a sound
risk management and internal control system within the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness. However, such system was
designed only to manage various risks of the Group within certain
acceptable risk level, rather than completely eliminate the risk
of failing to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or losses. The Audit Committee assists the
Board to oversee the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has a risk management and compliance department to
perform the internal audit functions. During the year under review,
the internal auditors of the Group carried out an analysis and
independent appraisal regarding the adequacy and effectiveness
of its risk management and internal control systems. In addition,
the Group has developed an internal control model which follows
the principle of Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO"). It consists of five elements,
namely control environment, risk assessment, control, information
and communication, and monitoring. Under this control
model, the Group’s management is responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control measures and
its effectiveness, and the Board and Audit Committee will supervise
the appropriateness of internal control measures as designed by
the management and the effective implementation of internal
control measures. Meanwhile, the internal control has adapted to
the Group's scale of operation, scope of business, competition and
risks, and is subject to prompt adjustments according to changes
in circumstances. It will be a long-lasting and continuous work
to improve the internal control system, implement the regulated
system and intensify the supervision and examination of internal
control.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

The risk management and compliance department also prepared
a risk management framework of the Group, including the
construction of the architecture for the aforementioned
organisation and definition of the responsibilities of all parties
concerned, and prepared risk management policies and processes
and clarified the risk assessment procedures, which, specifically
include risk identification, risk analysis, risk control and risk report.

Step 1: Risk identification — identify risks currently exposed to the
Group and business and its existing management and
control measures.

Step 2: Risk analysis — analyse the possibility of risk, extent of
influence and its existing management and control
measures, identify risk exposure, and propose further
countermeasures.

Step 3:  Risk control — implement and periodically detect the
identified risks to ensure effective operation of risk
countermeasures.

Step 4:  Risk report — summarise the results of risk management
analysis, prepare action plans and report to the
management, Audit Committee and the Board. During
the year under review, the risk management and
compliance department has updated and revised the
Group's risk management system in light of its actual
conditions with the assistance of individual business units
and departments to review and provide their feedbacks.

During the year, through this risk management system, the risk
management and compliance department selected the major
business units and departments of the Group to complete three
major risk control activities, including its assessment, scoring and
ranking, and prepare risk countermeasures to ensure that each
significant risk has adequate corresponding risk countermeasures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board considered
the Group’s current risk assessment system was effective and
adequate. Periodical reviews will be performed to improve and
safeguard the effective operation of the Group’s risk management
system. In addition, in view of the enhanced control on listed
companies in recent years by regulators such as the SFC and
the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange, backed by the
consolidated corporate systems and procedures and internal
control manual, the risk management and compliance department
conducted sampling check on major compliance control activities
and procedures of the Group during the year under review and no
material internal control deficiencies was discovered.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the findings and impartial opinion of the risk
management and compliance department on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is of the opinion that the available resources and staff
qualifications of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions are adequate and sufficient. Based on the information
furnished and upon its own observations, the Board is satisfied
with the present internal controls of the Group.

The Group regularly reminds the Directors and employees on
compliance policy regarding inside information, and provides
them updates in relation to the appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure complying with regulatory requirements. The Group
is aware of its obligations under the SFO, the Listing Rules and
overriding principles and that inside information should be
announced timely and conducts its affairs in strict compliance with
the prevailing applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing, and coordinating the daily operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Yick Pang, Philip (“Mr. Poon”) is a full-time employee
company secretary of the Group. He is responsible for facilitating
the Board process, as well as the communications among the
Board members, Shareholders and Management. He also prepared
detailed minutes of each meeting and such minutes would be
sent to the Board for comments as soon as practicable. Mr. Poon
reports directly to the Board. All Directors are able to access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Poon undertook no
less than fifteen hours of professional training to update his skills
and knowledge pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
all Shareholders. The annual general meeting of the Company
is a valuable avenue for the Board to enter into direct dialogue
with Shareholders. The Chairman and the members of Board
committees will attend the annual general meeting to answer any
question raised from the Shareholders.

The interim and annual reports of the Company are despatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.

All the Shareholders are given at least twenty clear business days’
notice before the date of the annual general meetings and at
least ten clear business days’ notice for all other general meetings
pursuant to the provisions of CG Code applicable during the
reporting period.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and
notices of Shareholders meetings as required under the Listing
Rules are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the requirements concerning
voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting
procedures and the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll are
included in circulars to Shareholders despatched by the Company
and explained by the chairman of general meeting at the meeting.
All resolutions proposed at general meeting are voted separately.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of the shareholder’s
communication policy and considers its implementation as
effective.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for convening a special general
meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to Bye-law
58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company may send
a written request to the Board to request for a special general
meeting; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholder(s)
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Room 4202-03A, 42th Floor, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or at the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would
be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”) once a valid
requisition is received.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by the Directors.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings

The following Shareholder(s) is/are entitled to put forward
a proposal (which may properly be put to the meeting) for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company:

(@) any number of members representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the
date of the requisition; or

(b) not less than one hundred Shareholders holding shares in the
Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned, together with a statement of not more
than a thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
the proposal must be deposited at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 4202-03A, 42th Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or at
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholder(s)
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in
giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under
Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents
are received.

Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and
payment) under the Companies Act and the Bye-laws. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia,
the Group’s actual and expected financial results, the economic
conditions and other factors that may have impact on the Group;
the Group’s business strategies, current and future operations,
liquidity position and capital requirements and any other factors
that the Board deems appropriate. The dividend payout ratio will
vary from year to year. There is no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for directing Shareholders’
enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing via the following channel:

In respect of the corporate affairs:

The Board of Directors/Company Secretary
Tai United Holdings Limited

Room 4202-03A, 42th Floor

China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: ir@taiunited.com

Facsimile: (852) 2667-2667

In respect of the other shareholding/entitlement affairs:

Tricor Tengis Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Save as the amendments (for summary of amendments please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 17 April 2023) adopted
in the Annual General Meeting held on 27 June 2023, there was
no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Report of the Directors
EF WS

The Directors are pleased to submit herewith their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group was principally engaged in (i)
properties investment; (i) medical equipment trading; (iii) flooring
materials trading; (iv) mining and exploitation of natural resources;
and (v) financial services and assets management.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 43
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2023 by segments are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 87 to 88. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 and a discussion on the Group’s further
business development are provided in the sections headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group include
strategic, operational and financial risks. Each of them is discussed
briefly as below:

Strategic risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge
to the external environments. The Group will invest in projects
and investments based on the strategic plan in order to cope with
the market demand and expectation. Given the rapid change
of unforeseeable external environments in the financial and
equity markets, the Group is facing significant strategic risks on
its investments when changing the strategic plans to adopt the
unexpected changes of external environments.

Operational risks

Management regularly reviews the Group’s operations to ensure
that the Group’s risk of losses, whether financial or otherwise,
resulting from fraud, errors, omissions and other operational and
compliance matters, are adequately managed.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks are set out in note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report headed
under “Financial risk management objectives and policies”.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial reporting periods is set out on page
211 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023, together with the reasons, are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has no reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the parent, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act, (2022: nil).
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no equity-
linked arrangements were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no convertible
securities, options (including share options under the Share Option
Scheme), warrants or similar rights was issued or granted by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, nor was there any exercise
of any conversion or subscription rights of such aforementioned
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and investment properties during the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in notes 18 to 19 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of the Group’s borrowings are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTIONS OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company'’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Hongfang (Chairman & CEQ)
Mr. Zheng Yuchun (Executive President)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xiao Yigun (retired on 27 June 2023 as Director)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Gao Bin
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (appointed on 15 July 2023)
Ms. Song Yanijie (appointed on 18 August 2023)
Ms. Liu Yan (resigned on 4 August 2023)
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

(resigned on 15 July 2023)

Pursuant to Bye-laws 84(2) and/or 85 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Wang
Hongfang, Dr. Gao Bin, Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and Ms. Song Yanjie
shall retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election.

Each of the INEDs had made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.

The Nomination Committee has assessed and reviewed the annual
written confirmations of each of Dr. Gao Bin, Mr. Leung Ting
Yuk and Ms. Song Yanjie based on the independent guidelines
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and confirmed that
each of them remains independent. As each of Dr. Gao Bin, Mr.
Leung Ting Yuk and Ms. Song Yanjie has provided a wide range
of perspectives and contributed insights and independent views
to the Board during his/her tenure and has devoted sufficient time
to the Company, the Nomination Committee believes that each of
such independent non-executive Directors will continue to provide
a diversity of experience, skills, expertise and background to the
Board. The Nomination Committee considered that the proposed
re-election of each of Dr. Gao Bin, Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and Ms.
Song Yanjie would enhance the diversity of the Board having
regard to his/her expertise, background and experience.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The Director’s biographical information are set out on pages 25 to
30 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EXZRWE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 165(1) of the Bye-laws provides that, among others, every
Director and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices and related matters provided that the indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to any of them.

In this connection, the Company has arranged directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, (a) no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance, to which the Company
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest directly
or indirectly; and (b) no contracts of significance between the
Company or its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or its
subsidiaries or contract of significance for the provision of services
to the Company or its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or
its subsidiaries, subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates was interested
in, apart from the Group’s businesses, any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or were in existence during the year ended 31
December 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Reference is made to note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report for related party disclosures.
None of these transactions constitutes a connected transaction
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and/or related
party transaction under Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24.

On 23 April 2024, the Company and C&E Flooring Supply Limited
(the “Purchaser”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to sell,
and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, all the issued
shares of Wide Flourish Investments Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as of the date of the sale and purchase
agreement) (the “Target Company”) for a consideration of
GBP50,000,000. The Target Company and its subsidiaries primarily
hold and manages the properties located in London, the United
Kingdom for rental income. The Purchaser is indirectly wholly-
owned by Mr. Pang Da Yong, who is a director of the subsidiaries
of the Target Company and thus the Purchaser is an associate of
Mr. Pang Da Yong and a connected person of the Company at
subsidiary level under the Listing Rules. For further details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 23 April 2024 and
28 June 2024 and circular dated 11 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EXZRWE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as it is known by Director or the
chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the corporations
or individuals who had any interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO (“Register of Shareholders”)
were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

FERRRAEMALTREDTRE K
MERGHERR AR

RZZE-=F+=-_A=+—0  REXAQREEK
T BITRABATAGE @ RIEFH RS EAEXVED
FLRFEIDH2AEXAR AT TR - WELRRE
FH R EEIEOIE33615RTE BT E 2 B ([ BRE
TR R RAA R B RAB B AR (5 A {rE
HHAR ZEEREANFEBET

RAERXTRRDNER

Capacity and nature of interest

SO RERNE

Percentage of the

Interests of Number of Company'’s issued

Controlled ordinary share capital

Name Beneficial Owner Corporation Shares held (approximately)

(Note 1)

ZEHEE FREERE EARARE BT

=g BEREEA 2R RHEE BRAE 2 e (BE40)

(BtzED)

Satinu Resources Group Ltd. - 3,937,234,889 3,937,234,889 74.99%
("Satinu ") Note2

Satinu Resources Group Ltd.

([satinu )2

Songbird SG PTE. LTD. 3,937,234,889 - 3,937,234,889 74.99%

(“Songbird SG")
Songbird SG PTE. LTD.
([songbird SG )

Notes:

W

1. The percentage represented the number of shares held over the total
number of issued shares of the Company of 5,250,019,852 shares as
at 31 December 2023.

2. Satinu indirectly wholly owns Yellowbird Capital Management
(GP) Limited, which is the general partner of Yellowbird Special
Opportunities Fund, L.P. (“Yellowbird Fund”). Yellowbird Fund
indirectly wholly owns Songbird SG, which in turn owns 74.99% of
the issued shares in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there is no person (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) as at 31 December 2023,
had 5% or more interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the Register of
Shareholders.

1. BOER-ZE-=F+=-F=+—HERHEHE
{2 BB 31 TR% (0 4845,250,019,852 % 2 LI ©

2. Satinuf®# 2 & # A Yellowbird Capital Management
(GP) Limited - fYellowbird Capital Management (GP)
Limited & Yellowbird Special Opportunities Fund, L.P.
([ Yellowbird Fund ]) 2 & @& % A ° Yellowbird
Fundft$Z 2 & %4 Songbird SG * M Songbird SGI#EA
KRR BTN 274.99% R -

B EXBEEEN R-E-_=F+-A=+—
B BEAL(RARESHEZTHRAERIMNR
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Board recognises the employees are the most valuable asset
of the Group. The Group provides the staff with competitive
remuneration packages as well as a safe, harmonious and
discrimination-free working environment.

Details of which are set out in the section headed “Employees and
Remuneration Policies” in this annual report on page 17 and the
sections headed “B1. Employment” to “B4. Labour Standards”
under the ESG Report contained in this annual report on pages 31
to 48.

RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentages of the
Group’s turnover attributable to its largest customer and five
largest customers were approximately 37% and 57% respectively.
The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 99% of the
Group'’s total purchases and the amount of purchase attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier was approximately 93% of the
Group's total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, or their
respective associates, or Shareholders owning more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial interests in
any of the five largest customers or suppliers during the year ended
31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 49 to 68 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had significant impact on it.
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EXZRWE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve a
balance between the quality and efficiency of our services and
the minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions and environmental
degradation. Accordingly, the Group has taken a proactive
approach to effect internal and external communications by means
of telephone, emails and conferences or such other communication
means which are efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the
Group are able to minimise physical travelling and printing.

More details regarding the Company’s environmental policies,
practices and performance are set out in the section headed “A.
Environmental” under the ESG Report on pages 31 to 48 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report, there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW ON THE
FINAL RESULTS

The Company has established the Audit Committee with a specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is responsible for, among others, reviewing and
supervising the Group's financial reporting process, assisting the
Board to ensure effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and providing advice and comments to the
Board.

As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the
Audit Committee comprised all three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Dr. Gao Bin, Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and Ms. Song
Yanjie. Mr. Leung Ting Yuk is elected as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee together with the management and the external
auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee is satisfied that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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AUDITORS

Following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified
Public Accountants as the auditor of the Company on 29 June
2021, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) was appointed
as the auditor of the Company on the same day to fill in the
vacancy.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors
of the Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by Elite Partners, whose
term of office will retire at the close of the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM"). A resolution for the re-appointment of
Elite Partners as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Hongfang
Chairman

Hong Kong
12 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B AR EE

elite
< partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TAI UNITED HOLDINGS LIMITED
AMEZERBRAA

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tai
United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 87 to 210, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired
Guangzhou Rongzhi Public Facilities Investment Co., Ltd.
("Guangzhou Rongzhi”) and Jinzhou Jiachi Public Facilities
Management Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou Jiachi”) (collectively refer as the
“PRC Subsidiaries”) through the acquisition of their immediate
holding company, Sky Build Limited and Superb Power Enterprises
Limited (the “Acquisition”), respectively, from their shareholder (the
“Predecessor Shareholder”).
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, several legal claims
were filed against the PRC Subsidiaries due to the fact that the
PRC Subsidiaries pledged its investment properties and provided
financial guarantee (the “Securities”) to secure bank loans granted
to several companies related to the Predecessor Shareholder (the
"Borrowers”) together with other guarantors. The Borrowers
defaulted bank loan repayment together with the interest and
other charges. As at 31 December 2023, the principal and interests
of the defaulted bank loan by the Borrowers was amounted to
RMB7,269,900,000 (the “Overdue Amount”).

The Securities were allegedly originated prior to the Acquisition
and the board of directors at the date of the Acquisition has no
knowledge for the Securities. Therefore, no disclosure of pledge of
assets and provision of financial guarantee contracts was made as
of the Acquisition date.

Since the Securities were entered into prior to the Acquisition, the
existing board of directors of the Group are unable to ensure the
completeness of the information in relation to pledged assets and
financial guarantee contracts entered into.

In respect to the identified financial guarantee contracts resulted
from the legal claims filed during the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group recognised the financial guarantee contracts
amounted to HK$939,688,000 and HK$664,394,000 as at 31
December 2023 and 2022, respectively, represented an initial
recognition of HK$664,394,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 and further provision of HK$295,321,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023.

However, in respect to the legal claims, during the year ended 31
December 2023, the court issued a statement which stated that all
guarantors, included the PRC subsidiaries are liable for the Overdue
Amount but did not specifically indicate the portion to be borne
by the PRC Subsidiaries. The court also stated that the pledged
assets were seized by the court to settle the outstanding bank loan
with guarantee provided by other guarantors but the amounts to
be borne by the Group was not determined by the court. In the
opinion of the directors, no credibility information of the other
guarantor was available, therefore, the potential exposure in
relation to the pledged assets and financial guarantee for bank
loan which was now determined as default is not determinable.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

Based on the above, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain the completeness and
valuation of the Securities, in which the financial guarantee
contracts amounted to HK$939,688,000 as at 31 December 2023
and HK$295,321,000 expected credit loss on financial guarantee
contracts made during the year ended 31 December 2023 together
with the corresponding balance and profit or loss effect in prior
periods. Any adjustments to the opening balances as at 1 January
2022 that would be required might have consequential effects
on the Group’s liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and its financial
performance for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023
and the presentation and disclosure thereof in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
of HK$1,169,257,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023
and, as of that date, the Group’s has net current liabilities of
HK$3,138,744,000, including the overdue bank borrowing of
HK$1,479,499,000 which have not yet been successfully renewed,
extended nor repaid during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to date of this report and certain legal claims filed against the
Group related to certain pledge of assets and financial guarantees.
As stated in Note 3.1, these events or conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in Note 3.1, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

REERNER »#)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FREEITER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional BT FBERRBERMNEEXE - RAYAKH

judgments, were of most significance in our audit of the (AMERRNBAZASENEE - ELEEI

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These — FERMIBFHEBGAMERR M HEE ARETE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the  IBA) - AT SHELEHRHEEBNER - BT
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our  (REE R AEM K EBFELEERNERNTHETE
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on  —&iFTLEE 240 - HAIEHS F L EBE T ARA
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for & B RMNEEGETEE -

Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty Related to

Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described

below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our

report.

Key audit matter

MREITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMHE NAEERRETSR

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZ14E

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter due to the determination of the fair value
of these investment properties is dependent on certain
unobservable inputs and key assumptions that require
significant management judgments which are assessed
based on a method of valuation.
BPRREMEZHERBRENSZE  RRARETEZ
EREMELAENANERERERRBMEEN G2
BERAEZET ARG ABBE R EERF -

All the Group's investment properties are measured at fair
value based on valuations performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer. Details of the valuation
technique and key inputs used in the valuations are
set out in Notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BEEEMERAYEDREBE S ERBEMAERMEL 2
HERAAERE - HERMAZ AERI R EZH AR
B2 BRI R A M mAMEAR19 -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment
properties are carried at fair value of approximately
HK$2,275,479,000 as disclosed in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

E/\fgi_iﬂ— R=+—0  #AWEGEAEWEHRRMT
19PTIREE - BEEZIREMHETIIRE2,275,479,000/8 7T
Z’A/LME)\E%
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

B EMEGHEETZREFEE

o Obtaining an understanding of the key processes that
the management performed in relation to the valuation
assessment;

o  THEREMGENMEETIERF

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer and
obtaining an understanding of their scope of work;

o MEBUAARHEMEMEE  BEOREEME -1
TRETIEEE

e Assessing the valuation technique and reasonableness of
the significant inputs used by the management and the
valuer in the valuations; and

o FMAEERERERMEMNMEEMRA 2 AERN L ERE
ANBE 2 &M &

o Assessing the reasonableness of assumptions made by
the management and valuer on the properties valuations,
by taking into account of the conditions, location and
other individual factors.

e FIAERERMEMECESABEYE MR  HBRE
ERIEREHYEMEZRR2EEY -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard. Because of the possible effects of the
matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of
our report, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other
information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Ht&EH
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgements and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%mﬁ
Eo®)

s HESRARNELESTENNREEFELE
W o RIBFTERNETER  BEREFENR
ZHRABENBENERNTEE N - K ATES
HY BERENFEQLRENELETRERE -
WREMIRRFEERNTEEN - AIBEVRE
ZHENRE T IRBERETEEEVHERRT
HAERE T - REEROKRETR - RIRFIE
ERRFERBEER - HANEREENZE
Bk B L FTEVS M EHRRE « AT - RRE
ARG ATEEE ERETHFELE -

o  FIEBLRAUBRERMNEEYFHRA - BENNA
B REREE UREAUBREREETER
BT ZANEIE o

o 3 EREAERIEFLHNMBEERER
R BENETRE  UESREMHRER
RER -BMEE BEKEFANTR BB
METT - BRIFIRE B RAERNEE -

BREMERS - RPRERERE TR EIMNETE
CEETH  EXEFERSE - BRARMESET
o BRI H PO R O (E R KRR

BfEREREBRRER  HBPRMENAERE
VHEMBBERERER  WERMMBEBBEAIRES
B A RS X ERMBIL NG BRI ME
B UREERNERT « REREERRNTT
BRI SEE o

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH

85



86

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Chow Ka Li with practicing certificate
number PO7809.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Level 23, YF Life Tower

33 Lockhart Road

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

12 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

et AR

N\ 7
AR
mm

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T —_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
Notes —EBEC-=F —E- 4
HK$°000 HK$'000
g FET FAT
Revenue Wz 5
Contracts with customers BEFPEH 170,491 119,759
Leases HE 27,499 39,980
Net investment losses FIREEE 7 = (512)
Total R 197,990 159,227
Other income EAUgA 8 15,744 11,670
Impairment losses under expected TBHEEEEREIETRRE
credit loss model, net B8 - B8 9 (324,271) (680,233)
Other gains or losses E bl sk B8 10 (6,750) (54,233)
Purchases and changes in inventories GFEZHEBENRED (120,280) (88,211)
Employee benefits expenses EERAFAX (35.510) (38,664)
Other operating expenses Hib Q&R 11 (62,097) (58,368)
Changes in fair value of investment BEWMEAAEE
properties 19 (858,305) (679,152)
Finance costs AR AK AR 12 (173,130) (178,153)
Loss before tax MR Bl ETE (1,366,609) (1,606,117)
Income tax credit FriSti e 13 197,352 150,716
Loss for the year FEEEB 14 (1,169,257) (1,455,401)
Other comprehensive expense: Hih2mEAX
Item that may be reclassified HiZ gt EF D Z 18m 2 HA -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBEE BN ETE
translation of foreign operations (20,110) (35,221)
Other comprehensive expense for FEHEMEAERNY
the year (20,110) (35,221)
Total comprehensive expense FEXHMAXAHE
for the year (1,189,367) (1,490,622)
AAMERARAT — T - =F 4%
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freBm L EM e E W

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
Notes —E-=F —TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
g FHET FHTT
Loss for the year attributable to: LT ATEEFERE :
Owners of the Company KABEER A (1,167,985) (1,454,890)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R M A (1,272) (511)
(1,169,257) (1,455,401)
Total comprehensive expense UTATEEFEZHEMRERE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NETE ZEWN (1,188,016) (1,489,989)
Non-controlling interests EE g (1,351) (633)
(1,189,367) (1,490,622)
Loss per share SRER 17
— Basic (HK cents) — EARGBAL) (22.25) (27.71)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Are BRI ERE

At 31 December 2023 R=—ZE-_=F+-A=+—H

2023 2022
Notes —EBEC-=F —E- 4
HK$°000 HK$'000
g FET FAT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB REE 18 3,417 4,771
Investment properties EME 19 2,275,479 3,174,568
Intangible assets mEEE 20 46,194 49,995
Mining rights FRUERE 21 11,010 18,716
Right-of-use assets EREEE 23 1,888 5,965
Non-current deposits EmENIES 26 - 1,502
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 6,000 6,000
2,343,988 3,261,517
Current assets REEE
Inventories 7E 24 194 2,122
Accounts receivable FEUSER K 25 41,682 29,769
Other receivables, deposits and HAbEURIE « 128 RIER
prepayments KIA 26 23,661 94,268
Restricted bank deposits ZIR BRI TIER 27 28,011 -
Bank balances and cash RITEBKIRE 28 119,261 222,941
212,809 349,100
Current liabilities REEE
Accounts payable FERBRK 31 16,108 12,569
Accrued liabilities and other payables EEtBEREMERNFIA 29 618,634 478,432
Borrowings B8 30 1,673,546 1,741,486
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 1,532 4,378
Tax payables FERSHIIA 102,045 103,858
Financial guarantee contracts BIERE L 45 939,688 664,394
3,351,553 3,005,117
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (3.138,744) (2,656,017)
Total assets less current liabilities REERADER (794,756) 605,500
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Deferred tax liabilities FRERIA S (F 32 171,744 380,925
Lease liabilities HEaflE 33 299 2,007
172,043 382,932
Net (liabilities)/assets (Bf) EEFE (966,799) 222,568
AAMERARAT — T - =F 4%
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RN B OV

At 31 December 2023 R —ZE-=F+-A=+—H

2023 2022
Notes —EC=HF —E- 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
g FET FHTT
Capital and reserves IR
Share capital &N 34 262,501 262,501
Reserves G (1,229,490) (41,474)
Equity attributable to owners of the NAREE AEGER
Company (966,989) 221,027
Non-controlling interests eSSl 190 1,541
Total equity ERBE (966,799) 222,568

The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 210 were
approved and authorised for issue the board of directors on 12
June 2024 are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Wang Hongfang
ERBEE
DIRECTOR

EBEF
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Mr. Zheng Yuchun
BEZLE
DIRECTOR

EBEF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

liﬂA —"—#%‘é‘%
REEmE

P

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T —_=F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LGN
Other
Contributed capital Non-
Share surplus ~ Translation  Statutory contribution Accumulated controlling
capital reserve reserve  reserves reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
B4 Hif
Bx  BREE  EXBE  iERE  MERE  ZHEE M FERER i
HKS000  HKS000  HKFOOO  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000 - HKS000  HKSO00  HK§'000
TER TR TR Tin Tin TR Tin Thn TR
(Note () (Note (b)) (Note (c)
(et () (o)
At 1 January 2022 R-E-—F-f-H 262,501 2,334,076 130,701 71,786 342848 (14308%) 1,711,016 2174 1,713,190
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - (1454890)  (1.454890) (511 (1,455401)
Exchange differences arising on BEBNERER,
trandlation of foreign operations EREE - - (35,099) - - - (35,09) (122) (35,221)
Total comprehensive expense SAHTEE - - (35,099) - - (1454800)  (1,489,989) (633 (1,490622)
At 31 December 2022 NZEZETZAET-A 262,501 2334076 95,602 71,786 32848 (2,885,786) 21,027 1,541 222,568
At 31 December 2022 and R-E-Z#+-f=1-HR
1 January 2023 “5-TE-f-A 262501 2,334,076 95,602 11,186 342848 (2,885,786) m, 0 1541 222,568
Loss for the year EEEE = = = = - (1167,985)  (1,167,985) (1212)  (1.169,257)
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEHEEL
translation of foreign operations EizE = - (00 - - - (2003 (19 (0110
Total comprehensive expense AR AE = - (20031 = - (1.167.985)  (1,188,016) (1351)  (1,189,367)
At 31 December 2023 W-E-=F+-F=1-A 262501 2,334,076 15571 7178 342808 (4053771)  (966,989) 19 (96,799)
AFZERERAT T - =FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

,\/\

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z =% —

SRESEER

=F+-R=t+—RLHFE

Notes:

(a)

The contributed surplus reserve of the Group (i) arose as a result
of the Group reorganisation prior to its public listing on 2 October
1995 and represents the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the former holding company of the Group acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation, over the nominal value of
the shares of the Company issued in exchange therefore; (ii) it
also comprised the entire amount of share premium amounting
to approximately HK$4,926,818,000 transferred to contributed
surplus reserve on 30 October 2017; and (iii) it is net off by
the dividend amounted to approximately HK$1,050,004,000
distributed during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
a company may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus reserve, if there are
reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the company is, or
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (ii) the realisable value of the company’s assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts. Otherwise the
contributed surplus reserve is distributable.

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), each of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries shall transfer 10% of their net profit after tax, based
on the subsidiary’s PRC statutory accounts, as statutory reserves,
until the balance reaches 50% of the respective subsidiary’s
registered capital. Further appropriations can be made at the
directors’ discretion. The statutory reserves can be used to offset
any accumulated losses or convert into paid-up capital of the
respective subsidiary.

The other capital contribution reserve comprised the initial fair
value adjustment of approximately HK$7,312,000 on other
loan from a third party, which was under common control by a
former director of the Company who resigned on 5 December
2018 and the reserve as a result of the Group’s disposal of its
listed equity securities to Solis Capital Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the ultimate holding company of the Group, at a
cash consideration of approximately HK$2,359,817,000, where
the consideration received over the quoted price of the listed
equity securities at completion date amounted to approximately
HK$335,536,000 was recognised in other capital contribution
reserve in August 2018, while the related loss in fair value of
these listed equity securities as at the date of disposal was
recognised in profit or loss and included as changes in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T —_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=E —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Loss before tax FrEL B ES 1R (1,366,609) (1,606,117)
Adjustments for: KRAETYRIE -
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEESRE 2,523 2,659
Changes in fair value of investment properties ~ EWEZ AREEZH) 858,305 679,152
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - B &&E 2 ITE 1,968 1,507
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,805 5,546
Finance costs ISR AR 173,130 178,153
Interest income FLEHA (2,286) (2,215)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss TEREEEBEXIE THRE
model, net B1E - FER 324,271 680,233
Impairment loss on intangible assets mILEERERE - 41,460
Impairment loss on mining rights R R EE R 7,706 -
Operating cash flows before movements in LEES PP KERENE
working capital 2,813 (19,622)
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,928 1,974
Decrease in financial assets at FVTPL BAREFAEBRZEREERD = 9,098
Increase in accounts receivable JEU AR FIE AN (21,299) (239)
Decrease in other receivables, deposits and HAEUWGIE « B RIERARIER
prepayments 49,992 45,288
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FERTBRFRIE AN, (Rt 3,550 (16,229)
(Decrease)/increase in accrued liabilities and EEtEE R EMENE IE(/U% )/
other payables o (31,422) 19,402
Cash generated from operations REERE 5,562 39,672
Income tax paid EANFTEH (1,813) (10,309)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING  E& %5 BHEEHE
ACTIVITIES 3,749 29,363
AFERARAT — T _=FF5f
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
Notes —EBC-=F —E--
HK$°000 HK$'000
M5t T FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Acquisition of property, plant and WEEMZE - BB MR
equipment (638) (4,956)
Interest received B U B 2,286 2,215
Increase in restricted bank deposits 2R BIERTTF RGN (28,011) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETEBFTAZRESFE
ACTIVITIES (26,363) (2,741)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R EEE
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITEE (76,187) (23,290)
Interest paid EFE (15,082) (19,821)
Repayments of lease liabilities EHEEEEE (4,270) (5,616)
Proceeds from bank borrowings raised EERITEE ZFEHIE 40,539 2,634
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RETEMAZRSTE
ACTIVITIES (55,000) (46,093)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRERRESEBRLDFE
EQUIVALENTS (77,614) (19,471)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REDAZESRERESER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 222,941 255,354
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE IEEREBH 2TE
RATE CHANGES (26,066) (12,942)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZEESRERESER
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 119,261 222,941
REPRESENTED BY BN
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR LIRS 119,261 222,941
119,261 222,941
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BTSRRI 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T —_=F+_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tai United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Company’s immediate holding
company is Songbird SG PTE. Ltd., a company incorporated
in Singapore with limited liability and its ultimate holding
company is Satinu Resources Group Ltd., a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands (“BVI") with limited
liability. The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and the principal place of business of the Company
is Room 4202-03A, 42th Floor, China Resources Building, 26
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries (collectively
referred to “the Group”) are set out in note 43.

The consolidated financial statements presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

—RE#

ARIMNERER AR (AT )R EFETMA
NA—EEBRRERAR - EROHRE B
ERGMAERDF ([HRZF]) £ o AT
BEERE - ARFzEHBER AT ASongbird
SG PTE. Ltd. (— RTINS 2 BR A
7)) » 1M Songbird SG PTE. Ltd. 2 &I A
7] A Satinu Resources Group Ltd. (— R 2 &
BRAES(RBELRSE AMKI AR
ARA)) o AN R)Z FE M #EE BE AL Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda « AR Rz E &M RNERE
8882657 R E42184202-03AF -

ARBR/—AREZERAT - MARAMBR
A ANEE ) 2 TEREHN M3 -

FAaPBRERTIABT(EIT 2] BAR
A2 EE 5 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities Arising from
a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

(including the October
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) In accordance with the amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, accounting policy
information that is standardised information, or
information that only duplicates or summarises the
requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial
accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
so as not to obscure the material accounting policy
information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

(b) Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between

(c)

changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Group’s approach and policy align with the
amendments, the amendments had no impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
HKSAR

In June 2022, the HKSAR Government enacted the
Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the "Amendment Ordinance”) which will be
effective from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”).
Under the Amendment Ordinance, any accrued benefits
attributable to the employer’s mandatory contributions
under mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Benefits”) of an entity would no longer be eligible to
offset against its obligations on long service payment
(“LSP") for the portion of the LSP accrued on or after
the Transition Date. There is also a change in the
calculation basis of last monthly wages for the portion
of the LSP accrued before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b) (the “Practical
expedient”) to account for the offsetable MPF Benefits as
deemed employee contributions to reduce the current
service costs in the period in which the related services
were rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

(c) Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
HKSAR (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPFLSP offsetting
mechanism in HKSAR"” (the “Guidance”) which provides
clarified and detailed guidance on the accounting
considerations relating to the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism. The Guidance clarified that following the
enactment of the Amendment Ordinance, LSP is no
longer a “simple type of contributory plans” to which
the Practical expedient had been intended to apply.

By following the Guidance, the Group has therefore
changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply
the Practical expedient and reattribute the deemed
employee contributions on a straight line basis from
the date when services by employees first lead to their
benefits in terms of the LSP legislation in accordance
with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a). The cumulative effect
of recognising these adjustments as of 31 December
2022 or for the year ended was not material and hence
no adjustment was made to the beginning accumulated
losses, or another component of equity.

Except as described above, the application of other new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

P& R#TR] R ST BRI B R E
ZA([EBYBREER D)

RAFEEREER 2 EIETE B
B EZER (#)

() BERNERHRBZ:BEHZHZES
BEEE (F)

RZZB-_=F+AH  BEGAMAGRM
[EEFRBUERES - KRGS H I+
Wl gsRE I([4E5])) - HHRIUH
BRI R & a2 B AR MR R RIS
5l - #EEIBBIMERTIRPIRMIL - RHR
B T TBARERATERE AN HE

BRHSRETE ]

RIS AEBERESHEE - AT
BERATREDNE  YIREBEEESTE
AIZ£195% 593 » s ERHIRE 2D
mEBRBREEREE D AE - A
BRLEFRBGRIFREHRR -BE_F
CoFF A=t HRREEZALLF
B BRZEFABRNRFITELTEKN
WAL EBLEF ) R RRE MR A 1F
H AT R

B EXFratESN - MAFEEREMHR] R
ERRRMBRELENHARERAEE KB
EFENUBRARKRE,LZEFATB
BRABHEBELESAZE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Presentation of Financial Current or Non-current and
Statements related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements’

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to HKAS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

*

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given consideration to
the future liquidity of the Group in light of the Group
incurred a net loss of HK$1,169,257,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the
Group's has net current liabilities of HK$3,138,744,000
and net liabilities of HK$966,799,000 including the
overdue bank borrowings of HK$1,479,499,000 which
have not yet been successfully renewed, extended nor
repaid during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this report. There were certain pledge
of assets and financial guarantees provided by two
subsidiaries established in the PRC, namely Guangzhou
Rongzhi Public Facilities Investment Co., Ltd.* (/& M &
BAHZLEBR A F) (“Guangzhou Rongzhi”) and
Jinzhou Jiachi Public Facilities Management Co., Ltd.*
(ERM = H A HEEMEEIEABRAF]) (“Jinzhou Jiachi”) for
the bank borrowings of companies outside the Group
and the court judged that the Group are liable for that.
In addition, amounting to bank loan in relation to the
pledge of assets and financial guarantees mentioned
above with the principal amount of RMB7,269,900,000
up to the date of this report are defaulted. These
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore
it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge

The English name is for identification only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

its liabilities in the normal course of business. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis as the directors of the
Company are satisfied that the liquidity of the Group
can be maintained in the coming year taking into the
consideration of the following matters:

(1) In March 2021, the Group had entered into an
undertaking arrangement with Dai Yongge (“Mr.
Dai"), the ultimate controlling party of the Seller
of the subsidiaries acquired in 2021 that if the
Guangzhou bank loan has not been successfully
renewed subsequent to the completion of
the acquisition of Guangzhou Rongzhi and
being enforceable for repayment, Mr. Dai will
irrevocably fulfil his personal obligations under this
undertaking arrangement to repay all amounts
of the Guangzhou bank loan due with interest
accrued to the Bank of Jinzhou. In case of such
event happened, the Group has agreed to repay
Mr. Dai's settlement amount within 13 months
from his settlement date or when financing on
Guangzhou Rongzhi is available to the Group for
repayment, whenever earlier.

(2) The Group may seek other financing resources to
meet its liabilities and obligation as and when they
are fall due.

(3) The Group may consider to take action against
the Seller of the subsidiaries acquired in 2021 for
claims for breach of warranty.

(4) The Group may dispose the company assets for
the repayment of loan.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the
cash flow projections of the Group prepared by the
management covering a period of not less than 12
months from 31 December 2023. Taking into account
of the internally available funds, non-current assets held
by the Group, the undertaking arrangement obtained
from Mr. Dai and the potential disposal of assets, the
directors of the Company are confident that the Group
will be able to meet its financial obligations when
they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis. The Group's ability
to continue as a going concern still depends on the
successfulness of the measures mention above. Should
the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group's
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets as current assets and non-current
liabilities as current liabilities. The effects of these
potential adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured
at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time

when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

3.

FEMEBRRZEREEREKR
SEHEE#)

3.2 EXERBER @)

BEF&X W

AEEHN (%) AR TR (RIS
FRAVR L AERR 2 PR SRR 2 H 4 L9
AT EFH ) WR -

BHBEEEE R m IR (S —EE
A S AR TS ) 3 — R 51 K ERAE R #O 18 1) 78
KRS ©

AT & AT E P —IBIRAE - ANEHIERER
BEE - MRE2RE2ETHERED
BEMERIERMBER ERER

. RAKEBEOH  BPRABRAL
R AR BB OFTR RIS

o AEEMBEHNELSREN-EE
B MZBEEENANEEREORH
BEEEH X

o AEENBHARELRAEEE
BREgEMEE  BAKEHES
BB XM ERE G AR BT
HRER -

B WaENE P RS ERIE R ARSE
1) 4 ) PR P R BERRS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes in relation to employees of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), and United Kingdom (“UK") and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in relation to
employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Long service payment

The estimated amount of future benefit in respect
of LSP obligation is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from relevant employees.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at
the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary difference.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its asset and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. When current tax or
deferred tax arises from initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be used by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
is included in profit or loss in the period. Transfers from
investment properties are made when, and only when,
there is a change in use for a transfer from investment
property carried at fair value to inventories, the
property’s deemed cost shall be its fair value at the date
of change in use.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately and in business
combination with finite useful lives are carried at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Mining rights

Mining rights that are acquired separately are carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and
are subject to amortisation upon commissioning of the
mine for production. Amortisation of mining rights is
recognised using the unit-of-production method based
on the actual production volume over the estimated
total recoverable reserves contained in proven and
probable reserves at the related mine.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful life and mining rights to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining rights and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for accounts receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR SRR M aE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

0]

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gains or losses of listed equity
securities and their related dividends or interests
are included in the “net investment losses” as set
out in Note 7 and the remaining gains or losses of
other financial assets at FVTPL are included in the
"other gains and losses” as set out in note 10.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including accounts receivable, other receivables and
deposits and bank balances) and financial guarantee
contracts which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U]

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of
"investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
accounts receivable using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for accounts receivable are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past
due information and relevant credit information
such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. certain
of the Group’s accounts receivable are each
assessed as a separate group. Accounts
receivable with significant outstanding
balances are assessed for ECL on an
individual basis);

. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of accounts
receivable and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including other payables and

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past event but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Contingent liabilities (Continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experiences
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from these
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties in the PRC

The Group recognises deferred tax in respect of the changes
in fair value of the investment properties located in the
PRC based on directors’ best estimate assuming future tax
consequences through the usage of such properties for rental
purpose, rather than through sale. The final tax outcome
could be different from the deferred tax liabilities recognised
in the Historical Financial Information should the investment
properties are subsequently disposed of by the Group, rather
than consumed substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties by leasing over time.
In the event the investment properties are being disposed
of, the Group may be liable to higher tax upon disposal
considering the impact of land appreciation tax.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer. The determination of the fair value involves certain
assumptions of market conditions which are set out in note
19.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Whilst the Group considers valuation of
the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates.
Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of
any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes
or other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount
of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The directors of the Company have performed internal
assessment on the risks of change in macroeconomic
environment through performing sensitivity analysis in
relation to the Group’s investment properties.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group'’s

investment properties is approximately HK$2,275,479,000
(2022: HK$3,174,568,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable and other
receivables

Accounts receivable and other receivables are assessed for
ECL individually and collectively.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on accounts receivable which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL are disclosed in note 38(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE 5 W&
(i) Disaggregation of revenue for () BEFE&HNWEMED
contracts with customers
2023 2022
—E-=F g
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Types of goods and services EmRkR#gER
— Sales of commodity and medical —HEN MR BERE
equipment 28,482 9,864
— Sales of flooring materials — SHE AR 105,603 83,383
— Revenue from properties management —REMEETE LB
and related services AR & &9 Yz 36,406 26,512
170,491 119,759
Geographical markets wEMS
— The PRC — 64,888 35,865
— Hong Kong — &8 1,194 19,456
— Singapore —¥hnd - 33,351
— United States of America (“USA") —EFEBERE([ERE]) 103,141 30,576
— The United Kingdom (“the UK") — B ([2RE ) - 511
— Australia — M 1,017 -
— Belgium — L FES 251 -
170,491 119,759
Timing of revenue recognition Y 25 T R B 1
— Over time — BERFfE 36,406 26,512
— At a point in time — AR, 134,085 93,247
170,491 119,759
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue for

5 W=
(i) EFEHWEMD &)

contracts with customers (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from HE-_Z_=Fk-_ZFT-_=-_F+=A
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed Z+t—HLEFE  UTHNFEFAE LN
in the segment information for the years ended 31 HAMER T RS

December 2023 and 2022:

Segment revenue

2 E
2023 2022
—E_=F . S
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers ZEFE&SHWE
— Commodity and medical —AmikEEREES
equipment trading 28,482 9,864
— Flooring materials trading —HARMELE 5 105,603 83,383
— Properties investment —YERE 36,406 26,512
170,491 119,759
Leases HE 27,499 39,980
Total revenue Pty 197,990 159,739

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Sales of commodity and medical equipment

The Group sells commodity and medical equipment
to consumers, distributors and non-distributors
comprising hospitals in the PRC. Contracts with the
Group's customers are mainly short term and fixed
price contracts. The revenue is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been shipped to the customers’ specific location
(delivery) on which the customers obtain control of
the goods. Following delivery, the customers has full
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence
and loss in relation to the goods.

Sales of flooring materials

The Group sells flooring materials to customers are
mainly short term and fixed price contracts. The
revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the customers’ specific location (delivery) on which
the customers obtain control of the goods. Following
delivery, the customers has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Revenue from properties management and related

services

The Group recognises the revenue from property
management services and the related services in the
amount that equals to the right to invoice which
corresponds directly with the value to the customer of
the Group’s performance to date on a monthly basis.
They are rendered in short period of time and there is
no unsatisfied performance obligations.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The Group has no remaining (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) performance obligations as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

5 W&

(i) EEFANZBHNET®)

KEYEEERGERE 89K 2

AEE G AMSERREMEEE RS R
RERE Y - HeBAERAAER
EVRER > HEAKRELZSBIEMEHIRR
HEPHMEEERYE - AHRBNEY
MRt - WERBITWEOEE -

(i) 7B FEFENNBRTENE

ENRZERE

RIE—=FR T~

FH=A=+—

B AEBEHMERTEHBECRERSK

(iv) Leases (iv) HE
2023 2022
—E-=4F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Revenue arising from operating leases: & HEEEE IS :

Lease payments that are fixed BT HERR 27,499 39,929

Variable lease payment that do not depend I JFEUR A HE & sk F| & 1Y
on an index or a rate AT ERR = 51
27,499 39,980
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, being the Chief Operating Decision Maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or rendered.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Properties investment segment — properties investment,
development of shopping mall, leasing of properties,
and property management;

Commodity and medical equipment trading segment;
Flooring materials trading segment;

Mining and exploitation of natural resources segment —
mining and production of tungsten resources activities
in the Republic of Mongolia (“Mongolia”); and

Financial services and assets management segment by
aggregating different operating segments including
trading equity securities and derivatives and managing
of assets arising from acquisition of distressed debts
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. THEPER#)
Segment revenue and results D EBU R I B AR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and NN RS E R 2HHEHE D 2 R EBW
results by operating and reportable segments. RZEFEZ DT o
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-—E-_=—F+-F=+—HILEFE
Commodity
and Mining and Financial
medical Flooring  exploitation services
Properties  equipment materials of natural  and assets
investment trading trading resources management Total
Bk HhRaE FEREE  SRBER
NERE BRREES g5 RAER EEEE )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T TiExT TET
Segment revenue pan il G 63,905 28,482 105,603 - - 197,990
Segment netinvestment 2 EFREFE
losses - = = = = =
Total a3t 63,905 28482 105603 - - 197,99
Segment results PHEE (1:312,876) (4.732) (7,936) (8:469) (3411)  (1,337,424)
Net foreign exchange gain B 5 e F 956
Unallocated interest income R BEFI SIRA 2,286
Unallocated finance costs RAEEBRA (74)
Central administration costs ~~ RRITHFEY (32,353)
Loss before tax BRRAIEE (1,366,609)

AMZRERRE — T —_=FF3f
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Commodity
and
medical
Properties equipment
investment trading
EE

NERE BREIHEES
HK$'000 HK$'000

DEE R )
DEMEREE )

BE-S-_—F1ZA=1—HULFE

Mining and Financial

Flooring  exploitation services

materials of natural and assets
trading resources  management Total

iR RERER  SRBRBR
2% RAER BEER st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
Segment revenue DEE 66,492 9,864 83,383 - - 159,739
Segment net investment PRFREFE
losses - - - - (512) (512)
Total Fohy 66,492 9,864 83,383 - (512) 159,227
Segment results DS (1,558,678) 252 (4,890) (731) (3.487) (1,567,534
Net foreign exchange losses B SEFE (12,773)
Unallocated interest income FRAFEHA 2,187
Unallocated finance costs FOBEERA (185)
Central administration costs RRITHAY (27,812)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (1,606,117)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group's accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment result represents the profit earned or loss
incurred before tax by each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ emoluments,
legal and professional fees and other operating expenses,
net foreign exchange losses, unallocated interest income,
and unallocated finance costs. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER )
Segment assets and liabilities ITHEERAERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and REBREERAIZWMOFE D 2 EEREE
liabilities by operating and reportable segments: AT
2023 2022
—EC=E —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Segment assets DEEE
Properties investment WERE 2,378,077 3,266,801
Commodity and medical equipment trading BEm&EBEREES 7,236 13,144
Flooring materials trading HIRMEHE 5 54,611 77,785
Mining and exploitation of natural resources %8 & B 22 KR E R 11,091 18,837
Financial services and assets management CRREREEEIR 89,020 213,420
Total segment assets HEEEBTE 2,540,035 3,589,987
Unallocated right-of-use assets ROMERAEEE 1,066 4,269
Unallocated property, plant and equipment KO E % - BE KEE 2,443 3,975
Unallocated intangible assets ROMEREE 4,155 4,155
Other unallocated corporate assets HEMARDEEAREE 9,098 8,231
Consolidated assets LEBE 2,556,797 3,610,617
Segment liabilities DEEE
Properties investment MERE 3,425,009 3,287,436
Commodity and medical equipment trading & R EEREL 5 6,345 6,951
Flooring materials trading HARMEHE 5 16,108 12,569
Mining and exploitation of natural resources %5 & B2 KR E R 523 523
Financial services and assets management TR REEER 687 1,894
Total segment liabilities DEPEELREE 3,448,672 3,309,373
Unallocated lease liabilities KOMHEERE 971 4,570
Unallocated tax payables ROBERNTIIE 62,621 63,687
Other unallocated corporate liabilities HittRHARIEE 11,332 10,419
Consolidated liabilities REBE 3,523,596 3,388,049
AMERERAT — T~ =—F4R 139
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than unallocated right-of-use assets,
unallocated financial assets at FVTPL, unallocated
property, plant and equipment, unallocated intangible
assets and other unallocated corporate assets (including
primarily unallocated bank balances and cash).

o all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than unallocated lease liabilities,
unallocated tax payables and other unallocated
corporate liabilities.

Geographical information

The Group operates in four principal geographical areas — the
PRC, Hong Kong, the UK and Mongolia.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the relevant
operations of external customers and information about
Group’s non-current assets is presented based on physical
location of assets.

DEER 2
PHEEREE®)
REESBEBRAN DS RERME -

o BARDEEMREE AoERANER
ANBHZEREE  ROEWE - BB R
&l RAROEEEVEEREMARDE AR
BE(XZERRDERTEBLIRS)
S MBEEANDRERERATZ2HD

B

o BASEMERE  AOEENHENRE
RDBERRIBEI - AEREANEE
RERATZHOED ©

HEER

AEBRMNEE2MmE—FE B8 ZERE
SEETEE

BREIMEEPHEREENH 2 EHASKE
KEIMPEPREME R RRIREER B
2INERAKEIRDEENEH

Revenue from Non-current assets
external customers (Note)
REIIBEF B IEREBEE (FiaE)
Year ended 31 December At 31 December
BE+t-A=t—HLEE R+=—A=+-—8
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EBo=HFE T ZEBI=HF —T-_-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET THERT BT
The PRC i 88,967 65,698 1,782,231 2,646,561
Singapore FT N3 - 33,351 - =
USA FEE 103,141 30,576 - 2
Hong Kong &8 1,194 19,456 13,985 18,825
The UK A 3,420 10,658 536,762 575,885
Mongolia ) - - 11,010 18,744
Australia SEL 1,017 L = 2
Belgium B lliSs 251 E - .
197,990 159,739 2,343,988 3,260,015
Note: Non-current assets excluded non-current deposits. MizE : SERBEETBEIFAEIRS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. ZHER@
Information about major customers FERFZEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years ERAEEBKZ10% A LNRAEFEREPI
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group as HEBIT -
follows:
2023 2022
—EC=F .
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Customer A EPA 75,467" 33,351
Customer B %PB 27,675" 19,456'
Customer C EPC - 18,405’
1 Revenue from flooring materials trading segment. ! REHIRM BB 55 2B
No other customers contribute revenue over 10% of the total REE-_Z-_=—FN_F-_—"F+-A=+—
revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2023 AIEFE - BimEaR P RARE BB E
and 2022. #10% °
7. NET INVESTMENT LOSSES 7. BREER
2023 2022
—EC-=8 T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Changes in fair value of financial assets at ~ ZA{ET ABS 2 CRUEE
FVTPL DREEH = (512)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

8. OTHER INCOME Hg A
2023 2022
—E=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Interest income from: REATEEZF BN :

— bank —R1T 1,094 2,061
— loan receivables —EWE R 1,192 154
Government grants (note a) BT #E AL (ff5Ea) = 376
Sundry income (note b) A (P =ED) 13,458 9,079
15,744 11,670

Notes: BiaE -
(a) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group (a) HE-_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—HItFE &K

recognised government grants of HK$Nil (2022:
HK$376,000) in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies of
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
Government.

(b) Sundries income mainly represents the utility fee received
from tenant.

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

(b)

CERBBRTREZRME S TR
201973 A% TR AR B f BN R BUR R BE 208
TT(ZZF =% : 376,000/87T) °

MBAWATEEAEPKEEIKES -

RHEEERENE T RBERS

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET B EE
2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment  FA TS BEHER 2 CRERE),
losses recognised on: BEEERD
— accounts receivable — FEUBR SR (9,386) 3,877
— other receivables — HAth U GRIE (19,564) (564)
— financial guarantee contracts —BIBERELN (295,321) (683,546)
(324,271) (680,233)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 38(b).

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fR e ISR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE
10. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 10. = & E
2023 2022
—EC-=F B —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Net foreign exchange gain/(losses) [ Uzs, (518 ) 558 956 (12,773)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BIVEEREBE = (41,460)
Impairment loss on mining rights R R EEE (7,706) -
(6,750) (54,233)
e
11. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 1. HAEERxX
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEMAT 26,283 29,535
Administrative expenses IR
— Depreciation & 5,773 7,053
— Legal and professional fee —EEREXER 12,847 9,533
— Registration, license fee and other office — - BRI BEREMRAE
expenses = :3! 5,726 2,904
— Short-term leases and property —EHHERYEERE
management fees 7,454 5,777
— Repairs and maintenance —EMRE 1,988 1,966
— Other taxes —HEMBiE 2,026 1,600
62,097 58,368
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. AR A
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT

Interest expenses on:
— bank borrowings
— lease liabilities

THBENFEFAX :

—iRITEE 172,974 177,868
—HEaRE 156 285
173,130 178,153

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT

13. FigHER

2023 2022
—EC-=F B —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current tax: WITHIA -

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") R S PTISHL ([ R EEFTSH ) (988) 5,115

Withholding Tax on dividend declared by LT B A R B RAR E R TE AR
PRC subsidiaries 1,737 -
Deferred tax (note 32) IRIEFRTA (M5E32) (198,101) (155,831)
(197,352) (150,716)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. No provision
for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group's
income neither arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% or at a lower concessionary rate
of 9% for subsidiaries operating in the Tibet Autonomous
Region for both years.
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i) & 2,000,000 7T i A 15 42 8.25 % H 15 K &4
i - i 8 482,000,000 7 7T #) A 7 2 16.5%
R EERR - THEMNEHMATERNEE
B AR5 M IS AL B IR 16.5% B AT — B R BN
Ig o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Subsidiaries incorporated in Mongolia are subject to
Mongolian income tax which is calculated at the rate of
10% on the first 3 billion Mongolian Turgrik of estimated
taxable income and 25% on the amount in excess thereof.
No provision for Mongolian income tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as there were no assessable
profits for both years.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

13. BRI RE @)

%Efﬂﬁﬁimﬁﬁ% AIAMMNE L E

5 SR ERHE R A S
3@%@mpm%ﬁﬁ%i%ﬁm%mﬁ$ﬁ
H o BHEMDER25% B EE - ARMES
EIEEEERFLEN - AW RRLERE T
HEARSE SRR L BE -

Y/

REEERERRGABREREMEEKS
RZBHRIEEEROT

E

2023 2022
—E-=HF B —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss before tax BTt Al B 18 (1,366,609) (1,606,117)
Tax calculated at the domestic income tax EAMEBERGTE ZBIA
rates (341,471) (396,167)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A 1T 2 iS5/ &
purpose 126,360 207,053
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERRIRA Z TRIG &
purpose (142) (589)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REERTIEEIE 7 g & 14,238 48,532
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERARE S EZR BT E
difference not recognised 1,926 -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AL AIRTER 2 BB R 1B
recognised - (3,365)
Utilisation of deductible temporary R EAIRER TR E R ER
differences previously not recognised - (6,180)
Withholding tax paid BEARTER 1,737
Income tax credit for the year REZMEHER (197,352) (150,716)

AMERARAT —T - =F4R
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e ISR T
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE
14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. XFEFHR
2023 2022
—EC-=F B —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Loss for the year has been arrived at after REFEBIENRGTA) TSI
charging/(crediting): RIBIBER -
Directors’ emoluments (note 15) EE5M 2 (FI5E15) 7,376 9,843
Other staff costs: HAb B TR :
— Salaries, allowances and benefits — %% EBKER 24,075 24,971
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions ~ — 3 RKEF|FTEIH R 4,059 3,850
Total staff costs RN ®INEE 35,510 38,664
Auditor's remuneration 1ZE RN & 3,000 2,890
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense B ERAFR Y 2 FE/HKA 120,280 88,211
Impairment loss on mining rights PRI R (E 518 7,706 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEREBE = 41,460
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEH 2,523 2,659
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREEZITE
equipment 1,968 1,507
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZINE 3,805 5,546
Total amortisation and depreciation S NGk 8,296 9,712
Gross rental income from investment KREMEMGHS WAL
properties (27,499) (39,980)
Less: direct operating expenses arising from & @ EEBRSWAZ I EWERE
investment properties that generated ECEEEERY
rental income 25,169 23,668
(2,330) (16,312)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE
15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND 15. 5 FETHAEREEMNS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) EEREETHAEME

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments

TRESINFE R RBEARE RS
WAAREEETER

The following table sets forth certain information in
respect of the directors of the Company during the
reporting periods and as of the date of this report:

Date of appointment as

Date of resignation/

Name Position the directors of the Company  retirement
®A =40} BZIALARAEERS BMI/BIRAH
Mr. Wang Hongfang Chairman, Chief executive officer 7 January 2021 N/A

and Executive director
FEMEAE IR THEHFRRTES T —F-AtH TEA
Mr. Zheng Yuchun Executive president and 20 May 2021 N/A

Executive director
HEERE HITRERRNTESE “Z--FRAR=-TH T
Mr. Xiao Yigun Non-executive director 20 May 2021 27 June 2023
Hmpri it FHITEE —Z--Ff8A=1+AH S AV e e =
Dr. Gao Bin Independent non-executive 20 November 2015 N/A

director
RERL BFRITES e K Y iy = T
Ms. Liu Yan Independent non-executive director 18 June 2015 4 August 2023
Lt BUFRITES “Z-RFXATNAR —ZE-=F)\AWA
Mr. Tang King Shing Independent non-executive director 1 February 2017 15 July 2023
B EAE BUEHTES “T—t¥-R—H ZZZ=FtA+AA
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk Independent non-executive director 15 July 2023 N/A
ZEFRAE BUENTES “ZZ=FtATAA TEf
Ms. Song Yanjie Independent non-executive director 18 August 2023 N/A
RERTT BUERTES “ZZ=FNATNA TER

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules

and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

15. B - FETHAEREEME

(%)

(a) EERFETHAEME 2

FENEERIBTHRAE ZMEREE
A LETRAIRERRRHERIRENT

Year ended 31 December 2023 P —E_=Ff{-_H=+—HIFE
Mr. Wang Mr. Zheng
Hongfang Yuchun Total
FEMEE MEEEE #zE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
Fees we - - -
Other emoluments e
Salaries, allowances and e RUREYH =
benefits in kind 3,900 1,950 5,850
Bonus TEAT = — =
Retirement benefit scheme RIRREFIRT B
contributions 18 18 36
Subtotal /N 3,918 1,968 5,886
Mr. Xiao
Yiqun
HEFELE
HK$°000
FERT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHTES
Fees e 600
Other emoluments Hib i -
Subtotal a3y 600
Ms. Song  Mr. Leung Dr. Gao Ms. Liu  Mr. Tang
Yanjie  Ting Yuk Bin Yan King Shing Total
REREZT REBRE BEALT HMuE BEREE okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER THERT THRT TR THET
INDEPENDENT NON- BYFHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees we 111 139 300 178 162 890
Other emoluments Hini ¢ - - - - - -
Subtotal S 1M1 139 300 178 162 890
Total ko) 7,376
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’

emoluments (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

15. B - FETHAEREEME

(%)

(a) EERFETHAEME 2

BE_F_—_Ff_HA=+—HIFE

Mr. Kwong
Mr.Wang ~ Mr. Zheng Kai Sing Mr. Chen
Hongfang Yuchun Benny Weisong Total
TRMEE  BRERE  BRKEE RENEE fak
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THET TR TET
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
Fees e - - - - -
Other emoluments HivBie
Salaries, allowances e ZUMREDNZ
and benefits in kind 3,900 1,740 310 1,744 7,694
Bonus bl - - - - -
Retirement benefit scheme RIKBFIFT B
contributions 18 18 2 1" 49
Subtotal Nat 3,918 1,758 312 1,755 7,743
Mr. Xiao
Yiqun
B At A
HK$'000
T
NON-EXECUTIVE FHITES
DIRECTOR
Fees we 1,200
Other emoluments HAb < -
Subtotal NET 1,200
Dr. Gao Ms. Liu Mr. Tang
Bin Yan King Shing Total
=AET 2hirt BRERLE k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FHT FHT
INDEPENDENT NON- BIYFHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees we 300 300 300 900
Other emoluments Hiie - - - -
Subtotal a3y 300 300 300 900
Total g 9,843

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as the directors of the
Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office during both years.

The discretionary bonus is determined having regard
to the performance of the relevant director and the
operating results of the Group as a whole in respect of
each financial year.

There was no arrangement under which a director

or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.
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e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND 15. 2 - FETHAERESMHNE

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) (#&)

(b) Five highest paid employees’ (b) EEBREHMEEE
emoluments
The five highest paid employees of the Group during RERN - AEEREZ=HMIES B1EM
the year included two directors (2022: four directors), ZER(ZE-_F - OEES) - Hile
details of whose remuneration are set out in the FIBENEXER - FABRT=R(=ZF
disclosures above. Details of the remuneration for the ZoF —A)EReyEE (WIEARAF
year of the remaining three (2022: one) highest paid ERRFETHRAR) ZMEFFBNT :

employees who are neither director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries, allowance and other benefits ~ #& - 2B K M EF| 4,030 1,350
Retirement benefit scheme RN FIFTEI R
contributions 53 18
4,083 1,368
The number of the highest paid employee who are WIARRREEFHEZITHAE BREN
neither directors nor chief executive of the Company FRIEEzEEHMNESEHENAT
whose remuneration fell within the following bands
follows:
No. of employees
EEHBE
2023 2022
—EB-=f = —
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 752 1,000,000 70 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 L2 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7C 22,000,000/ 7T 1 -
3 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

16. DIVIDENDS 16. RE
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend EERUAEEREE T -_=F+= A
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil). =T —REFEINEARE(ZE=Z
;) o
17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the RATIEE AEENEREREETIRE TS
owners of the Company is based on the following data: HERETHE
2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Loss BB
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AR EESREREEH AR A
the Company for the purpose of basic HE AEEFABE
loss per share (1,167,985) (1,454,890)
2023 2022
—EC-=F B —
‘000 ‘000
T T
Number of shares RGHEHAR
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose AR ETE B E A E B A T BT ER
of calculation of basic loss per share 5,250,020 5,250,020
No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as ERREFERNTEDBITEELT B - 8UE
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue during both 25| B FE R TR EEE -
years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y13 - BERRE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor

improvements equipment Machinery vehicles Total
B
BRZER

BERE  BOERE B& AE @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TEx TR

CosT A

At 1 January 2022 R-E--%-F-H 1,544 10,495 1,797 15,008 28,844
Additions RE 3,874 1,082 - - 4,956
Exchange realignment B AR (1) 218 (13) (53) 141

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R=E==F+-A=+-0k

ZE-CE-A-H 5,407 11,795 1,784 14,955 33,941
Additions RE 98 536 4 - 638
Exchange realignment ERAE (3) (144) (4) (18) (169)
At 31 December 2023 RIBZZEFA=+-A 5,502 12,187 1,784 14,937 34,410
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Zﬂﬁé
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F-f-H 1,340 9,665 1,709 14,728 27,442
Provided for the year EnEE 946 409 59 93 1,507
Exchange realignment B AR (1) 276 7 (37) m

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-F-F+-A=+-BR-F-ZF

-fA-8 2,275 10,350 1,761 14,784 29,170
Provided for the year EREE 1,431 441 4 92 1,968
Exchange realignment EiE (3) (123) (5) (14) (145)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZZF+ZA=1-A 3,703 10,668 1,760 14,862 30,993
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=F+-f=1-H 1,799 1,519 2 75 3,417
At 31 December 2022 RZZ--F+-A=1-A 3,132 1,445 bE| 17 4mM
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wh |3

18.

19.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated, after taking into account of their estimated
residual values, on a straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Qver the shorter of lease term
or 5 years
20% t0 33.3%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and office

18.

M - BERRZRE=

L - BB REREREFTAREZ AR R
EBERABRERATEREFE

HEXE HHRSF (ARG E
)

20%%33.3%

equipment 1#
Machinery 20% t0 33.3% s 20%%£33.3%
Motor vehicles 20% t0 33.3% bt 20%%33.3%
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REW*
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the REBEE-_T - =FR T _F+-A=+—

Group leases out residential property units and shopping
malls under operating leases with rentals payable weekly/
monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
week to 5 years (2022: 1 week to 5 years) and no unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by the
Group and lessees.

Certain leases of shopping malls units contain variable lease
payment that are based on 10% to 50% of turnover of the
lessee (2022: 10% to 50%) over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash
inflow for leases is approximately HK$27,499,000 (2022:
HK$39,980,000).

BLEEER  AfREREEEHEHBREEY
XEURBEYES  HekEE/ SAXN -
HEMVTZHERBTESMUBESF (T
F:URESH) REBTHENFEELER
EREERABRARFANVIZHR AN -

ETEYPOHEERSRARAAREHRNE
HEE10%E50% (ZFE - _F : 10%E50%)
SHTEMT RSN -

mMRAEEESNEEERE AN EEE
B BAKETERBEERHEMAZINEE
(% - BEANTRERBREEERK HEME
/\Efﬁfﬁﬂﬂiﬁ%i‘éﬁ%@%m EEME -

REBEE-ZT-_=F+ZRA=+—HIEFE
HERSRALTEA427,499,0008 L (=&
Z 4 39,980,000/ 7T) °

HK$'000
FHT
FAIR VALUE DNRE

At 1 January 2022 RN-ZE—_—%—H—H 4,160,477
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss REZPERZ ANBEEZE (679,152)
Exchange realignment IS (306,757)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—A8K
—E-=%—AF—H 3,174,568
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIERPER R ERE (858,305)
Exchange realignment bE AR (40,784)
At 31 December 2023 =" H =1 —F 2,275,479
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REWHE #)

2023 2022
—E-=HF B —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Unrealised losses on investment properties 5T AIBzm A2 I E W% 2 REFH
included in profit or loss Jgi=] (858,305) (679,152)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
December 2023 has been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out by Messrs International Valuation Limited (2022:
Messrs International Valuation Limited), an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group
for properties located in the UK and on the basis of valuations
carried out by Messrs Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited
(2022: Messrs Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited), an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group for properties located in the PRC.

In determining the fair value of the investment properties, the
Group engages the independent qualified professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with them to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model and explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the investment properties to
the directors of the Company.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
In estimating the fair values of the investment properties
for disclosure purpose, the highest and the best use of the
investment properties is their current use. The fair values of
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

AEBURNERZRENER T _=F+—
A=+—BZARMET i E AN B 45 R
BYABERBEXMAEMBERFGHARIF(Z
To_F  BRFEHEBERAR)REEELEE
E - MR F Bz YE 2 AE)yhEAREE
BRI 2 B A EREXMEREHEERF
HERARN(ZEZZF « EHEETIHER
REDRHEEREETE -

REEREMEZANEMNS  AREZREE
VEBREXRMGEMETHE AREEEE
BREETAE AT Z R 2 BRMER
M REARE - WAARREEERIKENE
RAEREZER

REEZTZ=FR =T __F+ZA=1—
BIEFERN  FTAGERITEZS - WG
ERBERBR 2 REMENER  REDMEZ
SRkEERRAERBRE - BEWENR
AEDEAE  MERTEMSEEEAERA
AR EERTE -

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

19. REWHE #)

TERBJNAFREMERANEZEETAZE
B OCERMAERMEAREARE) -

Significant Relationship of unobservable
Investment properties Valuation technique unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value
REME fE{E R EARUBEBARE TUBEBABBREAABNBE
Residential property units ~ Market comparable Market unit rate, taking into A significant increase in the market
located in the UK approach account the recent transaction unit rate used after adjusting
2023: HK$536,709,000 prices for similar properties location and conditions of
(2022: HK$575,840,000) adjusted for nature, location and  the property would result in a
conditions of the property, which  significant increase in fair value,
ranged from Great British Pound and vice versa.
("GBP") 1,489 to GBP2,529
(2022: GBP1,897 to GBP2,097)
per square foot.
UREBEZEEMEEL  HHHEE R RBUMENRHRZER  REYENLERERETRER

—ZT =% : 536,709,000
BT
(ZE=—

575,840,000/ 7T)

Shopping Mall in the PRC
2023: HK$1,738,770,000
(2022: HK$2,598,728,000)

Income capitalisation
approach

AP ELZ B
—Eo=F:
1,738,770,0007% 70

WAERLE

(Z2==

2,598,728,0005 7T

156 Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

BEDEE  (LERIBRET
AE)E  THEENRETEH
IR1,489% 85 ([ 5% |)&2,529
HEE(ZE-—F - 1,897HER
2,09734E) o

Capitalisation rate, taking into
account the capitalisation of
rental, income potential, nature
of property, and prevailing
market condition, ranging from

4.25% t0 4.75% (2022: 4.0% to

4.5%) as at 31 December 2023
respectively.

Monthly market rent, which
ranged from RMB45 per sg.m
to RMB130 per sg.m (2022:
RMB50 per sq.m to RMB200
per sq.m) taking into account
the differences in location,
and individual factor, such as
frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property.
B RMEERE - WAEN -9
ENMEREATRE - EXME
e =sH =
NTF425%%E4.75%(ZF==
F 1 40%%45%) °

KRB B MERMENE
RAERIE & (e HmRE R RE)
FEMEEENEATEAS
ENFEEFRARKLSTES
FHKAREI30T(ZE-Z
F: BEARARESOLEST
FHARARE2007T)

RAMTIZEEARENKER
AREREEN - RZTA -

The higher the capitalisation rate,
the lower the fair value.

Asignificant increase in the market
rent used result in significant
increase in fair value, and vice
versa.

P

BReEHE  REBE -

=

AT IZHE S AEE NS
AREREEN - RZTA -
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19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
year. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, certain investment
properties of the Group have been pledged to secure bank
loan granted to the group or independent third parties.
Details are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2023, investment properties held
by two subsidiaries, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi with carrying amounts of HK$862,070,000 (2022:
HK$1,462,350,000) and HK$542,300,000 (2022:
HK$662,132,000) respectively were pledged to Bank
of Jinzhou Co, Limited for the bank borrowings of two
companies, which were related to Mr. Dai in aggregate
principal amount of RMB3,400,000,000. Those borrowings
had been defaulted during the year. At the prevailing time of
those pledged contracts entered into, Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou Jiachi were not subsidiaries of the Company, but
companies related to Mr. Dai. As disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements in annual report 2021 and 2022, the
Group acquired the entire equity interests in Guangzhou
Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi through the acquisitions of Superb
Power Enterprises Limited and Sky Build Limited respectively
that were completed in April 2021. The properties was seized
by court up to the date of report.

19. REWHE #)

RERN - FZELMEZLEER R ==
FRZF-Z_FF+-A=+—H0 rEEET
REYMFEEERABERETASESBIE=
FHRITER - FBHNGEE VM HHREM =
40 °

RZEZ=F+-A=+—10 WHEKNBL
AIEMBE RN EZS S AR EMERE
&% 7l A5862,070,0008 T (- T — —
1,462,350,0007% Jt.) }&2542,300,000/ 7T (=&
T4 1 662,132,000 7T ) + B B B ST
EBBMAEA S B AR3,400,000,000
TLRIERITE BEE R FIRIMNIBITIRG AR A A
L EEERFRNED - RETLZSEREH
B BINEE RBMNEMTIERAATNEA
A et EFENAR - F_2=
FERZTEZ_FFRNGAMBREIEE
NEEE 5 Bl B U EE Superb Power Enterprises
Limited & Sky Build Limited (/A =% = —F 0
AFER) - W BN B M 8RN = 5 2 20 A%
P RAIREBR  ZEMEREREL o

AMERARAT —T - =F4R
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BILEE
Vehicle Customer
license plates relationship Total
REEE EFEBMER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHT FHET
(Note a) (Note b)
OEE)) (fF3EDb)
COST AR AN
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—F—HF—H 4,155 95,472 99,627
Exchange realignment [E AR - (5,026) (5,026)
At 31 December 2022 and R-TE-——F+=-A
1 January 2023 =t+—BARZZE=_=F
—H—H 4,155 90,446 94,601
Exchange realignment kS - (2,545) (2,545)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A
=1+—H 4,155 87,901 92,056
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Z:ti#ss
At 1 January 2022 W_ZE__F—HF—H - 1,819 1,819
Charged for the year F R - 2,659 2,659
Impairment loss for the year FAREERE - 41,460 41,460
Exchange realignment B 5, - (1,332) (1,332)
At 31 December 2022 and RZTBZZF+=H
1 January 2023 =t+—BERZZE==F
—H—H - 44,606 44,606
Charged for the year FAMKR - 2,523 2,523
Exchange realignment I i %L - (1,267) (1,267)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A
=+—H - 45,862 45,862
NET CARRYING VALUE REFE
At 31 December 2023 MR-ZZE_=%F+_H
Shr—= 4,155 42,039 46,194
At 31 December 2022 RZZBZZF+=H
Sqp= 4,155 45,840 49,995
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The vehicle licence plates were issued by the relevant authorities
in the PRC and Hong Kong with no expiration date.

As a result, the vehicle licence plates are considered by the
management of the Group as having indefinite useful lives.
These vehicle licence plates will not be amortised until their
useful lives are determined to be finite and they are carried at
cost less any subsequent impairment losses, if any. Instead, they
will be tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired.

Customer relationship was arising from the acquisition of a
subsidiary during the year ended 31 December 2021. It was
valued as of the date of the acquisition by an independent
qualified valuer on the basis of the excess earnings method
under the income approach, whereby the asset is valued after
deducting a fair return on all other assets that are part of
creating the related cash flows. The management of the Group
considered the customer relationship has finite useful life and
is amortised on a straight-line basis over 35 years. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, an impairment loss of HK$Nil (2022:
HK$41,460,000) was recognised for customer relationship.

20. B EE )

GEE

(a)

RESRE R R R BB AEEE MRS - A
EEmAE -

Hit - AEEERERRERREAE ERS
EREH - ZFEWMREG TS REE B
&2 (6 BF s T R AR R EELRRAR
MEREZFEBR(E) AR - kM - 65
EHHEBHBREFARHRAE  ARES
BE(RERE) EZRENH -

REBEEZT-_—F+-A=+—HLFE ' ¥
FEEGEIAKENBE AR MEY - HEBY A
BEREEMBERRAE THBEANERIKE
FIEAHEITEE  AREENGEES IR
BEMEKEARROEENSIEER - K
SEHEEERARFPHUEREBBRAERAE
H - WRSFRIRESFRE BE-T ==
FH+ZA=+—HILFE  EREPBERHER
BEBEZTAEIT(ZZT - —F : 41,460,000/8
7T)

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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The mining rights represent four of the rights to conduct
mining activities in the location of Ulaan Uul, Nogoonnuur
Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Ulaan Uul”), Tsunkheg,
Nogoonnuur Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Tsunkheg”) and
Khovd Gol, Tsengel Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Khovd
Gol”) in Mongolia. The mining right in Tsunkheg and the
two mining rights in Ulaan Uul have remaining legal lives of
8 years (2022: 9 years) to 12 years (2022: 13 years), expiring
in July 2031, March 2033 and December 2035, respectively.
The mining right in Khovd Gol has a remaining legal life of 13
years (2022: 14 years), expiring in July 2036.

The mining licences are issued by Mineral Resources and
Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (the “Mongolia Mineral
Authority”) and may be extended for two successive
additional periods of 20 years each. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the application for extension
is procedural and the Group should be able to renew its
mining licences at minimal charges until all the proven
and probable minerals have been mined. No active mining
operation of the Group had been taken place yet during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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21. MINING RIGHTS 21. BiERE
HK$'000
FHETT
cosT RS
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-ZE-_—_F—A—H -ZFT=-_—F
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 TZA=Et+—RA - ZE=F—HA—HE
—ZE-=#F+=-A=+—H 1,003,034
IMPAIRMENT HE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and RZZEZ—F—H—H -ZF==F
1 January 2023 TZA=t+—BARZZEZ=F—H—H 984,318
Impairment losses recognised (note 22) B EEE (MisE22) 7,706
At 31 December 2023 KRB =ZF+=-—A=+—H 992,024
CARRYING VALUES BRTEIE
At 31 December 2023 R-E—=F+-H=+—8 11,010
At 31 December 2022 n= F+=-—A=+—H 18,716

HEEEITREHEERYELE#EMS
BEN(SBEN ) REAK(ESE]) RE
EBVEEERIMEMEZN(RAZN])#E
THEREE) AR - RERIE ZIREEK
NEFESN 2 MEFBERRGETEFH AT
(ZCE-—F 9F)ENF(ZT -4 :13
F) DRIR=ZE=—F+A ZT=Z=F=
ARZZ=AF+-AER REMZTZ
HIRERGETFRRI3FE(ZT - —F : 14
F) RZB=XELABEW -

BEMRRURTBEABREE RO AEER
(IREBEBREL  AEEEHMK - 88
20%F - RABEFRR - AFEEREATK
MR - A EEE R B HEERRRN
BREEAKRAS - AEMBRARMGE ZERC
ERERIL REBEE-_T_=FR-_ZT__F
TZA=T—HLEFEAR  AKREHARETE
PRERRETS -
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21. MINING RIGHTS (Continued) 21. FLERE 2

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
received several notices from the Mongolia Mineral Authority
and requested the Group to prepare updated resource
estimation technical reports and feasibility study reports on
the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol. The
Group commenced the discussion with the Mongolia Mineral
Authority regarding the feasibility of conducting mining
activities on these mining rights. The Group consulted with
legal adviser on the legal implications of notices and with
reference to the legal advice, the mining licences of these
mining rights owned by the Group are still in effect as at 31
December 2023 and 2022. Started from 2018, the Group is
in the progress of preparing an updated resource estimation
technical reports and feasibility study reports on these mining
rights by different phases in accordance with the Mongolia
Code for the Public Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Mineral Reserves in order to fulfil the requests
from Mongolia Mineral Authority.

Mining rights are included in the mining and exploitation
of natural resources segment which is a CGU, representing
the Group's subsidiaries — Kainarwolfram LLC and Ikh Uuliin
Erdenes LLC that hold mining rights for the purpose of
impairment testing. Particulars regarding impairment testing
on mining rights are disclosed in note 22.

REBZE—Z—-NE+_A=+—HIEFERX "
AEBWISEHBEERHETRS @ BhA%
ERESHEN - BEHSRE SN REE
WEFERGEERMTHRE R AT THRIERS -
REBHESHERDRN XS RBEETRE
EBMRIITHERAN R o AEEREE ZIAR
FELWLAEER  BE2EXRZER A%
EEENZSREENARABR S =F
—E-F+ZRA=F+—HDBAEK - #HZFE
—\FRHA  ANEBIERZETRRERRE
ERESEMHIFEER BEERMBAMKEZ
AFEME TR ERGE RMTIRE & A
THRELERT HREERAHEN -

RERETARBREZRRAEIRD FIR—
BERGELSN  BEAEEZMEB AR -
Kainarwolfram LLC X Ikh Uuliin Erdenes LLC 5t
AERE B mMEAE 2 KRR - BRBREER
BRI 2 FIER M G225 58 -

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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22,

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING
RIGHTS

No active mining operation of the Group had been taken
place during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
and the directors of the Company conducted an impairment
assessment of the Mining CGU. For the purposes of
impairment testing, the mining rights set out in note 21 have
been allocated to the Mining CGU represented by mining and
exploitation of natural resources segment.

The recoverable amount is the higher of FVLCD and VIU. The
recoverable amounts of mining and exploitation of natural
resources segment were determined based on VIU calculation
and certain key assumptions. For the purpose of impairment
testing, the VIU calculations used cash flow projection based
on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering a period of five to twenty years (2022: five
to twenty years). The pre-tax discount rates used for the VIU
calculations are 26.9% to 34.2% (2022: 25.3% to 32.0%).
Other key assumptions in estimating the discounted future
pre-tax cash flows are included tungsten metal estimated
selling price with nil growth rate (2022: nil), estimated
future costs of production, estimated future operating costs,
recoverable reserves, resources and exploration potential and
exchange rates.

In November 2018 and August 2019, the Group engaged
independent qualified mineral technical advisers to
prepare an updated resource estimation technical report
("Updated Resource Estimation Technical Report”) under
the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves and they have conducted
the first phase and second phase of exploitation work
regarding the recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential for the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and
Khovd Gol during the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2019. Furthermore, the third phase of exploitation work had
not been started in 2022 and 2023.
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22, BRIERE 2R EAR

REE-E - —FR T -_=F+-A=+—
HIEFER - REEMAETTERIEEY -
ANAFERCHIRER S &E+ BAEHRERT
i e BURERIET S - 21 A8 2 SRIEED
EORERFERRRARERDHBRE K
BIRGEEEN -

AR ESEAARER N EXRNEFHBEER
HEZBEE RERMRRIAE Rz 7K
EemNiRERAEETERSE THRBRE
E e ptREARTE - FRBEEDBEARSE
l%@ﬁ%&Zﬁi—+iﬁzg::¢:ﬁ
&) B SRS S AR SRR
H ot EEAEERATAIEEAE269%E
34.2%(=—F = —4 : 253%%32.0%) ° f&st
BB AR RB AR &R E 2 bR R B B iE
HIERAT(ZE-—F: T)24BEE
B At RREERAE « Bt RBELAA
ARl - BRRENRERE R ER -

RZFB-NF+—ARZZF-NFN\A T&
Ié%ﬁi éﬂ%é&m@ﬁm%&ﬁﬂ

BEHRER  BREERENTREFEENRE
BRARESHERGEERNRS ([ HH#ERME
BRmHmE D MBE—E-N\FR_E-NF
TZA=1T—BLLFE  RECETEHASH
B BRI MR Z A RERN I IRES
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22,

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING
RIGHTS (Continued)

Based on the Updated Resource Estimation Technical
Report issued by the qualified mineral technical adviser with
reference to their first and second phase of exploitation
work conducted, the tungsten grades of the mining rights in
Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol are considerately lower
than the tungsten grades indicated in the previous resource
estimation technical report prepared in 2008 (“Previous
Resource Estimation Technical Report”), while the volume
of the exploration potential of the mining rights in Ulaan
Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol is higher than the volume
indicated in the Previous Resource Estimation Technical
Report. Considering the increment in the estimated volume
of recoverable reserves, resources and exploration potential
of the mining rights in the Updated Resource Estimation
Technical Report, the management of the Group expected
that longer period of lives of the mine for the overall
exploitation work and revised the financial budgets covering
a period of five to twenty years for cash flow projection in
2023 and 2022.

Based on the above findings from the Updated Resource
Estimation Technical Report, the Group engaged an
independent PRC professional firm to update the feasibility
study report and also engaged Norton Appraisals Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer to perform the
valuation of mining rights at 31 December 2023 and 2022
based on the Updated Resource Estimation Technical Report
and the latest feasibility study report. With reference to
the valuation of mining rights performed by valuer and the
information available to the Group up to the report date, the
directors of the Company were of the view that impairment
losses of HK$7,706,000 of the mining rights for the year
ended 31 December 2023 need to be recognised for the
Mining CGU in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as the recoverable amount
of the Mining CGU was lower than its carrying amount while
no impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2022 as the recoverable amount of the Mining
CGU was higher than its carrying amount.

22. FRUERE 2 RERHE =)

BIFEERBEERMBER2ZREMETNE
PR E —MBERRIEMBEHENERGE
Hitrds - S8 S0 - B 518 &EML 2 5KiE
EERSERABRER _ZT ) \FREZFLAE
IR ET RIS ([ e R RIEE M= E )
TSR MRS - BHELEZ
2 R 2 SR B R E R R AT E R E
MG THEHE - KEREFERGER
MRS RN LT AR E - BRERBRE
BEIEINiE - AEEEIRETE RSB ERERL
BERERRETRERSRBAR_Z==
FRZEZ_FABAE —+FHRMNYETE

e
H o
B

ER bR g s EREERITRE 24
AEBEBZE-—FPRBIEEZARIAEIAIT
ﬁ%ﬁi’ﬁikﬁi B E B ER T
B EERAR  ER&HERGEERITR
i&ﬁﬁTﬁﬁﬁ%# EEHR T =FR=
E-—F+ A=+ B ZEREEENGEE -
KBZEHEMSRERELNHERAEBE
ERFEBBRABZ2ERE  ARAIESER
R BEZEZ=FTZAR=1T—HLHFE
ARRBEReELEBMNRNGEEEREME
[ Wy 3 7= A W SR ER R 2 R (E /B3 187,706,000
B REARERSEEEMLMAIKE
HEAEERRE  MRABES_F+=A4
=t+—ALFETEBERREES  RERK
BRESELASBMNITRESESNERAE -

AMERARAT —T - =F4R
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22. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING 22.

RIGHTS (Continued)

The directors of the Company believe that the estimate and
assumption incorporated in the impairment assessment are

reasonable.

If there are adverse changes in the key assumptions
incorporated in the impairment assessment for the mining
rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol, it would lead
to the recognition of further impairment loss against the

Mining CGU as follows:

RERE 2 BE R =)

RAREEZRA  BEMEPHARGE LB

BBATE -

SRS « B R ST R AT
HEENETERRFETNED - K EHY
T © 2 A AR 03— R (E AR
2 TR

2023 2022
—Bo=F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
5% relative increase in pre-tax Tt AR IR AR L N5 %
discount rate 3,042 -
5% decrease in tungsten price ISEEA 5% 9,282 -
5% decrease in volume of recoverable ARFEE - BRI ERE
reserves, resources and exploration 5%
potential 15 -
5% relative decrease in tungsten grades IS ERIEER 5% 9,282 -
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23. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 23. FHEEE

Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
FAT
Carrying amount BRMEE

As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_H+_-_A=+—H 5,965
As at 31 December 2023 R-Z-_=F+-A=+—H 1,888

Depreciation charge EEA
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—HIEE 5,546
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z-=F+-A=+—HLFE 3,805
2023 2022
—E-=HF . —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Expense relating to short-term leases EHEPEE X 209 207
Total cash outflow for leases HERS ML A% 4,479 5,823
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEERAREE = 7,426

For both years, the Group leases offices premises for its
operation. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1
year to 5 years with fixed payment for both years. The Group
does not have the option to purchase the leased properties
for a nominal amount at the end of the relevant lease terms
or any extension/termination options which are solely at the
Group’s discretion. The Group's obligations are secured by
the rental deposits for such leases. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

RBEFEAR  ~AEERELERERLEY
¥ - RMEFERN - HESHIZEE BN
FIFESFAABFRARIL - AEBEERE
RIEAAERTERENEESEBEEEY
¥ EHAEEBTAENEMMES, LI
BEE - AEBEZEEDUAZSHEZEER
SRR - BERRDZERNEEER T RS
BT RERSMRM - BEREMAFETA]
B ERE - ARERAANNERL
HEEAKIT R HIFITAV R
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23. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 23. EREEE®)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for Car REBFH L EBESEHEE - R2T ==
parks. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of FRZFZZFTZA=1+—H GHEER
short-term leases are similar to the portfolio of short-term EHEEHE FRBENEREERFEENE
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above. BB EASEL -

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately HK$Nil (2022: N RZTB-_=F+—_A=+—H %E#H
HK$7,426,000) are recognised with related right-of-use HZET(ZZE==F : 7,426,000/ 7T ) BIf B
assets of approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$7,426,000) as at EEERRNTATL(ZT 24 7,426,000
31 December 2023. The lease agreements do not impose any BLINHEAE BRALEABEZHESE
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets ERNzHESER I - WESHSHEENT
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as % - HEBENMSAEEE BB -

security for borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set FHZEHEABEZHENHASMHBERRL
out in notes 33 and 38(b). M5E335238(b) ©
24. INVENTORIES 24. 7E&
Inventories represent finished goods held for resale. FEESIFEE 28K m -
25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 25. EWERRX
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E- 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Accounts receivable FEUER TR 51,743 30,444
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEEIERHE (10,061) (675)
41,682 29,769
The Group allows a credit period of 0 to 90 days (2022: 0 to REERMEEMBAKTHEEPIZIOR(Z
90 days) to its customers depending on the type of products T F 1 0290K)ZIEER -
sold.
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25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 25. BIWBRRR (#)

The following is an ageing analysis of accounts receivable,
net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the
invoice dates which approximated to the respective revenue
recognition dates:

AT RREZAH(ES 5 RARRAYEE)
I REER (R EEBERE) REKD
#r

2023 2022

—E-=H T F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within 30 days — 90 days 30BZE90H A 22,819 7,253
91 -120 days 91£2120H 9,167 21,916
Over 120 days 1208 A E 9,696 600
41,682 29,769

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's accounts
receivable are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$29,576,000 (2022: HK$2,706,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, approximately nil (2022: nil) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default considering
the background of the accounts receivables and historical
settlement arrangement of these accounts receivable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over the balances.

Details of impairment assessment of accounts receivable are
set out in note 38(b).

RIZBZ=ZF+-HA=+—H FTEENE
WEERBHERNRE B HEaMNEREELD
29,576,000 7t (ZZ = — 4 : 2,706,000/%8
TO)R MR - REBBESRT - HE(ZF
ZF B)EEAI0 R - EKEEE
WERRE R MR ERUERTNESE S8 285
WARR B L o REE I BT A E A A RIE
o

FEUR R 2 BB RS FHIFE NI RE38(b) °
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26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

26. HtEWFE - RERFANKIA

PREPAYMENTS
2023 2022
—E-=H —=EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Purchase deposits BERSe - 50,633
Rental and other deposits (note a) e kHEMiEe (M) 2,336 2,292
Other receivables, net of allowance for HAb EBGRIE (IR E BB EEE)
credit losses, and prepayments PSEERE 21,325 42,845
23,661 95,770
Analysed for reporting purposes as: 2B ATIERI AT
Non-current assets ERBEE = 1,502
Current assets MEVEE 23,661 94,268
23,661 95,770
Note: Mt -
(@  The amount represents deposit paid to a supplier for the (@) HBHEIFEIEREEMRME NS BAEERD
purchase of flooring materials. e o

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and

deposits are set out in note 38(b).
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27.

28.

29.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

The bank deposits are restricted by the court due to the
claims in relation to financial guarantee provided to certain
banks loan as shown in note 45. The balance are used for
the loan payment after paying the operating expense of the
shopping mall.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates
per annum.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for
credit losses is provided.

ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER
PAYABLES

27. ZRHRTER
RATFRBOABEIRS] - R A K A5G

A TRITERGE THBRERORE - EHR
XNBYESHNEERRREEERER -

28. RITHGBRIRE
IBITHBRIERITMIBFREE -
HE_Z-_—Fr-_FT-_—F+-A=+—H
IHFE - AEBEYRTESETRENGILR

REFHRITRONATEEMEEN - St - Y&
SLEEERIEL A -

29. Bt R ERHMEMNRIE

2023 2022

—E-=F T —F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Construction payable FETEEERA 84,268 96,285
Accrued expenses and other payables FE TR S M Eo A FE AT R 19,842 16,024
Interest payables FEFIE 400,032 249,920
Receipt in advance for rental income WAL WA 35,419 33,369
Deposit received from tenants AP WEE e 77,322 81,809
Other tax payables E e IE 1,751 1,025
618,634 478,432

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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30. BORROWINGS 30. 6 &

2023 2022
—E-=4F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Unsecured fixed-rate bank borrowing (note i) L IME BIRITEE (M) 5,377 5,337
Secured variable-rate bank borrowing (note i) B )% BIR1TEE (H&Ei) 188,670 208,152
Secured fixed-rate bank borrowing (note iii) ~ BEME SRITEE (M5 1,479,499 1,527,997
1,673,546 1,741,486

Notes: BfaE -

(i) As at 31 December 2023, the unsecured fixed-rate bank
borrowing amounting to approximately HK$5,377,000 (2022:
HK$5,337,000) which is unguaranteed, carried at fixed interest
rate of 3.8% (2022: 3.8%) and is repayable within one year.

(i)  As at 31 December 2023, the secured variable-rate bank
borrowing carried interest at the London Interbank Offered
Rates (“LIBOR") plus a margin of 2.75% (2022: 2.75%) per
annum, which the effective interest rate is 5.99% to 8.12%
(2022: 4.16%) per annum. It contains a repayment on demand
clause and contractually repayable within one year based on
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreement. The
loan agreement was expired in November 2022 and further
extended to November 2023 and conditionally extended to
March 2024. As at the report date, the loan was fully repaid.

(i) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the secured fixed-rate bank
borrowing which is guaranteed by Mr. Dai, carried at fixed
interest rate of 7%.

The secured bank borrowing was secured by the investment
properties and 100% equity interest of a subsidiary established
in the PRC as at 31 December 2023 (2022: same).

The bank borrowing was expired in January 2021 and had
not yet been successfully renewed nor extended as at 31
December 2023. Accordingly, the bank borrowing became
overdue, repayable on demand, and was shown under current
liabilities. Up to the approval date of the consolidated financial
statements, the bank borrowing has not yet been renewed,
extended nor repaid.
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R-ZTE-_=ZF+=-A=+—8 EEFTE
RITIEE A#5377,0008 (=4 :
5,337,000/ T) - EAEER - RE T X
38% (=T -4 :38%):EUBRN—FR
g -

R-ZE-=F+-A=+—8 GHEHFZER
TEEZRGIETREREER([RBERTH
ERSEDMN2.75%(ZF=2F 1 2.75%) 2
FREHE - HERFANEA599%ZE8.12%
(ZEZZF 1 4.16%) - EBERERERN
&3 RARBE SRR 5) 2 B HE A R
—FRIZEHER - BERBHBER T _F
+—AER YEE—SEHE_T-_=F
+—ARBEEHEHE—T_NFE=ZF - »
wEAH  ZEREE2HEE -

MN-B-—=FR-"FT-_—F+-A=+—8"
BEMRESRTEEERAERIER A
FEFET% o

WZZE_=%+-A=+—H" ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ1
Em&ﬁ%%& WE¢IW¢ZW%

RITEBEEERN_Z=_—F—AEmn  BR=Z
—=F+-A=1+—BHEARNEEREER -
At - IRITEEC AR REREREE B
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31.

32.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of accounts payable presented based
on the delivery date at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

31. BIRRX

REBERIE R B 2500 BN BRFREER

BTN

2023 2022

—E-=4F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

0-30 days 0£30H 839 1,849
31-90 days 31£90H 15,269 10,720
16,108 12,569

The credit period granted by the suppliers was 90 days (2022:
90 days) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, all
accounts payable were denominated in United States Dollar
("US$").

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes.

BE_T-=F+-"A=1+—BItFE - ik

ERTHEEHROR(ZE-

RZE_=F+=ZA=1+—HBxK

F 1 90K) o

— = — —

=

TZA=1t—8 mEEMEFRBAET(E

T tHE -
32. BEEHREER

FREFEEMBHRRARAZHANTE - ETE
RRBREERBECEE - LT ARMBEERS

B BV EEE B AR AT

2023 2022

—E;-=F —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBxT FHET

Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE (171,744) (380,925)

AFERERDT — T —=FFRH
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32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during years ended 31

32. EEFIEE B 2

RNEE-ZT =K

e

=

F+-/f=+—

BILFENERRBZIBRERELRE (B

December 2023 and 2022: &) REFEFFBENT
Revaluation
of
investment
properties Tax losses Total
B4
REYE HIEEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FA&T FA&T
At 1 January 2022 W-_E-__F—H—H (582,159) 6,495 (575,664)
(Charged)/credited to profit Bz INR),FHAEE

or loss (Note 13) (P¥EE13) 162,011 (6,180) 155,831
Exchange realignment bE W SR 39,223 (315) 38,908
At 31 December 2022 and e

1 January 2023 +ZA=+—HK

—E-=%—H—H (380,925) - (380,925)
Credited to profit or loss T ABE (FI7E13)

(Note 13) 198,101 - 198,101
Exchange realignment P& A% 11,080 - 11,080
At 31 December 2023 N-E—=F+—#

=t+—H (171,744) - (171,744)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$1,312,084,000 (2022:
HK$1,247,376,000) available for offset against future profits.
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32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) 32. EXEBIEBEEF )

The directors of the Company perform periodic assessment
on the probability that future taxable profits will be available
which the deferred tax assets can be realised or utilised.
In assessing the probability, both positive and negative
evidences were considered, including whether it is probable
that the operations will have sufficient future taxable profits
which the deferred tax assets can be deductible or utilised
and whether the tax losses result from identifiable causes
which are unlikely to recur.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an amount of
approximately HK$6,180,000 representing the balance of
deferred tax asset for tax losses was charged to profit or
loss. Accordingly, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams during the year ended 31 December 2022.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no deferred tax
asset for tax losses was charged to profit or loss. Accordingly,
no deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences arising from impairment loss of
mining rights of approximately HK$23,593,000 (2022:
HK$15,887,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised in
foreseeable future.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to the retained
profits earned by the subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to
approximately HK$386,850,000 (2022: HK$418,681,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

ARBEEEHH G ER KB AELEHREE
R AR ERD G N RO AT BE1E © FERFAE AT BE 1
B FRMAEEERHCER  BREZFEBS
BAREA RN ENABAELERERHEE
BIARRERTIEF - ARTIBEBERE B A
AERESIE - MELREN KA EBRE
Ao

HE-_ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HLEFE ¥
TR 5B MY IR IE 6 18 & FE 82 §H 496,180,000/ 7T
Bt ABm Bl - BE-_ZT-_—_F+=A
Z+—HLEFE - ARRICEF RO IEA
M WARRIBESERRELEHRIEEE - B2
—E-=F+ZRA=1+—HILFE  WEHE
BIEMECHBEETABR - Bt #E2=
T-—F+ A=+ HIFE - ARRIOE
A NAT T RIME - 30 R BLFR IB B B R IE T
MIBEE -

RRERR - AEERRIBERERIEESER
IR 1 = 58 4923,593,0008 T ( — T - —
F 1 15,887,000 7T ) o WL Z AT IR
= ERRAELCHBEE REALENER
AR IRTA A Be A Al B A el R T R M 2 20 A
FERTLR A

BEFBRCEMSEHE BTSN\ F—A—
B BiASEREWERRBRNZENS
k2 RBBUWTERM - HEZT_=F+=A
Z+—HLEEE  WARGEHBREAZSP
I Ff /&8 X ) iR B 2 R B8 & 1) 49386,850,000/%8
TL(ZZ = — 4 : 418,681,000/ 7T ) FE 15 & B
MEEIREERIERE  REALAEEEN
7| BT R R R B R A S R e
AE RS ATRE R -
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES

33.7HEE8E

2023 2022
—E=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Lease liabilities payable: ERHREaRE -
Within one year —FR 1,532 4,378
Within a period of more than one year HABR B A — SFE N BB
but not exceeding two years 299 1,764
Within a period of more than two years HAPR BB B N BB T
but not exceeding five years = 243
1,831 6,385
Less: Amount due for settlement within B omBBaEE T ARER T =
12 months shown under current A AKE 2 BIE5RE
liabilities (1,532) (4,378)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months IERENEEE NHRAER+—EA
shown under non-current liabilities ZIBHEE 2 B EFE 299 2,007
Notes: 5T
(@)  The weighted average incremental interest rate applied to lease (@ THEBBRERAINEFEEFNENTF25%F

liabilities ranged from 2.5% to 7.5% (2022: ranged from 2.5%
to 7.5%).

(b)  No lease liability is denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of relevant group entities.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. R
Number of Share
shares capital
ROEE (&N
HK$'000
THET
Authorised ordinary shares at HK$0.05 BERO.OSETZEEEER
per share
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, N-BE-_—F—F—H —ZFB-—F
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 +TZA=+—HB -ZZ==%
—A—BRZZFZ=F+=A
=+—H 34,566,666,668 1,728,333
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares at BEERO.0SETZERTRACEER
HK$0.05 per share
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, NZEBE-_—F—F—H ZE-—F
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 +TZR=+—-8" :2:5%
—A—BRZZEZ=F+_H
=+—H 5,250,019,852 262,501
Authorised preference shares at HK$0.05 EBR0.05BTZEERER
per share
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, WZZE-_—F—A—H -ZZ=-=F
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 +ZRA=+—8" :%::i
—A—BRZZT==F1=A
=+—A 5,433,333,332 271,666

Issued and fully paid preference shares at EBR.SBETZERTRAZELR
HK$0.05 per share

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-_E-—F—HF—H —TB-—%F
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 +ZA=+—B -ZZ==%
—A—BRZZEZ=%+=H
=+—H - -
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35.

36.

OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS  35. R&HEZH
The Group as lessor AEBEREHEA
The investment properties held by the Group for rental REBFRHEMEE M2 REY XA HEE
purposes are expected to generate rental yield ranging from ENTF0.05%ZE1.08%(ZE2F : 0.12% =
0.05% to 1.08% (2022: 0.12% to 1.67%) on an ongoing 1.67%) M WEER - iSRRI
basis. Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as HEMRET :
follows:
2023 2022
—EB=HF —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —FR 7,503 10,364
In the second year FF 2,234 1,937
In the third year F=4F 2,285 1,795
In the fourth year FENF 2,400 1,821
In the fifth year FRF 1,079 1,547
After five years AFE 384 335
15,885 17,799
RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 36. AR SR

The Group has no significant transactions and balances with
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of executive directors, being the key
management personnel, are set out in note 15, which is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders, to support the Group’s
stability and growth, and to strengthen the Group’s financial
management capability.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in
notes 30 and 33, respectively, net of bank balances and
cash and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and other reserves.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly reviews
its capital structure and make adjustments in light of changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payables to
shareholders, issue new shares or raise new debts and repay
existing debts. The Group's capital management objectives,
policies or processes were unchanged from previous year.

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

37.

EXEREE

AEBEREER  EEBRARENERL
& MARREERADR  FHAKENR
ENMER - AN R AR E WIS E IS

AEENEARBEEABEFE(DHIREN
30K IBEEMEERBEEBE) - MKRIRTT
EHRMRE RARBHE ARGERZ(BED
BT R EALFEE) -

ARBERREGNEREHEERNREE - LR
BEEARNESIEL AR - RETAFEE
AL - AEBREFHEIRN TRIROBE -
BITHRRBEMEREEREER - BBE
FEUR  AEEEBERNERE - BEEE
PR e 2R o

38. T A

(a) &I AMER

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets SREE
Amortised cost B HRA 202,034 346,788
Financial liabilities sRER
Amortised cost HEERCR 2,263,418 2,173,560
Financial guarantee contracts MISERE L 939,688 664,394

AMZERERAT T —=FFR rdrg
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, accounts receivable, other
receivables and deposits, bank balances and cash,
accounts payable, other payables and borrowings and
financial guarantee contracts. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk
Several subsidiaries of the Company have the

foreign currency bank balances, which also
exposes the Group to foreign currency risk.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

5 /meE (&)
() E¥ERE)

R EHIR - AR B UINEHER
EREENERABNREESNT

Liabilities Assets
=0 BE

2023 2022 2023 2022
—ECo=FE —FTE-o—F ZEBZ=H —FT-—F
HK$"000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHT FExT FAT
us$ ETT 16,108 12,569 55,655 26,575
Renminbi (“RMB") ARBTAR]) - - 52 50,633

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed currency risk related
to US$, RMB and HKS.

For the entities of which their functional currency
is HK$ while holding assets denominated in US$,
the directors of the Company consider that as
HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group is not subject
to significant foreign currency risk from change
in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against US$ and
hence only consider the sensitivity of the change
in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against currencies
other than US$.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
monetary items which are denominated in relevant
foreign currencies and adjusts its translation at
the year end for a 5% change in relevant foreign
currencies exchange rates.

7N 5% [ 3R Iy 3 AT {7] 51 B 9 )9 BX
R oA AKREEEREGEMSN
ERERRIENETEREELTE
RIMNER -

BRBEDN

AEETEMEBREXT ARBR
AR E SRR

HEEEE RBITMFEIAET
AHEMEECER  ARAESER
o BTEETE - NEETF
FERBTTHLETIMNEEETZFHNEKX
ShE R - Bk - BEEEBITEE
TCLASN 2 & W 1) M B R B Ep O B0
RE DT ©

FREDITEBEARERE Z AR
SNEEHEMERIER - XRF R
BRAIMNEE R BB 2 5% HEH M
o
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2022: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2022: 5%)
is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The analysis illustrates the
impact for a 5% strengthening of the functional
currency of the relevant group entities against
the relevant currency and a positive and negative
number below indicates a decrease and an
increase in loss respectively. For a 5% weakening
of the functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the relevant currency, therefore
would be an equal and opposite impact on the
loss or profit.

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRE)

5 /mER (&)
() EEmERE)
BREDH(E)

TERHFIAREBUEEREENY)
EEERBEBIINERABRS% (=
TITF 1 5%) ZHRRE o REAED
FEEE A BRSNS R 5 b5 FE A
HREEL R AES% (T = —F
5%) ' AERELHIINEERSGEA
REEB TG - DTHAEEEE
EREMNIGEEY S HBEEAES%
VR M NXHIEASTD R
FES 1B AR > R AE 0 - A EEE
EENEEE L ABESRRE
5% @ #EEESR A SELER
RIS & o

RMB Impact (note i)
AR E (M)

2023 2022

—E-=HF —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Increase in loss before tax R A ESIRLE N (3) (2,532)

Decrease in loss before tax KSR AR 3 2,532
Note: st -

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on
bank balances denominated in RMB at the end of
reporting period.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the relevant years.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank borrowing as
disclosed in note 30. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances as disclosed in note 28 and
variable-rate borrowing as disclosed in note 30.
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuations of LIBOR arising
from the Group’s GBP denominated borrowing.
It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at
floating interest rate so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

Total interest income from financial assets that
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

5 /meE (&)
(i) FIFEER

75 B E R PO FE 30 P 4% 52 1 E SR
TRENAAENXRERR - A&EH
IR ER M 28 P IR B A B F B4R
TR R M R30I R R BE E
RengMEEk AEENRS
MENXEREBEPRAEEIA
REHENERELNRIRITR
EFEN TR - AEBHBERS
RFEERRIBNEGR - A
RAENERR&ZME - AEBE
AR & 4 o Al =8 BT E )
REPHELNBEEYEBTERAMNEK
[\ -

AEBERE L ENBEATETR
BRENEMERONXER o A
- ERERNERERE B
BEAMXRER

RESER AT EZ S REBE 2 AT
BIRALT

2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Other income E g A
Financial assets at amortised cost REBIER AR SRMEE 2,286 2,215
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest expense on financial liabilities not

measured at FVTPL:

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

B mE ()

(ii)

FIFER (&)

WHRAREFAEEZEREE
ZHBS T

2023 2022

—E;-=F —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHET

Financial liabilities at amortised cost & $5Ak AFIBRE > S Rb B (& 172,974 177,868

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates is used. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as
the directors of the Company consider that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising
from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's pre-tax loss for
the year ended 31 December 2023 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$943,000 (2022:
pre-tax loss increase/decrease by approximately

HK$1,041,000).
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(iii) ~ Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments listed and unlisted equity securities.
The directors of the Company manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risks. The Group's equity price risk
is mainly concentrated on equity instruments of
entities which are quoted in Stock Exchange in
Hong Kong. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
other price risk. However, the management has
appointed a team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should that
needs arise.

No sensitivity analysis is presented for the year
ended 31 December 2022 as the management
considers that the Group’s exposure to other price
risk is insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, other receivables and deposits,
restricted bank balances, bank balances and cash.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets and financial guarantee contracts,

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

mEmEE (&)
(i) BAEETERR

AEBRER LK LEHBRAE
FEREMEERRAEBRRERR - &
AAESBRESFETRARZ
KREHAEEZAR - ARE 2K
AEREREIBEFREBNHR
PIRENERBNRATAR - A&H
REWEERAEMITETAROS
HmEAMERRR - A BEEED
ZE-HAABERERERIL R
BERZREPERRR -

REBEEZT-_—_F+=-A=+—H
LEFE  TEZIGRBESNT - R
AAEEBERAAEEMEBZH
ERRBILTEK -

EEERR R ETE

EERBREAESBERYFTERREZA
WEAEHARIUBBERNRER - K&
H 2 EERRMOE2REKIRER - Hit
YR LIRS - XRBIRITALR - |17
EHERE  AEBUEREESREE
R BIERE HRE 2 EERRR A ER
ER AR EAMERRA YR -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group performed impairment assessment financial
assets under ECL model. Information about Group’s
credit risk management, maximum credit exposures and
the related impairment asses applicable, are summarised
as below:

Accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals and to
determine any debt recovery action on those delinquent
accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers. Before granting credit to these customers,
the Group reviews the credit quality and defines credit
limits by these customers. Limits attributed to these
customers are reviewed once a year and each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy to assess the credit quality of these
customers and seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables so as to minimise credit risk. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for
97% (2022: Hong Kong 64%) of the total accounts
receivable as at 31 December 2023. Also, the Group
had concentrated risk as 63% (2022: 64%)% of
accounts receivable was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the remaining seven (2022: 19) customer
represents 37% (2022: 36%) of the total Group’s
accounts receivable. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on credit-
impaired accounts receivable individually. The remaining
non-credit impaired accounts receivable are assessed
collectively and grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s past due
status of outstanding balances, nature, size and industry
of debtors and external credit ratings. An impairment
losses of approximately HK$9,386,000 is recognised
(2022: reversal of impairment losses of HK$3,877,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2023. Details of
the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.
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(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)

NS lEiﬁ}f}’g%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁ%‘t%{/f%ﬁiﬁ
EETRENS - BEAEEZEER
B - RAEERBR O R Eaﬂfﬁuﬂﬁ
(W88 ) 2 R T

KEEF GRS

AREERRAERE  AREEEED
Zk—HEABREEEEERBREER
ERRZEFRRNREEP A ZEEER
RIERE AR EERTE - RAZEEP
REEERN  AREEFEEFPZEEE
ENREFERE - BRTZEEFPZRE
BFERH—ARBEEFPHERSEER
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BEEZEREERESRHEERREERK
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12 months ECL (“12m ECL") ECL. Impairment
of HK$19,564,000 (2022: HK$564,000) was recognised
for other receivables during the year ended 31
December 2023. Details of the quantitative disclosures
are set out below in this note.

Financial guarantee contracts

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of
the Company have performed impairment assessment
and concluded that there has been a significant credit
risk and risk of default since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. During the year ended
31 December 2023, impairment losses on financial
guarantee contracts of HK$295,321,000 (2022:
HK$683,546,000) were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Details of the financial
guarantee contracts are set out in note 45.

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)
B JERRA Rt T

HEMEWERRIZEME - AARES
REATEEDS: - BOLERAREED
FEAEE 2 F2REEERE Y EM
JE Us AR 3R I 3R <6 2 BT U [0 1 3 1T 1 R ET
e RARIEERE 2SS IEER
BIEEERT - RESEAUIAHERA
REEDBRENEAEHEEEIE12
EATEEEEEE DFHRRERE - RE
E-T-_—F+-_A=+—HIFER-
Bt B Ath FEUCFIB FERRRE 19,564,000
TL(ZE == : 564,000/87C) - BT
EWEFBHNUHFE T -

B ERER

RBEER - AR EFSETRIET
it REMBEREOEVIBEREET
TEXEREBRENORR  -BEZZ
—ZF+-A=Z1+—BLLFE - BHEE
RE %R (EE18295,321,0008 L (=&
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default
of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered
to be insignificant.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

38. T A%

(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)

RTTAESR

BREF T REERER TREEFAN
BRBERT WRTEBKZEERRE
MR e K%l%%ﬁ%%%EA%ﬁ%%%

HREEEFRSE
CHIRITHESRETI2EA TR

EENER

RHVB KR R K

HE BRI - ENFHEERE - R1T

Rz 12EARREREEBRKRR

FEA o

E/%

AEE 2 REMEERBRFFRFEREAT

comprises the following categories: #pl

Internal Accounts Other financial

credit rating Description receivable assets

AEEE R it FEW AR HittEMEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

ligEty RGEFHENOAREERETEEMNEYE 2HBEPEEFE- 12EAEREEEE
G| RELEEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired

Bxes BHEABRREHAPRET  EBEEH 2HRPEEFE- 2EAEREEEE
(=45 RELEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally

RER FRNBREEER  BYVTHAREER 2HRPEEFE- 2HPRPEEHE-
BBEAE LT RNEEEERE ARELEEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

&8 FRBETEECHLEEERE THRPEEFE- 2HRPEEFE-

EEEEERE BB EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is  Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

sk FRBETEBABARENGERNENAE MFSHE i

B EEE AT R
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. T A%
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MEEREEEEREEK®)

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of

the Group’s financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment:

EEmERRAETE(E)

TREAREBRETRAEEREN
ZEREERMBERAOER ZEER

ol
N

223 2022
k- St -3 it St 3
Internal/external (Gross carrying amount (Gross carrying amount
credit rating BEEE LEHE
Notes /4 12m or lifetime ECL HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
W EEIR NEAS2EREEEEE TR T Thn Thn
Financial assets at amortised cost
REHHAYIR SRER
Accounts receivable 25 (Note) Lifetime ECL (not-credit impaired) 42,038 30,066
G (Bzk1) SHEBEEHR(ARELEEHE)
(Note 1) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 9,705 51,743 378 30,444
(Bzk1) SHEBEEHR(CREEERE)
Other receivables and deposits 2% (Note2) 12m ECL /Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 15,530 83,080
AR ER RS (Bzx2) DEREHEESE/ 2 ERSEESE
(BREEERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 18423 33,953 - 88,080
BB AHEREEBR(ERERERE)
Restricted hank deposits 21 Aa3toB2 12mECL 28,011 -
FBHETER A23ZER) NEARHEEEE
Bank balances 28 Aa3toB2 12mECL 119,261 222,941
ichrei: Aa3%B2 NEARHEEEE
232,968 341,465
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

1. For accounts receivable from contracts with customers,
the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the ECL on these items by using a

provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to its operation. The following table provides

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)

GEE

1. BREFEPANZEBUENMmE @ &A%
B EAEEMERELAERALHE
RN REHRBERE R EEER
B AREEBRABRBREEHEZER

BETFERAEEREE

BAETTNIR -

WIAREBIEERT

ERASEEERRER 2 —#1H - &
SEREESERH TP EANENE
B - TERRKATPANZER

information about the exposure to credit risk for accounts EHIREREERBRAEZER -
receivable from contracts with customers.
Gross carrying amount ARETE
2023 2022
—E-= —T--F
Average  Accounts ECL Average Accounts ECL
Internal credit rating loss rate  receivable Amount lossrate  receivable Amount
HAEE HEHEE
REBEERTR FHEEE  ERER  BESE THBEEXR  BRER  BERE
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TET TET TET TERT
Low risk BREB 0.68% 21,333 145 0.99% 30,066 297
Watch list BREE 0.68% 10,789 73 NATEA - -
Doubtful RER 1.39% 9,916 138 N/ATEMA - -
Loss A 100% 9,705 9,705 100% 378 378
51,743 10,061 30,444 675
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical EHEERNIREBEEREHYEY

observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure

relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised reversal of impairment losses of HK$78,000
(2022: reversal of impairment losses of HK$406,000) for
accounts receivable based on the provision matrix and
recognised impairment losses of HK$9,464,000 (2022:
reversal of impairment losses of HK$3,471,000) for

accounts receivable based on individual assessment.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

38. T A%

EEmERRAETE(E)

(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

Notes: (Continued) Mt (B)
1. The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL 1. TRITHREREFER 2 ZHBEHE
that has been recognised for accounts receivable: BEE 228
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
- provision - individual
matrix ~ assessment
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HTEE 2T
FEEE FEEE
— B EsER — (@ BIFT{E
(RBE (B84E
FERE) EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHET
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H 704 3,773 4,477
Changes due to financial RZEZZF—-A—-B®RZ
instruments recognised as at &R T AP B
1 January 2022:
— Impairment losses reversed — BB EREEE (448) (3,849) (4,297)
New financial assets originated EEFEmEE
— Impairment losses recognised —BHERREEE 42 378 420
Exchange realignment HE 3, % ) 76 75
As at 31 December 2022 and RIE-_—F+-_A=1+—8BK
1 January 2023 —T-=%—HA—H 297 378 675
Changes due to financial RZZEZ=F—F—HA%R
instruments recognised as at SR ITAMBES :
1 January 2023:
— Impairment losses reversed —BELERESE (297) = (297)
New financial assets originated EETepEE
— Impairment losses recognised —BHERREEE 356 9,327 9,683
As at 31 December 2023 WZZ-=F+-A=+—H 356 9,705 10,061
Changes in the loss allowance for accounts receivable RIZEZ=FF+ZA=+—HZEKE

as at 31 December 2023 are mainly due to impairment
losses of HK$9,327,000 for credit-impaired accounts

receivable.

The Group writes off accounts receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the accounts receivable are over two years past

due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the accounts
receivable that have been written off is subject to

enforcement activities.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses historical settlement and past event
information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)
MieE : (&)
2. BAMERERBREEMS  AKE®R

B sk H OBk F ARG B V6
REEERBZERELM -

TRIRC B E A BRI KR S R

allowances that has been recognised for other receivables 7 IR 2 L8R -
and deposits:
12m ECL/
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(Not credit- (Credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
1218 B &5
FEFER ZHITEH
2HEREE FEEE
BiE(RBE (B8%E
FERE) FERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2022 R-_ZT-_—F—HF—H 745 - 745
New financial assets originated
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — B HERREE1E 564 - 564
As at 31 December 2022 and RIZE_—_F+=-A=+—H
1 January 2023 1,309 - 1,309
New financial assets originated :
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — EHERIREEE 1,141 18,423 19,564
As at 31 December 2023 WZB-=F+-A=+—H 2,450 18,423 20,873

The average loss rate ranged from 6.34% to 100% (2022:
6%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of bank balances and cash
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

In addition, as disclosed in Note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group might be required to
make payments in respect of the financial guarantee
contracts entered into by Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Jinzhou Jiachi. The maximum liabilities guaranteed by
Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi were principal
amounts of RMB569,900,000 and RMB3,300,000,000
respectively together with the outstanding accrued
interests and other charges.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from weighted
average interest rate at the end of reporting period.

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

REETEE

EEERDECRLE  AEBERELE
FEEERRABZRITERIEARK
FoUBRAKERBRHES  WRIE
Ren8rsovE BEEBEREEZ
BRBRNILFERE T BRI

BESN - B ANAR & B R R AR Y FE 45 TR
B ANEER AR EMN RS MR FE
RIS ERA AN o EMNEE R85
MNESEERNERRED R AETEARE
569,900,0007T & A K #3,300,000,0007T
ERAREENEFEREMER -

R OEHARASRETE « WHERK
EATEFIR - ARSERSERREIR
2 TR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

mBELmE(E)

Liquidity table

As at 31 December 2023

R-BZ=5+ZA=1+—H

Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tmonth  1-3 months 1year 1-5years  cash flows amount
il REXS =faA AERRE
THE  FR-fiR  -E=fiA E-F -E1f REAR KEE
% HKS000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
% TR TR TAn TR TR TAn
Non-derivative financial liabilities 74 2REE
Accounts payable ERER N/ATHER 16,108 - - - 16,108 16,108
Accrued liabilties and other payables  JEzf & E R 4B
E N/ATER 573,764 - - - 573,764 573,764
Borrowings &8 623 1,679,335 - - - 1679335 1,673,546
Lease liabilies HEaG 6.12 356 m 503 299 1,869 1,831
Financial quarantee contracts HREREN NARER 592319 - - - 59319 939,688
8,192,762 m 503 299 8,194,275 3,204,937
As at 31 December 2022 NI —F+=-A=+—H
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  orless than 3 months to undiscounted Canying
interest rate Tmonth  1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years cash flows amount
i BERY =fER AEERS
TaNE  AR-ER  —E=fA 5 —£0F MERE BHE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
% TEn T TiEn T Thn TiEn
Non-derivative financial liabilities 34 4REE
Accounts payable B NATER 12,569 - - - 12,569 12,569
Accrued liabiities and other payables  JEzfBEREMEN
E NATER 419,505 = S - 419,505 419,505
Borrowings &8 648 1,756,805 - - - 1756805 1741486
Lease liabilties HERE 6.12 381 762 3429 2,048 6,620 6,385
Financial quarantee contracts BBERAN NARER 5762021 - - - 576,01 664,394
7,951,281 762 3429 2,048 7,957,520 2,844,339
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e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Borrowing with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2023, the aggregate principal amount
of this borrowing amounted to approximately
HK$188,670,000 (2022: HK$208,152,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the directors of
the Company believe that it is probable that the bank
will not exercise its discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company
believe that this borrowing will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment date set out in the loan
agreement, details of which are set out in the table

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

mBELmE(E)

MiBBERERERIER 2 BEE LR E
BoWat AMRE SRR —E A | 2 KM
HEER R-_E-—=—&#+-A=+—08
ZIEE 2 AN & 1B H#9188,670,00078 T
(ZZF = —4 :208,152,000/87T) ° &5t
MASE 2 WBEHRRE  AAREERA
RIT TR A B TR E R AN E R 2 WIS
o ANRIESRE  ZIEEBIREER
REESTENBEEE  HFEER
e

below.
Maturity Analysis -
Borrowing with a repayment on demand clause
hased on the scheduled repayment
T -HERBHBEREE
AREREERTCEE

Total
Less than 1-3  Over 3 months undiscounted Carrying
1 month months to 1 year 1-2 years cash flows amount

RER

B BeiE
SW-BR  -E=f8f =@AZ-% -EWfF b il
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
Thn TR TEn TiER TiEn TiEn
As at 31 December 2023 ki s - - 194,459 - 194,459 188,670
As at 31 December 2022 RZZZZFtZA=1-H 486 971 43N 208,711 214,539 208,152

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

% S HIR EBE RN RS PRAEE
ZIERE . ERFEBTAHAZEEA
FEH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The
directors of the Company are responsible to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. For
instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The directors of the Company works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model. The management reports the valuation
committee’s findings to the directors of the Company to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 39. RIKERIFHE

The Group has retirement plans covering a substantial portion
of its employees. The principal plans are defined contribution
plans.

The Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong participate the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The Group’s employees are required to join the
scheme. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregated
income with a cap of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and the UK, in
compliance with the applicable regulations of respective
jurisdictions, participated in various pension schemes operated
by the relevant municipal and provincial governments. These
subsidiaries are required to make defined contributions to
these schemes at a fixed percentage of their covered payroll.
The Group has no other obligations for the payment of its
staff’s retirement and other post-retirement benefits other
than the contributions described above.

The total contributions in respect of the year ended 31
December 2023 charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income amount to
approximately HK$4,095,000 (2022: HK$3,899,000).

AEBRE —HERREARMDRBE ZRIKG
2 - TRFBRFREMHKEE

ARBNELBME R RRBRFMERESFE
EEBNRAERELERH LTSS -
AEERBHASMUEE - SHEINEERK
SEMNEESFRRKA  AXTAZHES - K
SEEETEERBERRIRERAERER
BEABKABS%HT - TRATHEETA
1,500 7T °

REBTEBVEERBERABRL - AABRFRER
HREMBARY2ESHAMARE TN EE
ZEERREFE - ZEWBARAR Liltct
MREF S ZEE B O MRS EERE
B - R B RSN REEEE AR
B TRRMEMBRRRBNNERT -

BE-_E-_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFEEB&&K
AEXZREMEZERERNG Z2RERAED
4,095,000/ 7T(—Z = — 4 :3,899,000/87T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

40. CHARGES ON ASSETS

The Group has the following charges on assets at the end of
the reporting period:

40. EEE
AR BRI A A AR ¢

2023 2022
—E-=HF B —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Investment properties BEYE

— Residential property units located in the — R ERE 2 M EER

UK (note (a)) (MtE(@@) 536,709 575,840
— Shopping malls located in the PRC — A BRI RO

(note (b)) (MHEE(b)) 1,404,370 2,124,482

Notes: PHET

(@)  The investment properties, insurance proceeds and together (@) AEBEREWE - REAEFBERE THE
with a floating charge over all the assets of certain subsidiaries RAFFAEEER O F WL ER TIRIT -
of the Group were pledged to a bank to secure for a bank TEAREERTTIEE#188,670,0008 L(=F
borrowings with an outstanding amount of approximately T4 208,152,000/ 7T) Z AR o SRITE K
HK$188,670,000 (2022: HK$208,152,000). The bank loan had ERNFHEBR2BERZGBENGEE BT
been fully repaid after the year date (details are set out in note F=MIEEa6)

46 to the consolidated financial statement).

(b) As at 31 December 2023, investment properties held by RZZFZ=F+=—A=+—8 MRWEAF
by two subsidiaries, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou BENRLES R SR 32 545 B IR B W2 5 Rl st A
Jiachi with carrying amounts of HK$862,070,000 (2022: & 8% AR #3,400,000,000 TH & FHRITE
HK$1,462,350,000) and HK$542,300,000 (2022: RREELEEREMIERE QR EM TN R
HK$662,132,000) respectively were pledged to Bank of Jinzhou TRt ER AR - EBRHE(E(E/&862,070,000
Co, Limited for the non-group companies which were related to B (ZZF Z Z4F ¢ 1,462,350,0007% 7T) &
Mr. Dai in respect of their certain bank borrowings in aggregate 542,300,000/ 7T (=& = Z 4 : 662,132,000
principal amount of RMB3,400,000,000. These borrowings had BIL) o WEEERFEREY -
become defaulted during the year.

() As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the secured (0 MRZZE—=F+-A=+-—BR=ZZ==

fixed-rate bank borrowing were secured by the investment
properties and 100% equity interest of a subsidiary established
in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the
directors of the Company to grant options to selected
employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time employee, including any director) of any member of
the Group or any invested entity, any supplier of goods or
services, any customer, any person or entity that provide
research, development or other technological support, any
shareholders or any participants who contribute to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity
(the “Eligible Participants”) as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group and/or
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Participants and to
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
on 17 September 2015, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) on 17
September 2015 and shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on the date of adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme (i.e. 16 September 2025) unless
terminated earlier by shareholders in general meeting. The
number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total shares in issue on the date of approval of the New Share
Option Scheme by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting (i.e. 125,091,243 shares) (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from
shareholders to renew the Scheme Mandate Limit on the
basis that the maximum number of shares in respect of which
any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

41. B ESHE

FBAEST 8B M RBEARRER A MATEER
AEBEMKE AR SERMBREEROEM
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AEEEHNKATREL TR - R RIEE
BEATBNAERSEERRSIHAKER
EBENADER -

RERRR-_ZE-—HFAATLEBBN—IA
TRABER  ARAERZZB-—RFNAT+LE
B R — IR B AR 8 ([ i st &) -
E#FBRETERAAMAI T _0aFN
ATRBE)RER - RE+F  BRIFRBRERER
RERAE ERATRILE - RIBFBAAES B LA
N B A BB AR A AT B3R RO PR A W R TT
R ARREETT (B A RO R BT &
B AANSEBRRNBIRBSFAS LitE
B BI HBID BT 2N 10% (B
125,091,243 7)) ([T MERER]) - FRIE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Scheme Mandate Limit was changed to 525,001,985
as at the date of passing of the ordinary resolution granted
the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e. 5 June
2017). The refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit represents 10%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue amounted to 5,250,019,852 shares as at 5 June 2017.
The options may be granted under the refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit do not include options that are outstanding,
cancelled or lapsed as at 5 June 2017.

The terms of the New Share Option Scheme provide that
in granting options under the New Share Option Scheme,
the directors of the Company may offer to grant any
options subject to such terms and conditions in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance criteria to be satisfied before such options
can be exercised and/or any other terms as the directors of
the Company may determine in its absolute discretion. The
directors of the Company will also have the discretion in
determining the subscription price in respect of any options,
provided that the relevant requirements in the Listing Rules
are complied with.

The exercise price of the option is to be determined by the
directors of the Company provided always that it shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer for the grant of the option (which is
deemed to be the date of grant if the offer for the grant of
the option is accepted by the Eligible Participant), which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, provided that the exercise price of the
option shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of
one share; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
twenty one days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. The amount payable to the Company on acceptance
of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The
maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted and to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to any Eligible Participant (including cancelled,
exercised and outstanding options), in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
in issue from time to time. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
shareholders with such Eligible Participant and his close
associates abstaining from voting.

No share options were granted under the New Share Option
Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

41, B RERH 82
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The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
VoPN:

iR MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

42. REFHEENEBNHER

TREIAEERELTHELNREEH (R
RRENIFREEFH) 2FF - RESDELE
MBENERSRESIRKRERENAEE
MEGEEREREXRTOESBEIDREAE

classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows ZBfE-
from financing activities.
Interest Lease
payable Borrowings liabilities Total
RS BE HEaE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—_F—H—H 91,873 1,910,778 4,389 2,007,040
Financing cash flows (Note) @& R & RE (FisE) (19,821) (23,290) (5,616) (48,727)
Proceeds from bank RITIEE MRS RIA
borrowings - 2,634 - 2,634
Non-cash transactions: FRERH :
New leases entered BETHHEE - - 7,426 7,426
Exchange realignment PE 5 AR - (148,636) (99) (148,735)
Finance costs BATS RS 177,868 - 285 178,153
At 31 December 2022 and R -Z -4
1 January 2023 +—A=+—Ak
—E-=#%—F—H 249,920 1,741,486 6,385 1,997,791
Financing cash flows (Note) @& R &R E (FisE) (15,082) (35,648) (4,270) (55,000)
Non-cash transactions: FEERFH :
Exchange realignment b H B (7.780) (32,292) (440) (40,512)
Finance costs BTG R AR 172,974 - 156 173,130
At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=F
+=-—A=+—H 400,032 1,673,546 1,831 2,075,409

Note: The financing cash flows mainly represent rental payment,

repayment of bank borrowings and interest paid.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

izt - MERSREBX2EHASNRRERRITE
EURBRFE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. AR T EEME A NS
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and RZBEZ=FRZF__F+ZA=+—8H "
2022 are as follows: FEMBARMFERAT -

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and  interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
FMRLEAL BRARMRRE/ RAARENEEE
WEARER EENE EMRARER RREEEAL TREH
2023 2022
“EC=fE CEoCF
Directly held subsidiaries
EREEHNELA
Bestway Group International Limited BVI Us$1,100 100% 100% Investment holding
ARELHE 1,100% 7 RAER
Tectron Pacific Limited BVI US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding
RBRANE 1% RERR
Wide Flourish Investments Limited BVI US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRREARRLA RBRANE 1% REER
Indirectly held subsidiaries
EREEHNEL A
Prolific Rich Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
LIRERAR ERRAES 1% RERR
Grand Shining Limited BVI US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERRAR EBRNAE 1% RERR
Giant Silver Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding and trading
business
FRERAT A 18T RERRREHEH
BRREER(RERA R The PRC HK$400,000,000 100% 100% Trading business
f 400,000,000/7C E55H

AMZERERAT T —=FFR 201
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

43. KRR EEM B A RINFE @)

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
Bl BRAIRMRRAE/ RARARENERR
HWELRER EEHY AMEHEELR RRZEESL TEER
2023 2022
ZBC=F S
IRERRENHARAR The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 75% Trading business
i AK%10,000,0007C BO%H
Kainarwolfram LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100% Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
e 100,000%7t REROEARER
Ikh Uuliin Erdenes LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100% Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
e 100,000% 7t REROEARER
Tai United Management Company Limited ~ The UK GBP1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HE 158 REER
RCBG Residential (UK) Limited The UK GBP0.01 100% 100% Property Investment
HE 0.0155 nERE
MRB Residential Limited The UK GBP1 100% 100% Property Investment
HE 15§ nERE
MRB Residential Partners LLP The UK - 100% 100% Property Investment
(Note)
it - nERE
(Fitst)
Superb Power Enterprises Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
FENCERRAA ERRAES 1% REBKR
Longain Park Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HERRAF Bl 18T REBK
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

43. KRR EEM B A RINFE @)

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
Bl BRARARRE/ RARARENERR
MWEBLRER EEHY AR EELR RRZEESL TEER
2023 2022
—EC=E —E-CfF
Guangzhou Rongzi The PRC RMB335,000,000 100% 100% Development, lease
and management of
underground shopping mall
BN e K H335,000,0007 ¥R HEREENTEY
i)
Sky Build Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
REBRAR ERRAES 1% REBR
New Full Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BFARATA Bl 1% REER
Jinzhou Jiachi The PRC US$49,800,000 100% 100% Development, lease
and management of
underground shopping mall
NS i 49,800,000% 70 ¥R HEREEHLTEY
il
Asian Leader Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
FEREERAT Bk 1T REER
Anyang Jiangchuan Public Facilities Co., Ltd.* The PRC US$15,000,000 100% 100% Development, lease
(formerly known as: Anyang Renhe New and management of
World Public Facilities Co., Ltd.*) underground shopping mall
ZBIAEREERA R i 15,000,000 7 BR BERERMTED
(3178 ZBEARI R ALRBER iy
RA*)
Full View Trading United Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Trading business
BREHERAT &k 18T BH5H
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

43,

ARABEEMBATNFE &

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and  interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
FMALHKL BREIRBERE/ FARRENERR
MEARER EEBE aRRARER RERZEEDN TEEH
2023 2022
ZBC=F “EoCF
Five Thousand Years (Guangzhou) The PRC RMB2,000,000 100% N/A" Trading business
Commercial Co., Ltd.* (established on
7 April 2023)
EFE(EN BRERAR! mE AE#2,000,0007C TER BH%%
(RZEBZ=FNA+AKY)
Five Thousand Years (Shenzhen) The PRC RMB2,000,000 100% N/A Trading business
Commercial Co., Ltd.* (established on
2 November 2023)
EFE(RIBRERRAS mE AE#2,000,0007C TER BH%%
(RZB_=%+-AZARY)
Notes: {iFz3
This entity is a partnership established in the UK. No registered share ZEBANRBERYMNEELE - WEAZMR
capital available. PN

* Established as a wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.

# Established as a limited liability company in the PRC.

All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their
respective places of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the
reporting period.
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

44, XN B AR R R R R

2023 2022
—E-=E T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Non-current assets kREBEE
Interest in subsidiaries A RIEVNGIPA: o - 1,379,600
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB KR E 2,417 3,959
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,067 4,269
Other non-current deposits Hib3EmEiE e - 1,502
Other non-current assets HIEmE&EE 6,000 6,000
9,484 1,395,330
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments Efth JEUFRIE « & K T8 708 2,186 493
Bank balances and cash RITHER LIRS 3,007 49,743
5,193 50,236
Current liabilities b=k
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEFH B & R A A R FIE 4,206 3,476
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHTB A RFIA 1,571,112 1,636,513
Lease liabilities HEaE 970 3,600
1,576,288 1,643,589
Net current liabilities REBEEEE (1,571,095) (1,593,353)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABAESE (1,561,611) (198,023)
Non-current liability FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 971
Net liabilities BEFE (1,561,611) (198,994)
Capital and reserves ERR G
Share capital &7 262,501 262,501
Reserves 1 (1,824,112) (461,495)
Total deficit B4t e (1,561,611) (198,994)
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

44, XN BB R R R R e

(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves EARREEE
Other
Contributed capital
surplus contribution  Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
Q& HixE
i i RitE#E wm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET TEx TEx
(Note)
GE)
At 1 January 2022 W-E--F—A—H 2,440,726 335,536 (1,737,605) 1,038,657
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FEEER 2 AR AE
for the year - - (1,500,152) (1,500,152)
At 31 December 2022 and BAfgiiﬁir A=+—H
1 January 2023 k=Z==%—-F-H 2,440,726 335,536 (3,237,757) (461,495)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FEEBR 2 AR AE
for the year - - (1,362,617) (1,362,617)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=1—H 2,440,726 335,536 (4,600,374) (1,824,112)

Note: The contributed surplus reserve of the Company arose as a
result of the same Group reorganisation scheme and represents
the excess of the then combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired, over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefor.
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45. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 45. HEE/RERN

During the period from November 2018 to July 2019, two
of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou lJiachi entered into various financial guarantee
contracts with Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd and Bank of Jinzhou
Co, Limited respectively for the bank borrowings of seven
companies which were related to Mr. Dai Yonggue ("Mr.
Dai”). The maximum liabilities guaranteed by Guangzhou
Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi were principal amounts of
RMB569,900,000 and RMB3,300,000,000 respectively
together with the outstanding accrued interests and other
charges. At the prevailing time of those financial guarantee
contracts entered into, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi were not subsidiaries of the Company, but companies
indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group acquired the entire
equity interests in Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi
through the acquisitions of Superb Power Enterprises Limited
and Sky Build Limited respectively that were completed in
April 2021. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group became aware of those financial guarantee
contracts when the Group received the PRC court notices
about legal claims during the year ended 31 December
2023. Subsequent to the year end, the PRC court had judged
on the claims that Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi
are liable for the loans guaranteed by the Group with the
other guarantors. Reference is made to the Company’s
announcement dated 13 October 2023, 29 November
2023, 12 December 2023, 5 February 2024, 4 March 2024,
20 March 2024, 22 April 2024, 30 April 2024 and 10 May
2024. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised RMB854,262,000 (2022: RMB586,998,000)
(equivalent to approximately HK$939,688,000 (2022:
HK$664,394,000)) impairment losses on these financial
guarantee contracts based on the valuation prepared by
Messer International Valuation Limited, an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group,
which was engaged by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

During the course of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023,
the directors considered the expected payments to reimburse
the holder of the guarantees were no longer recoverable
from the borrowers and therefore recorded a loss of
HK$295,321,000 (2022: HK$683,546,000) in the profit or
loss.

—E-NF+—REZZE-NAFLAHBHE &K
EEMENB AR EMNRE & IBIN 55 56
BRRRITIR D BRR AT REBINRI TR BR A
AIpt M EEKE LR E([EEEDEBRIAR]
RRITIE BRI L 2 BB IERE 4 - BMEE
MBMNZFEROEZRNBES A ALEARE
569,900,000t X A K #3,300,000,000 7T 6]
REENETANEREMER - RISV ZEY
RIERE KR - EMNBE RBINEIIEAR R
BINEB AR - MR CAERMBEZESMHAT -
ANEE 5 BliE 1B UK BE Superb Power Enterprises
Limited & Sky Build Limited (74 ==& = — 41
AFER) « WS BN RS M 88 M S i 2 20 AR
o ARAIEZRR  AEERBE_T==
FHZ A=+ —AILEFEWREIFBERBENE
EREMNBANTAEZSEVBEREL -
REERE - REVEREREIELEIR - £ R
BN B R 88N S2 S B E A R A BT R AR
ERENERAE - ZRMARGHPEZT
—=ZF+A+=8 - —E-=Ft+—A=t+nh
A -ZE=Z=F+=ZA+=ZH  ZZ2Z@F=
ARR - —Z-_MF=ANH - —T_UF=
AZ+A - ZFEZmFmEA=Z+=ZH - - =%
ZHEMA=FHEER-ZE-MFERATHAA
S HEE_ZF+_A=t+—HIEFE "
REERBEASETREAZENE IS ERE
EHEMBERTFEERAR(AAGREES
T CFRZEF+ZA=T—RHIEF
EZEZAR)GRNMGE  BRZSEVBE
REX BB EEE A K #854,262,0007T (=
T4 : AR¥586,998,0007T) (HHE R4
939,688,00078 7T ( =& = — 4F : 664,394,000
BIT)) °

EREBE T _=F+_A=+—HIFE
MERE B REBIET EERABHEEE
REBANFEEEBRAERARD - BEE
1B 8158548 295,321,000/8 T (&2 = =
£ 1 683,546,000/ 7)) °
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46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclose in elsewhere to this consolidation financial
statements, the Group had following events after the
reporting period:

(1) Breach of bank borrowing in UK and
disposal of UK subsidiaries

Pursuant to a facility agreement dated 3 December
2018 (as last amended and extended by a deed dated 5
February 2024) (the “Facility Agreement”) entered into
between, among others, a bank registered in the United
Kingdom as agent and lender (the “Agent”), and MRB
Residential Partners LLP, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company as borrower (the “Borrower”), the
Borrower is required to satisfy certain undertakings
such as providing written evidence of refinancing
commitment and/or signed agreement(s) for the sale
of the properties owned by the borrower located in
UK (the “Properties”) on or before 4 March 2024.
The failure on the part of the Borrower in doing so
would entitle the Agent to, among others, declare the
outstanding principal amount, accrued interest and all
other amounts payable under the Facility Agreement
immediately due and payable. The Borrower was
unable to satisfy the aforementioned undertakings
on or before the said date, which constituted an
event of default under the Facility Agreement (the
“Breach”). The Breach has not resulted in the breach
of other subsisting loan agreements and/or banking
facilities entered into by the Group. The obligations
of the Borrower under the Facility Agreement were (i)
guaranteed by (a) the Company; (b) two subsidiaries of
the Company incorporated in the United Kingdom (the
“Subsidiaries”); and (c) the Borrower; and (ii) secured in
favor of the security agent under the Facility Agreement
by (a) a legal mortgage over the Properties; (b) charges
over, among others, bank accounts and all the assets of
the Subsidiaries and the Borrower, as well as all issued
shares in the Subsidiaries; and (c) a pledge of insurance
proceeds of insurances taken out for the Properties. The
assets of the Borrower primarily consist of residential
property units located in London, the United Kingdom
(the “Properties”) and the Subsidiaries are investment-
holding vehicles. The aggregate outstanding principal
amount under the Facility Agreement amounted to
approximately GBP18.95 million (the “Outstanding
Amount”).
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46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(1) Breach of Bank Borrowing in UK and
Disposal of UK subsidiaries (Continued)

On 23 April 2024 (after trading hours), the Company (as
the seller) and the Purchaser (as the purchaser) entered
into the sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA"),
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to sell, and the director of the subsidiaries (the
“Purchaser”) conditionally agreed to acquire, the Sale
Shares, which represents the entire issued share capital
of the Wide Flourish Investments Limited (the “Target
Company”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and immediate holding company for the Borrower,
for a consideration of GBP50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$497,850,000) (the “Disposal”).
The Target Group primarily holds and manages the
Properties located in London, the United Kingdom
("UK") for rental income.

In connection with the Disposal, a Deposit of
GBP20,000,000 would be paid by the Purchaser by
instalments between the date of the SPA and the
Completion Date, which will be used to settle all
outstanding liabilities of the Group due to the Agent
under the Facility Agreement, which is required for
the Company to remedy and discharge the Breach.
Upon completion of the Disposal, the Target Company
will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company and the
financial results of the Target Group will no longer be
consolidated in the Company’s financial statements.

The deposit will be used for the payment of the bank
loan.

The Company received a written confirmation from
the Agent on 16 May 2024 that all outstanding
repayment obligations of the Borrower under the
Facility Agreement (including the outstanding principal
amount, accrued interest and all other amounts payable
thereunder) have been fully satisfied. According to the
said confirmation, the Agent will proceed to release
and/or discharge the security as mentioned in the
announcement of the Company dated 5 March 2024
and the Agent will not pursue any further claim action
against the Borrower.

The Disposal is not yet completed up to the report date.

46. EHEREE(7)

(1) FRXERRTEENENSH

RHEXRBMEBARE)

RIZE-NENA -+ =B(XF5HE
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EF5((EFBRHERBEKBEER
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46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  46. S5 iR E1E »)

(Continued)

(2) Withdrawal and transfer of bank (2) PESERIEEMREBIRA AT Z
deposits of a subsidiary of the MBS Rl VIR 1T IE K
Company by courts in the PRC
Restricted bank deposit of approximately RMB31.2 AR 2BBTHZREIRITFERE
million have been withdrawn and transferred to an RRNREEERFPBERLEENERERS - I
account maintained by a court in the PRC for the HATERHIR -

purpose of enforcing court judgments.
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Five-year Financial Summary

IFHHHME

The consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the ~ AEEBETRAEMBREBHZEEEE BEX
last five financial reporting periods as extracted from the audited — Bf{& (it A A EBLCEZLR A BEHER) BT
consolidated financial statements of the Group are summarised

below:
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EBo=F —Eoof ZE- - ZECEFF CZAF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET BT FET

RESULTS E

Revenue and net investment Uz MIRE U ES

gains/(losses) (E518)F8 197,990 159,227 310,066 18,754 25,927
Loss for the year FEEIE (1,169,257) (1,455,401) (441,377) (27,234) (246,770)
Attributable to: LA ARG

Owners of the Company EAN/NSIETZS DN (1,167,985) (1,454,890)  (440,801) (26,782)  (246,440)

Non-controlling interests FEIER = (1,272) (511) (576) (452) (330)

(1,169,257) (1,455,401) (441,377) (27,234) (246,770)

As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EBo=F —T-o-F T —T-TFE —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAET FET FAT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

Total assets WA E 2,556,797 3,610,617 4,682,783 2,493,696 2,642,309
Total liabilities BEE (3,523,596) (3,388,049) (2,969,593) (386,947) (573,360)
Net (liabilities)/assets F(BE)EE (966,799) 222,568 1,713,190 2,106,749 2,068,949
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Particulars of Properties

Mz AN/

=S

==
=

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REME

Attributable

interest of
Location Usage Tenure the Group
AEEH
o1k Ag FH EihfER
6 Buckingham Gate & Flats 1, 2, 3 & 5 at Residential premises for rental Freehold interest 100%
7-9 Buckingham Gate, London, and/or capital appreciation
United Kingdom FYEIRERTE & J2 kB AN (E ) KA ZEHE
EEWE
The Anyang Shopping Mall located in Shopping Mall for rental and/or The operation rights 100%
Jiefang Avenue, Beiguan District, property management services are held for a term of
Anyang City, Henan Province, the PRC income 40 years.
7R AP B R & 25 b B & AR UK 8 e EIES RS E IR ZACERERAOF -
Z LGB ARFGUARIIE D O
Portions of Jinzhou First Tunnel Shopping Mall for rental and/or The operation rights 100%
Shopping Mall, Zhongyang Avenue, property management services are held for 40 years.
Linghe District, Jinzhou City, income
Liaoning Province, the PRC
7 F AP B 2R 4 8RR [& R SR K T YIRS S E IR ZACERERAOLF -
Z SR — KB YOS PRAGUABIIE D O
Portions of Phase | of Guangzhou First Shopping Mall for rental and/or The land use rights 100%
Tunnel Shopping Mall located at the junction property management services have been granted
of Zhangian Road and Zhannan Road, income for a term of 40
Yuexiu District, Guangzhou City, years expiring on 11
Guangdong Province, the PRC December 2046 for
commercial/services
and special uses.
2P0 HR B BR8N T 5 [ A A B RS RS E IR TR L s AR R40
HIVE R B X FE BR 2 M M — KRB RE I O PRAGUABIBE D R O F o BRZZTARF
—HiEk D +TZA+—REm -
FARE % BRIS R
i -
Portions of Phase Il of Guangzhou First Shopping Mall for rental and/or The operation rights 100%

Tunnel Shopping Mall located at the junction

of Zhangian Road and Zhannan Road,
Yuexiu District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

2 A HH B B A N T 5 ot T S By
P RS R ME B 2 B 3 — RSB RE R 0
—HiE

property management services
income

BEREEE R mEER
BRISU A RIBE B L
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